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Contact details
OUTsurance

4th Floor, 4 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive & Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 282 1010
Telefax (011) 282 8088
www.rmbh.co.za
Contact: Anthony Maher

1241 Embankment Street,
Zwartkop Ext 7, Centurion
PO Box 8443, Centurion, 0046
Telephone (012) 673 3098
Telefax (012) 673 4598
www.outsurance.co.za
Contact: Willem Roos

FirstRand

RMB Structured Insurance

4th Floor, 4 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive & Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 282 8052
Telefax (011) 282 8088
www.firstrand.co.za
Contact: Adrian Arnott

4th Floor, 2 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 652659, Benmore, 2010
Telephone (011) 685 7600
Telefax (011) 784 9858
Contact: Gustavo Arroyo
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Discovery
155 West Street, Sandton
PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 529 2888
Telefax (011) 529 2958
www.discovery.co.za
Contact: Thys Botha

www.rmbh.co.za
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Key outcomes

Normalised earnings

Dividend

Intrinsic value

207,9 cents or R2,5 billion
– down 30%

99 cents or R1,2 billion
– down 30%

2 509 cents or R30,3 billion
– up 7%

Where we are
RMBH has emerged from the most challenging year in its existence with the robust and established
businesses that we have nurtured over the last decade intact. The Group’s entrepreneurial culture,
track record for innovation and the strength of our diversified portfolio of franchises cannot be
disputed. We are ready to face what is expected to be a tough environment going forward.
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Our track record

Annual compound growth
Per share

Since
1993

10 years

5 years

Net asset value

28%

12%

11%

Normalised earnings

23%

12%

3%

Dividend

24%

15%

5%

Share price (closing)

19%

9%

8%
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Normalised earnings sources
RMBH’s attributable share of normalised earnings was derived from the following areas of business:

FirstRand Banking Group
FNB
RMB
WesBank
Other

2009

2008

%

Rmillion

Rmillion

change

1 511
882
168
23

(19)
(50)
(45)
(>100)

1 228
442
93
(21)

Momentum Group
Momentum
FNB Insurance
Other

286
96
92

428
83
77

(33)
16
19

Discovery Group
FirstRand Limited

–
(159)

54
(123)

(100)
(29)

3 103
161
334
72

(34)

(93)

(>100)

3 577

(30)

RMBH’s share of FirstRand’s normalised earnings
Discovery Group
OUTsurance
RMB Structured Insurance
RMB Holdings Limited
Normalised earnings of RMBH Group

2 057
315
384
60
(302)
2 514

15
(17)
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Our structure
RMBH is the holding company of some of South Africa’s leading
financial services companies. Our interests include:

EFFECTIVE INTEREST 32,5%

1

FirstRand Limited (the “FirstRand Group”)

The FirstRand Group is a uniquely structured financial services group with critical mass in both banking and insurance. For regulatory oversight
purposes, its operations are housed in two subsidiary groups under FirstRand Bank Holdings Limited and Momentum Group Limited.

BANKING

ASSURANCE

The FirstRand Banking Group provides customers with a comprehensive range of
products and services according to specific target market segments.

First National Bank (“FNB”) services
the retail, business and medium corporate segments. In addition it provides
transactional services to the Group’s
large corporate clients.

Rand Merchant Bank (“RMB”) is
responsible for the large corporate
segment, to which it provides loans,
value added advisory and structuring
services.

WesBank is South Africa’s dominant movable asset financier.

The balance of the Banking Group includes its African banking subsidiaries and Banking Group Treasury.

Momentum Group targets individuals in
the middle and upper income markets,
principally under the Momentum Life,
Momentum Wealth, Momentum Health,
RMB Asset Management and RMB Unit
Trust brand names.
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EFFECTIVE INTEREST 26,7%

Discovery Holdings Limited (“Discovery”)

Discovery services the health care funding and insurance markets in
South Africa and the United Kingdom. It is a pre-eminent developer of
integrated financial services products and operates under the Discovery
Health, Discovery Life, Discovery Invest, Discovery Card, Vitality, PruHealth
and PruProtect brand names.

3

EFFECTIVE INTEREST 61,9%

FirstRand STI Holdings Limited (“OUTsurance”)

OUTsurance is a direct personal lines and small business short-term insurer.
Pioneers of the OUTbonus concept, it has grown rapidly by applying a scientific
approach to risk selection, product design and claims management. Youi,
its direct personal lines initiative in Australia, is still in start up phase.

4

EFFECTIVE INTEREST 80,2%

RMB-SI Investments (Pty) Limited (“RMBSI”)

RMBSI holds both short-term and life assurance licences. It creates bespoke
insurance and financial risk solutions for South Africa’s large corporations
by using sophisticated risk techniques and innovative financial structures.

05
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Executive review
Notwithstanding a very challenging year, RMBH
reported normalised earnings of R2,5 billion and paid
ordinary dividends of R1,2 billion to shareholders.

The financial year to 30 June 2009 has been the most challenging in
RMBH’s more than twenty year history.
The operating environment during the year was characterised by negative
economic growth, continued market illiquidity and further declines in
asset values.
Whilst there are early indications that the global economy has begun
to stabilise, the outlook remains challenging. First world/western
economies continue to be under severe stress. The unwinding of
massive fiscal and monetary stimulus packages, coupled with the
rebuilding of balance sheets, will weigh on global demand for a
protracted period. It is expected that the eastern economies may
emerge with more vigour than the western economies.
The South African economy is still suffering the effects of the cyclically
high interest rates of 2008, falling commodity prices, a marked
slowdown in exports, as well as declining domestic demand. This has
resulted in a significant slowdown in GDP growth. Job losses are
increasing and the manufacturing sector is still contracting.
Over the last eighteen months the SARB has reduced interest rates
by a cumulative 4,5%, resulting in a current prime overdraft rate of
10,5% pa – the same as its low point in the previous cycle. For the
Group’s franchises, this is positive in the medium to long term as it
will eventually result in the reduction of bad debts and non-performing
loans and improved customer affordability levels. However, given the
high levels of customer indebtedness that still has to work through
the system, the short term impact on the margins of the FirstRand
Banking Group’s deposits and income from the capital endowments
is negative. The benefit of reducing interest rates can therefore only
be expected to positively impact earnings in late 2009 or early 2010.

While the performance of our major investment, FirstRand (pro forma
normalised earnings down 31%), has broadly been in line with its “big
four” banking peers, the outcome achieved is disappointing. This is
particularly so, given that the broad negative trends experienced by
all participants, was in our case exacerbated by losses from some of
the international strategies that we embarked upon. These have since
been terminated.
The resultant outcome reported at the RMBH level was:
Year ended
30 June 2009
Attributable earnings
Headline earnings
Normalised earnings

Rbillion

Cents
per share

% change on
prior year

2,49
2,64
2,51

207,1
219,7
207,9

(40)
(30)
(30)

Total dividends payable to RMBH shareholders for the year ended
30 June 2009 amount to 99,0 cents (2008: 141,5 cents), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 30%, in line with the underlying earnings
performance.
The precipitous decline in equity markets during the first half of the
financial year (JSE All share index -29%) showed signs of stabilising in
the second half (+ 3%). While not immune to these market gyrations,
the intrinsic value of the Group’s investment portfolio did, due to its
diversification within the broader Southern African financial services
sector, reflect some resilience:
As at 30 June
Rbillion

2009

2008 % change

Intrinsic value
RMBH market capitalisation

30,3
28,4

28,4
25,4

+7
+12
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GT Ferreira Chairman

Sources of income
Predominantly sourced from Southern Africa, our well-diversified
income stream is drawn from the full spectrum of financial services:

Peter Cooper Chief Operating Officer

The intrinsic value of the Group’s investment portfolio showed some
recovery during the period under review. The values at year end may
be summarised as follows:
As at 30 June
Rmillion
Market value of listed interests
(FirstRand, Discovery)
Directors’ valuation of unlisted
interests (OUTsurance, RMBSI)
Net cash resources/investments
Total intrinsic value

2009
27 655

2008 % change
25 790

+7

3 128
(527)

+11

30 331

28 391

+7

2 509

2 348

+7

3 457
(781)

Per RMBH share (cents)
The significant shifts in relative contributions between years can be

07

of RMB’s proprietary trading activities, countered by the strong growth

At 30 June 2009 RMBH’s market capitalisation amounted to
R28,4 billion or 2 345 cents per share, (2008: R25,4 billion) representing
a 6,5% discount (2008: 11%) to the Group’s underlying intrinsic value.

in Discovery’s risk assurance and wealth management initiatives as well

Changes to portfolio mix

ascribed to the impact of the international dislocation on the performance

as the strong performance of OUTsurance’s personal lines business.

of June 2009 our borrowings amounted to some R1,3 billion (2008:

As reported at the interim stage, RMBH disposed of its investment in
Glenrand M.I.B Limited with effect from 31 December 2008 for a
consideration of R43,1 million. Glenrand’s attributable earnings for the
period leading up to 31 December 2008 have been included in “Other
Income” and are not material for an appreciation of the overall outcome.

R1,2 billion), directed largely at the funding raised for the Discovery

Emerging markets equity portfolio

Group capital position
At the centre, RMBH has a moderate level of gearing. At the end

acquisition in November 2007, funding our commitment to Youi
(OUTsurance’s Australian initiative) and the emerging markets portfolio.
At present the only material funding requirement identified for the
current year is some R100 million required to support OUTsurance’s
international expansion. We do not foresee any further short-term capital
requirements from the other companies in which RMBH is invested.

In the final quarter of 2006 RMBH built a bespoke emerging market
portfolio of selected listed financial services equities, primarily in India,
Brazil and Turkey. The portfolio was originally intended as an exploratory
“entry hedge” in anticipation of FirstRand entering these territories as
part of its international expansion. Our rationale was to gain some
understanding of these markets by investing in listed financial stocks
prior to a possible greenfields entry.
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Executive review continued

RMBH originally invested R500 million in the portfolio. The portfolio
was designated as a “fair value through profit or loss” asset for
accounting purposes with gains and losses being recorded against
income. Up to June 2008, the portfolio had achieved a cumulative after
tax gain of R146 million. The portfolio did not escape the global market
reversal during the first six months of the financial year and at the
interim reporting stage, the after tax loss recorded on the portfolio
amounted to R249 million. In the second half the portfolio’s performance
improved in line with emerging market trends and some R71 million
of the loss was clawed back. This resulted in RMBH recording an after
tax loss of R178 million for the year ended 30 June 2009, leaving the
portfolio at a value that approximated the original capital invested.

Strategic initiatives

Given FirstRand’s revised international strategy with its narrower
African focus, the continued need for such a hedge portfolio became
redundant. Accordingly it was decided to liquidate the portfolio. This
process was completed in the last two months without incurring
further costs.

As regards future international expansion, FirstRand’s emphasis will be
on establishing client franchises in markets where the Group has a
demonstrable competitive advantage versus principal trading activities
that are outside the Group’s core business and markets. Consequently:

Dividend payment
Our practice is to pay out to RMBH shareholders any dividend received
from FirstRand. Dividends received from RMBH’s other investments are
used to service any funding commitments that we may have at the
centre, after which the balance remaining is also paid to shareholders.
While FirstRand seeks to structure its dividend policy on the basis of a
sustainable long term trend, the current year’s outcome compelled
it to reduce its dividend payment by some 32% between years.
Notwithstanding that our other investments paid dividends in line with,
or exceeding their earnings growth, the overall trend of RMBH’s net
dividend receipts reflected that of FirstRand.
Consequently, the Board resolved to declare a final dividend of 45,0 cents
per share (2008: 72,5 cents). Such final dividend, together with the
interim dividend of 54,0 cents brings the total dividends for the year
ended 30 June 2009 to 99,0 cents (2008: 141,5 cents). This represents
a year-on-year decrease of 30% and a dividend cover ratio (on
normalised earnings) of 2,1 times (2008: 2,1 times).

Economic upheavals, such as that experienced globally (and the
consequential knock-on effects flowing through to domestic markets)
necessarily calls for reflection as to the appropriateness of and refinement
to the Group’s strategies. At present, this debate is particularly pertinent
at FirstRand and Discovery.
FirstRand expounds an increased focus on client driven activities rather
than proprietary trading or investment activities in both the South
African and international operations. In addition, the Group’s secondary
market activities will link to client activities or leverage the existing
primary market positions.

• FirstRand has exited certain off-shore activities (equities trading and
SPJi), but will continue with those businesses where it has a long track
record of successful asset origination and a demonstrated competitive
advantage (private equity in Australia and RMB Resources). This
approach will improve quality and sustainability of earnings and create
more shareholder value over the long term; while, in future
• Africa will be its primary focus and FirstRand will leverage off its
position in other markets to provide support to its strategy in Africa.
Thus, FirstRand’s strategy in India will be focused on supporting
FirstRand’s African expansion activities by focusing on the trade corridor
between India and Africa. The Group’s ability to offer Indian companies
expertise in African markets will be its key competitive advantage.
Similarly, FirstRand has identified the China-Africa trade corridor as a
growth opportunity and post the year-end announced a strategic cooperation agreement with China Construction Bank Corporation,
globally the second largest bank by market capitalisation; and
• Momentum Group has built a presence in eleven African countries
and will also look for opportunities to collaborate with FNB. There
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has been some early progress in Namibia where the life insurance
subsidiary of FNB’s Namibian operation, which is the current market
leader in the entry-level segment, has now added Momentum’s
Myriad life-cover offering to its suite of products.
While “greenfields” remains FirstRand’s primary entry approach to
new markets, it will consider corporate action and the acquisition of
appropriate operating platforms in order to accelerate its refocused
expansion strategy.
While it must be said that the environment in which Discovery operates
is complex, it remains convinced that this is precisely the right time to
successfully pursue growth and expansion. Its central strategy of
integration between the foundational Vitality and its other businesses
has been very successful. Discovery continues to open pathways for
innovation, created by these “integration assets and methodologies”.
Given its significant position and unique assets, it is pursuing additional
expansion within South Africa and a considerable amount of work has
been done on the potential launch of further products in the broader
financial sector.
Discovery Health operates in a complex environment marked by
continuous regulatory and policy shifts. Due to its size and impact,
Discovery Health is committed to building and improving the healthcare
system – not for its members alone, but for all South Africans. Its aim
is to work with Government in its pursuit of healthcare reform and
the implementation of a National Health Insurance System (NHI) to
the benefit of all South Africans. Discovery Health is convinced that
the NHI will require the constructive and creative co-operation of all
stakeholders to make it workable and sustainable. To this end, Discovery
will continue to make available its expertise and resources, and will
engage positively and constructively.
Discovery will continue to build out its international expansion plans
on the basis of partnering in joint ventures with foreign partners. It is
exploring a number of new initiatives in this area.

Outlook for the coming year
We believe that the operating environment will remain tough for the
rest of 2009 with a slow improvement from 2010 as lower interest
rates and fiscal stimulus begin to have a positive impact.
The South African economy is still facing significant difficulties. The
consumer will remain under pressure in the medium term despite the
recent easing of interest rates, and therefore volumes in the retail
segment will continue to be subdued and bad debts will unwind very
slowly given the high levels of consumer debt that still exist. House
prices are in the near term expected to continue to fall, resulting in
lower recovery rates on mortgage security. Wholesale lending
portfolios, which have been resilient for a large part of the economic
downturn, are now showing signs of stress. Job losses are increasing
and the manufacturing sector is still contracting.

09

At FirstRand these issues, combined with low asset growth and
transaction volumes, means that FNB and WesBank’s earnings will
remain under pressure. Further mark to market losses on the remaining
legacy portfolios in RMB cannot be ruled out and the private equity
realisations in the first half of the year to June 2008 will not be repeated
in the current financial year. Momentum’s inherently defensive business
model due to its diversified product range, strong distribution model,
upper-income target market focus, capital efficient liability mix and the
conservative investment mandate used to manage Momentum’s capital,
will continue to provide protection to earnings.
Against a macro background of subdued economic activity FirstRand
believes that top line growth will remain under pressure. However, the
Group expects non-performing loans and bad debts to start to unwind
in the large lending books such as vehicle finance and mortgages, and
that these ratios will start to show improvement in the first six months
of the year to June 2010.
Of our other investments, both Discovery and OUTsurance are well
positioned in their respective market segments and should continue
to extract superior growth therefrom. Their respective international
initiatives should also begin to gain traction during the current year.
Given its size in local markets, and the incremental nature of our
international strategies, it will be difficult for the Group to track back
to previous levels of earnings growth in the short term. However, the
board still anticipates that RMBH will over time deliver acceptable real
returns to shareholders.

A welcome and a word of thanks
The outcome produced in this challenging year is only as a result
of the efforts of all our management and staff. On behalf of the
Board of Directors and the shareholders, we thank them sincerely for
their contribution.
To Thys Visser, we extend a special welcome as he joins us on the
journey.
Finally, to you our fellow shareholders, a special word of thanks.
Without your support, the RMBH Group cannot grow and prosper. We
shall continue to strive to reward your faith by ensuring that you receive
the best possible returns on your investment.
For and on behalf of the Board

GT Ferreira
Chairman
Sandton
16 September 2009

P Cooper
Chief Operating Officer
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Group overview
FirstRand Group

The FirstRand Group consists of a portfolio of South Africa’s
leading financial services operations, the most important of
which are First National Bank (retail and commercial banking),
Rand Merchant Bank (investment banking), WesBank
(instalment finance) and Momentum (life insurance).
Paul Harris Chief Executive Officer, FirstRand

Normalised earnings
RMBH interest

R7,2 billion
32,5%

Against what must be the most difficult macro background in FirstRand’s
history (exacerbated by losses from certain international strategies
which have since been terminated) FirstRand’s portfolio of banking and
insurance businesses produced a disappointing outcome. Its pro-forma
normalised earnings decreased 31% to R7,2 billion, with a normalised
return on equity (ROE) of 14% (2008: 22%).
The relative contributions to normalised earnings reported by the
FirstRand Group were as follows:
Year ended 30 June
Rmillion
Pro-forma normalised earnings
for ordinary shareholders
derived from:
– FirstRand Banking Group
– Momentum Group
– FirstRand Ltd
(including pref. div. payments)

2009

2008 % change

6 056
1 649

8 814
2 004

(31)
(18)

(420)

(32)

(554)

Group normalised earnings

7 151

10 398

(31)

Attributable to RMBH*

2 057

3 103

(34)

* After adjusting for the impact of the Discovery unbundling and consolidation
eliminations.
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FirstRand Group
FirstRand Banking Group

The FirstRand Banking Group provides customers with a
comprehensive range of products and services according to
specific target market segments.
Sizwe Nxasana Chief Executive Officer, FirstRand Banking Group

Overview
The Banking Group produced disappointing results under difficult
conditions. Attributable earnings of R5,7 billion (-40%), headline
earnings of R6,1 billion (-30%) and normalised earnings of R6,1 billion
(-31%) were achieved during the year under review.
The Banking Group’s corporate and commercial banking franchises
which operate in the primary and secondary markets, produced acceptable performances, as did the retail franchises, despite the difficult
consumer credit cycle. However, the absolute size of retail bad debts,
particularly in the residential mortgages portfolio, combined with the
losses emanating from the legacy portfolios in the investment bank,
significantly impacted overall profitability.

A significant increase in impairments

Normalised earnings

R6,1 billion

The current financial year proved extremely demanding from a credit
management perspective. Consumers remained under pressure from
the high interest rate environment in the first half of the financial year,
putting strain on consumer affordability and disposable income levels.
This had a significant impact on the Banking Group’s retail franchises,
with bad debts within these businesses increasing from R4,9 billion
to R7,4 billion.
Impairments remained in line with expectations, with the bad debt ratio
at 1,81% of advances (retail 2,66% and wholesale 0,62%). Wholesale
impairments include R219 million relating to the default of Dealstream,
a futures clearing client. In addition, the wholesale lending portfolios
started showing signs of stress in certain sectors.
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Group overview continued
FirstRand Group
FirstRand Banking Group continued

Trading and investment losses

particularly the impact of falling commodity prices, had a significant

The Group had previously indicated that it expected further market

impact on the economies of Namibia and Botswana, its biggest franchises.

price volatility in the legacy offshore portfolios of RMB’s SPJ Inter -

RMB, the Group’s investment banking operation, experienced a very

national division (“SPJi”). For the year under review these portfolios

difficult year with normalised earnings 49% lower than the prior year.

incurred mark to market losses and valuation declines of R775 million.

Whilst RMB’s primary market activities (client focused advisory, financing

The SPJi business has now been closed down completely and dedicated

and execution) performed well, its secondary activities (proprietary

specialist skills have been allocated to work out the portfolios.

trading), and the losses incurred in the international legacy portfolios

RMB’s Equity Trading division reported losses of R782 million for the

delivered poor performances. The Investment Banking division performed

year, largely attributable to the continued de-risking of its international

well increasing profits by 7% despite a challenging base set in the

portfolios and the default of Dealstream. The international equities legacy

previous year. The Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities division

portfolio has been written down to approximately USD18 million.

had a disappointing second half of the financial year, with profits down
46% from the prior year. The Private Equity division reported profits

Business unit performance

down 44% from the prior year, notwithstanding three large realisations

FNB, the commercial and retail bank, performed satisfactory, producing

in the first half of the year, although no realisations were achieved in

a return on equity of 26% despite normalised earnings decreasing

the second half. The Equities Trading division incurred further losses as

19%. FNB’s results were negatively impacted by a significant increase

it continued to sell down its international positions. In addition, it

in retail impairments and a slowdown in new business. This was to

incurred significant losses on the default of one of its futures clearing

some extent offset by a good performance from the Mass segment,

clients, during the year.

assisted by an increase in revenue generated from transactions and
growth in its loan book. The Commercial and Corporate segments
continued to perform well, although deposit margins came under
pressure in the second half of the financial year due to the declining
interest rate cycle. In spite of the challenging environment, and primarily
due to stringent cost management, FNB managed to contain its cost
to income ratio at 57,5% (2008: 57,3%).

WesBank, the vehicle finance business, experienced a difficult year with
normalised earnings declining 43%, impacted by significant increases
in credit defaults in the local lending business and continued contraction
of the advances book. New business was negatively impacted by lower
demand in both the retail and corporate sectors. Total new business
written was 19% down compared to the prior year with both retail
and corporate advances declining. During the year WesBank completed

FNB’s Africa operations performed satisfactory increasing normalised

the disposal of its MotorOne Finance advances book in Australia at a

earnings 3% to R514 million, although the global economic crisis,

loss of R203 million.
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FirstRand Group
Momentum Group

Momentum Group targets individuals in the middle and
upper income markets, principally under the Momentum
Life, Momentum Wealth, Momentum Health, RMB Asset
Management and RMB Unit Trust brand names.
Nicolaas Kruger Chief Executive Officer, Momentum

Overview
Momentum’s normalised earnings declined 18% to R1 649 million,
mainly due to the negative impact of the significant drop in equity
markets. Despite the decline in earnings, the return on equity of 23%
was very pleasing, and Momentum’s capitalisation level strengthened
to a satisfactory 1,8 times the Capital Adequacy Requirement (CAR).
It is also pleasing to note that the earnings for the second half of the
year represented a 23% increase over the first half earnings.

Normalised earnings

R1,7 billion

Decline in equity values impacted fee income
Group operating profit declined 24% to R1 328 million. Approximately
two-thirds of Momentum’s operating profit is exposed to investment
market returns, where the most significant exposure is to equity markets.
The JSE All share Index reduced by 28% during the financial year under
review, with a commensurate downward impact on asset-based fees.
The investment income on shareholders’ assets benefited from the
Group’s capital preservation strategy, which resulted in higher levels
of interest-bearing instruments to back the Group’s economic capital
requirement.

Business unit performance
New business margins reduced slightly from 2,1% in 2008 to 2,0% in
2009. The satisfactory operational performance in embedded value
exceeded the negative impact of the decline in equity markets, resulting
in a positive return on embedded value of 3,3%.
Momentum’s previous targeted economic capital range of between
1,7 and 1,9 times CAR was reformulated following the introduction
of the FSB’s revised CAR methodology. After taking into account the
guidance issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa regarding

allowances for credit and operational risks, the targeted economic
capital range was reformulated to between 1,4 and 1,6 times CAR.
Although the level of 1,8 times CAR (after the final dividend payment)
exceeds the upper limit of this range, the board of Momentum is of the
opinion that this buffer is appropriate in the current market conditions.
The results from FNB Insurance were particularly pleasing and, although
there was some negative impact on persistency arising from pressure
on consumers, the business benefited from good continued growth in
sales to the mass market client base of FNB.
Momentum is proud to have been awarded the Financial Intermediaries
Association (FIA) award for the Long-term Investment Product Supplier
of the year for the third successive year.

9952 RMBH AR 09 front:Layout 1 2009/10/21 6:56 PM Page 14

14

RMBH ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Group overview continued
Discovery Group

Discovery services the health care funding and insurance
markets in South Africa and the United Kingdom. It is a preeminent developer of integrated financial services products
and operates under the Discovery Health, Discovery Life,
Discovery Invest, Discovery Card, Vitality, PruHealth and
PruProtect brand names.
Adrian Gore Chief Executive Officer, Discovery

Overview

Business unit review

Discovery’s performance exceeded expectation, despite the difficult
economic conditions and environmental complexity that persisted during
the period. The period was characterised by sound performance across
all businesses, record levels of new business production and strong
earnings growth.

Discovery’s consumer-engaged methodology proved particularly
successful in negating the impact of adverse market conditions. Over
the period Discovery introduced a number of product innovations that
enhanced value-for-money for its clients; further entrenched its brand
leadership position in health and life insurance amongst consumers
and intermediaries; improved its capital strength across all risk-taking
entities; and invested significantly in its distribution capability. The
combination of these factors contributed to the group’s strong
performance over the period and positions it well for a wide range of
opportunities in the future.

From a financial perspective, key highlights include the following:
• Annualised recurring new business grew by 20% to R5,8 billion;
• Embedded value increased by 12% to R20,0 billion, while diluted;
embedded value per share grew by 12% to R35,83;
• Operating profit grew by 32% to R1,7 billion; and
• Total dividend for the year increased by 31% to 58,5 cents.

At the operating company level:
• Discovery Health (operating profit +15%, new business +11%) further
expanded its unique provider assets and attained regulatory solvency
in the medical scheme. Its assets create a powerful partner for
Government in an NHI environment.

Normalised earnings
RMBH interest

R1,2 billion
26,7%

• Discovery Life’s performance was particularly pleasing (operating
profit +20%, new business +36%). Despite the increase in lapses
that is expected during recessionary cycles, new business grew strongly
and distribution channels were expanded.
• Discovery Invest (cumulative gross inflows of R4,5 billion) continued
to build out its assets and capabilities in a difficult investment climate,
and is well positioned for a turn in the investment cycle.
• PruHealth (operating losses -34%, covered lives +20%) made solid
progress, but the UK recession set the business back against plan.
• PruProtect (new business +320%) performed above expectation,
with strong new business traction emerging from a repositioned
product range and substantial distribution capability.
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OUTsurance Group

The OUTsurance Group conducts short-term insurance activities
through direct short-term insurer OUTsurance (wholly-owned)
and Momentum STI (a 50:50 joint venture with the Momentum
Group). Youi, its direct personal lines initiative in Australia,
is still in start up phase.
Willem Roos Joint CEO, OUTsurance

Howard Aron Joint CEO, OUTsurance

Overview
Considering the prevailing economic conditions, the South African
operations of OUTsurance produced excellent results and grew operating
profit by 28% to R941 million.
After accounting for the start up losses of some R100 million at You.
Insured, group operating profit grew by 19%. This, together with
relatively flat investment income (up 3,5%) resulted in headline earnings
increasing by 14% to R654 million, on which it paid a 1,6 times covered
dividend. OUTsurance generated a 43% return on equity.

Normalised earnings
RMBH interest

R654 million
61,9%

Business unit review
Even though the insurance industry experienced reduced underwriting
profits, Personal OUTsurance continued to produce strong results. New
business volumes proved to be resilient in the face of a significant
slowdown in new vehicle sales, underlining the robust nature of the lowcost direct business model and scientific risk selection. The business unit
continued to achieve excellent client service levels and sound profitability.
Business OUTsurance, which focuses on small and medium commercial
enterprises, had a particularly pleasing year, exceeding expectations on
both premium growth and underwriting profitability.
OUTsurance successfully launched the selling of vehicle credit-life policies
and is planning to market fully underwritten risk life products directly
to consumers during 2010.
Momentum STI provides personal and commercial insurance products
through the broker distribution network of the Momentum Group.
Momentum STI produced its maiden profit during the financial year
and plans to focus on its commercial insurance offering in future.

OUTsurance launched You.Insured (“Youi”), an on-line personal insurance
offering, in Australia during August 2008. Youi incurred costs of
R87 million during the financial year, all of which has been expensed
against current income. To date, Youi has performed in line with
expectations.
Due to the significant start-up losses that Youi is expected to incur,
FRSTIH is likely to show lower earnings for the next financial year.
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Group overview continued
RMB-SI Investments

RMB-SI Investments is active in the short- and long-term
insurance sectors. It creates customised insurance and financial
risk solutions for large corporates by using innovative financial
structures.
Gustavo Arroyo Chief Executive Officer, RMB-SI Investments

Normalised earnings
RMBH interest

R79 million
80,2%

Over the past two years RMBSI diversified its core business of providing
specialist insurance services by entering into the underwriting manager
agency (“UMA”) market. This initiative opened up a new market to
build the annuity base income and to do structured deals on the back
of the UMA business with the specialised skills within the structured
team. RMBSI added two more start-up UMA’s to its book of business
during 2009. With the addition of three more agencies in the 2010
year, RMB Specialised Lines have become a noticeable contender in the
UMA market.
The current economic environment created opportunities to offer
solvency relief products to the local insurance market as the Group is
able to optimise it capital structures efficiently.
The pressure on earnings in 2009 was evident due to the loss of a large
retail client following the client’s decision to conduct its insurance
operations in-house. Notwithstanding, RMBSI’s net profit after tax of
R79 million for the year ended 30 June 2009 is down by only 15%.
RMBH’s attributable share of RMBSI‘s normalised earnings for the year
amounted to R60 million (2008: R72 million).
In the 2010 financial year it will be difficult to build up the income base
to past profit levels. The structured transactions with once-off profits
have been very successful in the past, but there is a greater urgency to
create more annuity income.
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Normalised earnings
The Group believes that normalised earnings more accurately reflect operational performance. Headline earnings are adjusted to take into account
non-operational and accounting anomalies. These adjustments are consistent with those reported at 30 June 2008.

Computation of normalised earnings
for the year ended 30 June
Notes
Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
RMBH’s share of adjustments made by associates:
Treasury shares
IFRS 2 share based expenses

1

2009
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

%
change

2 636

3 714

(29)

103
(34)
2 705

Adjustment for:
RMBH shares held by policyholders
Group treasury shares
IFRS 2 share based expenses

2
3

22
(213)
–

157
43
3 914

(31)

(48)
(290)
1

Normalised earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

2 514

3 577

(30)

Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions)
Normalised earnings per share (cents)
Diluted normalised earnings per share (cents)
Dividend cover (relative to normalised earnings)

1 209
207,9
207,9
2,1

1 202
297,5
297,5
2,1

(30)
(30)

2009
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

%
change

2 057
315
384
60

3 103
161
334
72

(34)

2 816
(302)

3 670
(93)

(23)
(>100)

2 514

3 577

(30)

Sources of normalised earnings
for the year ended 30 June

Normalised earnings from:
FirstRand
Discovery
OUTsurance
RMB Structured Insurance

Other net income/(funding costs)
Normalised earnings

Notes:
1. Deconsolidation of treasury shares and “deemed” treasury shares by FirstRand and Discovery to account for:
• the Discovery BEE transaction;
• FirstRand shares acquired to hedge liabilities under staff share schemes; and
• FirstRand shares held as policyholders’ assets by Group insurers.
2. Deconsolidation of “deemed” RMBH treasury shares held for policyholders by Group insurers.
3. Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMBH shareholding in Group companies, i.e. reflecting treasury shares as if they are minority shareholders.

15
(17)
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Historical review
2000
Rmillion

2001
Rmillion

2002
Rmillion

2003
Rmillion

2004
Rmillion

2005
Rmillion

Ordinary shareholders’ funds
Capital and reserves
Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Normalised earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

5 786
5 886
810
810

9 178
9 278
1 184
1 184

10 331
10 431
1 687
1 687

11 293
11 293
1 812
1 812

12 277
12 277
2 145
2 145

13 861
13 861
2 628
2 397

Per share data

cents

cents

cents

cents

cents

cents

Earnings per share
Headline earnings per share
Normalised earnings per share
Dividend per share
Dividend cover (times) – headline earnings

83,3
88,7
88,7
30,0
3,0

93,5
112,8
112,8
36,0
3,1

124,3
142,0
142,0
44,4
3,2

122,8
152,5
152,5
55,0
2,8

173,7
180,6
180,6
77,5
2,3

272,0
221,2
201,8
94,0
2,4

Share price history

cents

cents

cents

cents

cents

cents

Share price – Closing
Share price – High
Share price – Low
Volume of shares traded (million)

1 010
1 435
806
236,0

1 265
1 280
900
254,3

1 082
1 340
900
251,0

1 065
1 170
870
224,5

1 615
1 650
1 030
298,4

2 225
2 380
1 500
267,4

2006
Rmillion

2007
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

2009
Rmillion

14 117
14 117
2 979
2 992

16 623
16 623
3 900
3 984

20 306
20 306
3 714
3 577

20 642
20 642
2 636
2 514

Per share data

cents

cents

cents

cents

Earnings per share
Headline earnings per share
Normalised earnings per share
Dividend per share
Dividend cover (times) – headline earnings

267,8
253,7
251,9
113,5
2,2

349,7
332,0
335,4
141,5
2,3

345,9
311,7
297,5
141,5
2,2

207,1
219,7
207,9
99,0
2,2

Share price history

cents

cents

cents

cents

Share price – Closing
Share price – High
Share price – Low
Volume of shares traded (million)

2 470
3 120
2 150
329,2

3 286
3 850
2 335
334,3

2 100
3 900
2 035
469,0

2 345
2 730
1 662
560,0

Ordinary shareholders’ funds
Capital and reserves
Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Normalised earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

% compound
% increase
growth
over 2008 2000 – 2009
2
2
(29)
(30)

15
15
14
13

(40)
(30)
(30)
(30)

11
11
10
14

12
(30)
(18)

10
7
8
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Corporate governance report
RMBH subscribes to a set of values which
seeks to foster integrity, innovation, individual
empowerment and personal accountability.

Attitude to governance

• executive directors are employed in a fulltime capacity by RMB Holdings;

RMBH is a diversified financial services group that currently holds

• non-executive directors are those who, while not in the fulltime
employment of the Company, are members of the management
committee or who have been nominated by a shareholder owning
more than 20% of the Company; and

significant investments in four entities (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) as set out on page 34. RMBH endorses the Code of Corporate
Practices and Conduct (the “King Code 2002”) contained within the
King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002. The Board
advocates sound governance practices by all entities the Company
is invested in and all the Company’s subsidiaries and listed associate
companies endorse the King Code 2002 where applicable.
RMBH subscribes to a set of values which seeks to foster integrity,
innovation, individual empowerment and personal accountability.
While the RMBH board is responsible for the maintenance of sound
corporate governance, it believes that its implementation is best managed
at an investee level. Consequently each principal Group entity has its
own governance structure, (board of directors, executive team, audit,
risk and remuneration committees) that monitors operations and deals
with governance and transformation related issues. Effective corporate
governance forms part of the Group’s investment assessment criteria
which is further monitored by non-executive board representation on
those boards.
Disclosure is limited to RMBH and where it exercises control over the
financial and operating policies of an entity. Entities over which RMBH

• independent non-executive directors are all other directors irrespective
of the period during which they have been members of the board.
No director has an automatic right to a position on the board. All
directors are required to be elected by shareholders at an annual
general meeting on a rotational basis.

The board of directors
A formal board charter, as recommended by the King Code 2002, has
been adopted. The charter includes a code of ethics to which all
directors subscribe. The code deals with duties of care and skill, as well
as those of good faith, including honesty and integrity and the need
to always act in the best interests of the company. Procedures exist in
terms of which unethical business practices can be brought to the
attention of the board by directors.
The soliciting or acceptance of payments, other than declared
remuneration, gifts and entertainment as consideration to act or fail
to act in a certain way are disallowed. The Group does not make
political donations.

has significant control disclose the relevant information in their own

Composition of the board

published annual reports.

RMBH has a unitary board with a non-executive director as Chairman.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Operating Officer are separate.

The following are the notable aspects of the Group’s corporate governance:
Classification of directors
The basis on which directors have been classified in terms of their
independence in this annual report is as follows:

The board comprises ten members of whom nine are non-executive
directors. Four of the non-executive directors are also independent
directors as defined above. Further details are disclosed under the
section ‘Directorate’ on page 26.
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Corporate governance report continued

The directors are individuals of a high calibre with diverse backgrounds
and expertise, facilitating independent judgement and broad deliberations
in the decision-making process. There is an appropriate balance of
power and authority on the board.
The board evaluates its composition each year to ensure an appropriate
mix of skills and experience. New directors are subject to a ‘fit and proper’
test. An informal orientation programme is available to incoming directors.

Board responsibilities
The fundamental responsibility of the board is to improve the economic

After evaluating their performance in terms of their respective charters,
the directors are of the opinion that the board and the subcommittees
have discharged their responsibilities.

Term of office
Non-executive directors retire by rotation every three years and are
eligible for re-election. Re-appointment of non-executive directors is
not automatic. The retirement age of the directors is set at seventy.
The Chief Operating Officer has an employment contract that can,
subject to fair labour practices, be terminated with one month’s notice.

prosperity of the Group. The board has a fiduciary duty to act in good

Board meetings

faith, with due care and diligence, and in the best interests of the Group

The board meets once every quarter. Should an important matter arise
between scheduled meetings, additional meetings may be convened.

and its stakeholders. It is the primary body responsible for the corporate
governance values of the Group. While control is delegated to the
management committee in the day-to-day management of the Group,
the board retains full and effective control over the Group.
The board’s responsibilities include the appointment of the executive
officers, approval of corporate strategy, risk management and corporate
governance. The board reviews and approves the business plans and
monitors financial performance of the Group and implementation of
the strategies.
The Companies Act places certain duties on directors and determines

Before each board meeting, an information pack, which provides
background information on the performance of the Group for the
year to date and any other matters for discussion at the meeting, is
distributed to each board member. At its meetings, the board considers
both financial and non-financial qualitative information that might have
an impact on the stakeholders in the Group.
Board members have full and unrestricted access to relevant information
and may, at the cost of the Group, seek independent professional
advice in the fulfilment of their duties.

the King II Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, are applied.

Details of the board meetings held during the year ended 30 June
2009, as well as the attendance by individual members are disclosed
in the section “Directorate” on page 30.

The board is also responsible for formulating the Company’s com-

Board committees

munication policy and ensuring that spokespersons of the Company

The board has established three sub-committees to which it has
delegated some of its responsibilities in meeting its corporate governance
and fiduciary duties. These are:

that they should apply the necessary care and skill in fulfilling their duties.
To ensure that this is achieved, best practice principles, as contained in

adhere to it. This responsibility includes clear, transparent, balanced and
truthful communication to shareholders and relevant stakeholders.
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• a management committee;

• the audit process and approval of non-audit services;

• an audit and risk committee; and

• the Group’s process for monitoring compliance with the laws and
regulations applicable to it;

• a directors’ affairs and governance committee (also responsible for
remuneration matters).
Each committee has a charter, which sets out the objectives, authority,
composition and responsibilities of the committee. The charters of
these committees have been approved by the board.
All the committees are free to take independent outside professional
advice, as and when required, at the expense of the Group.
The names of the members of the committees, details of committee
meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2009, as well as
the attendance by individual members are disclosed in the section
“Directorate” on page 30.
The committees, with a summary of their charter objectives, are
as follows:

Management committee
The committee comprises four members, three of whom are nonexecutive. It is responsible for implementing the strategies approved by
the board and for managing the affairs of the Group.
The committee is also responsible for:
• the development, implementation and monitoring of strategies and
policies of the Group;

• the Group's compliance with the corporate governance practices;
• the business conduct of the Group and its officials; and
• the appointment of the external auditor and the evaluation of their
services and independence.
As required in terms of the Companies Act, as amended by the
Corporate Laws Amendment Act (No. 24 of 2006), the committee is
satisfied that it has complied with and performed its functions and
that the Company’s external auditors are independent of the Company.
Details of fees paid to the external auditor are included on page 84 of
this report.
The JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings Requirements were amended with
effect from 1 September 2008, requiring all listed companies to have
a financial director, with which the Company has complied. The
committee has considered and has satisfied itself of the appropriateness
of the expertise and experience of the financial director.
The independent auditor attends all audit committee meetings and the
annual general meeting of shareholders. The partner responsible for
the audit is required to rotate every five years. The committee meets
with the auditors independently of senior management.
The chairman of the committee attends the annual general meeting.

• the optimisation of the Group capital base and its financial resources;

Directors’ affairs and governance committee

• the timeous and transparent communication with all stakeholders;

The committee comprises all of the non-executive directors. It is chaired
by the chairman of the board.

• ensuring best practices in the terms of corporate governance across
the Group;
• managing the Group image and reputational issues; and
• optimising overall Group profitability through synchronising the
strategies of the operating units of the Group and leveraging off
Group strength.

The committee’s primary objectives are to assist the board in discharging
its responsibilities relative to:
• its determination and evaluation of the adequacy, efficiency and
appropriateness of the corporate governance structures in the
Company;
• board and board committee structures;

Audit and Risk committee

• the maintenance of a board directorship continuity programme;

The committee comprises a minimum of two members. The chairman

• the remuneration, other benefits and employment conditions of any
executive directors;

is an independent non-executive director.
The committee’s objectives are to assist the board of directors in fulfilling
its fiduciary duties with regard to:
• the safeguarding of the Group’s assets;

• the self-assessment of the effectiveness of the board as a whole and
the contribution of each director; and
• ensuring that succession plans are in place for the key posts in the
greater Group.

• the financial reporting process;
• the system of internal control;
• the management of financial and non-financial risks;

The committee is also responsible for determining the remuneration
of the Chief Operating Officer. Fees payable to non-executive directors
are approved at the annual general meeting of shareholders.
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Corporate governance report continued

The Company’s policy that guides the remuneration of all directors and
senior management is aimed at:
• retaining the services of existing directors and senior management;
• attracting potential directors and senior managers;
• providing directors and senior management with remuneration that
is fair and just;
• ensuring that no discrimination occurs;
• recognising and encouraging exceptional and value-added performance;
• ensuring that remuneration structures are consistent with the
Company’s long-term requirements; and
• protecting the Company’s rights by means of service contracts.
In accordance with these objectives, the committee annually reviews
and evaluates the contribution of each director and member of senior
management and determines their annual salary adjustments. For this
purpose it also considers salary surveys compiled by independent
organisations.
Details of directors’ remuneration for the period under review can be
found on page 28 of this report.

Company secretary
The company secretary of RMBH is Anthony Maher, a Chartered
Accountant (South Africa). He was appointed by the board in 2008.
All directors have unlimited access to the services of the company
secretary, who is responsible to the board for ensuring that proper
corporate governance principles are adhered to.

they are not aware of any undeclared conflicts of interest that may exist
due to their interest in, or association with, any other company. In
addition, directors disclose interests in contracts that are of significance
to the Group’s business and do not participate in the voting process of
these matters.
All information acquired by directors in the performance of their duties,
which is not disclosed publicly, is treated as confidential. Directors may
not use, or appear to use, such information for personal advantage or
for the advantage of third parties.
All directors of the Company are required to comply with the RMBH
Code of Conduct and the requirements of the JSE regarding inside
information, transactions and disclosure of transactions.

Risk management and internal control
RMBH recognises that managing risk and compliance is an integral
part of generating sustainable shareholder value and enhancing
stakeholder interests.
The board and the boards of Group companies are accountable for
establishing, maintaining and monitoring the effectiveness of the
processes of risk management and systems of internal control applied
throughout the Group and in any joint ventures and associations to
which the Group or any subsidiary is party.
The Group’s risk management and control framework covers the
following key aspects:
• identifying key performance indicators;
• identifying significant business risks, both financial and other;

Conflicts

• maintaining proper accounting records;

Mechanisms are in place to recognise, respond to and manage any
potential conflicts of interest. Directors sign a declaration stating that

• ensuring the reliability of financial information used within the
business for decision making or for publication;
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• ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations and codes
of conduct;
• ensuring that the Group is not unnecessarily exposed to avoidable
financial risks such as the risks associated with fraud, potential liability
and loss, including the safeguarding of assets;
• managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board
members and shareholders, including misuse of corporate assets and
abuse in related party transactions;
• ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
• monitoring the progress of Group companies in complying with the
Financial Sector Charter and the Department of Trade and Industry
Codes of Good Practice;
• ensuring that the Group and any projects in which it is involved are
subject to sound environmental practices; and
• ensuring that the appropriate balance is struck between entrepreneurial
endeavour and sound business practice.

Overall effectiveness of control environment
As with most systems of internal control, the effectiveness of internal
control systems in the Group is subject to inherent limitations, including:
• the possibility of human error and/or poor decision making;
• the deliberate circumventing of controls by employees or others;
• management overriding controls; and
• the occurrence of unforeseeable circumstances.
Controls systems are therefore designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure. Accordingly, it is recognised that a sound
system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute
assurance against risks impacting the achievement of business objectives
or any misstatement or loss.
Management reports regularly to the respective Group boards on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk and compliance management and
control framework. The effectiveness of this framework is subject to
continuous review.

Integrated assurance
The Board does not only rely on the adequacy of the internal control
embedment process but considers reports on the effectiveness of risk
management activities. The Audit and Risk committee ensures that the
assurance functions of management as well as internal and external
audit are sufficiently integrated.
The various assurance providers to the Board comprise the following:
• The management committee and senior management consider the
Company’s risk strategy and policy along with the effectiveness and
efficiency thereof.
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• The Audit and Risk committee considers the adequacy of risk
management strategies, systems of internal control, risk profiles,
legal compliance, internal and external audit reports and also reviews
the independence of the auditors, the extent and nature of their
engagements, scope of work and findings. This committee also reviews
the level of disclosure in the annual financial statements and the
appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by management, the
ethics register and other loss incidents reported. The board reviews
the performance of the Audit and Risk committee against its charter.

Internal audit
RMBH outsources its internal audit function to the FirstRand Group
Internal Audit division (“Internal Audit”). Internal Audit is an effective
independent appraisal function and employs a risk-based audit
approach. The head of Internal Audit has direct access to the chairman
of the Audit and Risk committee as well as to the chairman of
the Group.

External audit
The Company’s external auditor attends all Audit and Risk committee
meetings and has direct access to the chairman of the Audit and Risk
committee and the chairman of the Group. The external audit scope
of work is adequately integrated with the internal audit function
without the scope being restricted.
The directors are of the opinion that, based on enquiries made and the
reports from the internal and external auditors, the risk management
processes and systems of internal control of the Company and its
subsidiaries were effective for the period under review.
The Audit and Risk committee has satisfied itself that there are effective
audit committees functioning in the Company’s associated companies.

Dealings in securities
In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE, the Company
has adopted a code of conduct for insider trading. During the closed
period directors and designated employees are prohibited from dealing
in the Company’s securities. Directors and designated employees may
only deal in the Company’s securities outside the closed period, with
the authorisation of the chairman. The closed period lasts from the end
of a financial reporting period until the publication of financial results
for that period. Additional closed periods may be declared from time
to time if circumstances warrant it.
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Sustainability report

RMBH is committed to good corporate citizenship practices and

Customers

organisational integrity in the direction, control and stewardship of

The Group companies provide a comprehensive range of financial

the Group’s affairs. To the extent that it is possible, the directors of
RMBH seek to ensure that this commitment is practised and reported
on by all the Company’s subsidiaries and associates. This commitment
provides stakeholders with comfort that the Group’s affairs are being
managed in an ethical and disciplined manner.
This discussion is a limited overview from a Group perspective. Each of
the listed entities in the Group publishes detailed sustainability reviews.
The Group subscribes to a philosophy of providing meaningful,
timely and accurate communication to its key stakeholders, based on
transparency, accountability and integrity.
Shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulators and the
communities in which Group companies operate are regarded as the
Group’s key stakeholders.

products and services to South African corporates and individuals. In
this regard the integrity of its various brands, their image and reputation
are paramount. To ensure the sustainability of their businesses, all
companies in the Group regularly engage with their customers to
measure satisfaction levels and gain insight into their needs.
In terms of the Financial Sector Charter, Group companies are committed
to providing banking and financial service facilities to previously
disadvantaged communities.

Employees
Group companies all seek to be the employer of choice in their
respective fields.
The Group’s human resource strategy is to recruit and retain the best
people from South Africa’s diverse population base. In particular, it

Shareholders

seeks people with entrepreneurial attitude and encourages an owner-

Communication

manager culture. People are empowered, held accountable for their

RMBH’s communication practices are designed to allow investors to

actions and rewarded accordingly.

make decisions about the acquisition and ownership of shares. The

The Group operates in a number of sectors within the broader financial

Company communicates formally with shareholders twice a year

services industry, each with its own distinct employment practices

when it announces interim and year-end financial results. These

and unique human resource pressures. To recognise and address

comprehensive reports are sent to all shareholders and are accessible

such divergent needs, the Group follows a practice of devolving the

on the Company’s internet site (www.rmbh.co.za). The Chairman and

design and implementation of appropriate remuneration structures

the Chief Operating Officer meet with investors and investment

through industry specific structures. Within this divisional framework,

analysts from time to time.

remuneration structures comprise:

Ownership

• basic salary plus benefits; and, where appropriate,

Significant shareholdings are disclosed on page 34. An analysis of the

• annual performance related rewards; as well as

RMBH share price and trading data appears on page 119.

• share incentive schemes.
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Remuneration is based on individual and business unit performance.

Communities

Annual remuneration reviews encompass all three elements.

All Group companies are committed to uplifting the societies in which
they operate through following sound employment practices and
meeting the real needs of the communities. In addition, FirstRand
Group companies contribute 1% of their after tax profits to the
FirstRand Foundation which has, since its inception in 1999, contributed
more than R633 million to various community upliftment programmes.
In addition, staff in Group companies are encouraged to give of their
time and skills in community related work.

Employment equity
In line with the business philosophy of empowerment, each business
unit in the Group is charged with meeting its targets in terms of plans
submitted to the Department of Labour as required by the Employment
Equity Act. Group companies are also expected to exceed targets
determined by the Financial Sector Charter. In addition to setting
affirmative action targets aimed at raising the number of designated
groups as a percentage of the total staff complement, such plans
commit Group companies to the following in pursuit of the appropriate
employment equity in the organisation:
• increasing the overall racial diversity of the workforce;
• increasing the number of black and female managers;
• creating awareness of the need for employment equity and diversity
amongst employees;
• the establishment of representative diversity forums; and
• awareness of employment opportunities for people with disabilities.

Employee wellness
Of growing importance is the impact of HIV/Aids on the workforce and
the South African economy in general. The Group has adopted an
HIV/Aids policy that is based on education, communication, counselling
and confidentiality.

Suppliers
The Group has established a set of procurement guidelines to assist
Group companies in meeting their commitment to place business with
BEE suppliers. At the FirstRand level a procurement council has been
established to ensure that all suppliers are appropriately accredited.

Regulators
All operating companies in the Group are subject to the independent
oversight of one of South Africa’s regulatory authorities. Group
company representatives interact with a wide spectrum of regulatory
bodies, including the South African Reserve Bank and the Financial
Services Board. The relationship sought is one of compliance and
constructive participation in committees with a view to ensuring
that South African industry practice remains amongst the best in
the world.
Group companies support initiatives aimed at infrastructure development, the promotion of democracy and business and Government
dialogue. The Group is represented on the council which oversees the
implementation of the Financial Sector Charter.
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Directorate

1

2

1. Gerrit Thomas Ferreira (61) Non-executive Chairman
BCom, Hons B (B&A), MBA
Appointed: November 1987 GT Ferreira has been involved in the financial
services sector since graduating from the University of Stellenbosch. He started
his career at the Bank of Johannesburg in 1972 and was a co-founder of Rand
Consolidated Investments (“RCI”) in 1977. RCI acquired control of Rand
Merchant Bank (“RMB”) in 1985 and he was managing director of RMB from
1985 to 1988 after which he was elected as executive chairman. When RMBH
was founded in 1987 he was appointed chairman, a position which he still holds.
Following the formation of FirstRand he was appointed non-executive chairman
from 1998 to 2008. He is a member of the Council of the University of Stellenbosch.

RMBH – committee memberships Listed directorship
Management committee
Directors’ affairs committee

None

2. Peter Cooper (53) Chief Operating Officer and Financial Director
BCom (Hons), CA(SA), HDipTax
Appointed: November 1999 Peter Cooper graduated from the University of
Cape Town. After qualifying as a chartered accountant he worked in the financial
services sector, first as a tax consultant and later specialising in structured
finance with UAL Merchant Bank. He joined RMB’s Special Projects division in
1992 and transferred to RMB Holdings in 1997. He represents RMBH on the
boards of its unlisted investments.

3

4

5

He joined Remgro in April 2008 as designate Director: Group Finance and was
appointed to the board on 18 June 2008.

RMBH – committee membership

Listed directorships

Directors’ affairs committee

FirstRand Limited
Remgro Limited

4. Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar (60) Non-executive
MCom, CA(SA)
Appointed: November 1987 Laurie Dippenaar graduated from Pretoria University,
qualified as a chartered accountant with Aiken & Carter (now KPMG) and spent
three years with the Industrial Development Corporation before becoming a
co-founder of RCI in 1977. He became an executive director of RMB in 1985. He
was appointed managing director of RMB in 1988 which position he held until
1992 when RMBH acquired a controlling interest in Momentum. He served as
executive chairman of that company from 1992 until the formation of FirstRand
in 1998. He was appointed as the first chief executive of FirstRand and held this
position until the end of 2005 when he assumed a non-executive role. He was
elected to the position of chairman of FirstRand in November 2008.

RMBH – committee memberships Listed directorship
Management committee
Directors’ affairs committee

FirstRand Limited – Chairman

5. Jan Willem Dreyer (58) Independent non-executive
BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDipTax

RMBH – committee membership

Listed directorship

Management committee

Discovery Holdings Limited

3. Leon Crouse (56) Non-executive
CA(SA)
Appointed: September 2008 Leon Crouse studied at the Nelson Mandela
Metropolitan University in Port Elizabeth and qualified as a Chartered Accountant
(SA) in 1977.
He joined the former Rembrandt Group in 1986 and transferred to Switzerland
to hold the position of Financial Controller of Compagnie Financiére Richemont
AG. He was part of the team that unbundled the luxury goods business from
the Rembrandt Group to form separately listed Richemont.
In 1993, as a Rembrandt appointee, he returned to South Africa to become
a founder member of the Vodacom Group executive team finally serving as its
Chief Financial Officer. Rembrandt, at the time, held a 15% interest in Vodacom.

Appointed: October 1987 Jan Dreyer is a graduate of Stellenbosch University
and the University of the Witwatersrand. He joined Edward Nathan Friedland
Mansell & Lewis where he was admitted as an attorney in 1975. Thereafter he
joined Hofmeyr Van der Merwe & Botha, where he worked as a commercial
lawyer. He was admitted as a partner in 1978 and was chairman of the firm from
1993 until 1999. In 2000 Jan left the legal profession to join the Rembrandt
Group as an executive director. Upon the split of that company into Remgro and
Venfin, he became a non-executive director of each of the two companies. He
was re-appointed an executive director of Remgro during November 2008. He
joined the board of RMB in 1984 and on the formation of RMBH, joined its board.

RMBH – committee memberships Listed directorships
Audit and Risk committee
Directors’ affairs committee

Dorbyl Limited
Remgro Limited
Trans Hex Group Limited
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7

8

9

6. Patrick Maguire Goss (61) Independent non-executive

RMBH – committee memberships Listed directorships

BEcon (Hons), BAccSc (Hons), CA(SA)

Audit and Risk committee
Directors’ affairs committee

Appointed: November 1987 Pat Goss graduated from the University of
Stellenbosch. He qualified as a chartered accountant with Ernst & Young and
then joined the Industrial Development Corporation. He has served as a director
on various group companies for the past 30 years. A former chairman of the
Natal Parks Board, his family interests include Umngazi River Bungalows and other
conservation related activities.

RMBH – committee membership

Listed directorship

Directors’ affairs committee

FirstRand Limited

7. Paul Kenneth Harris (59) Non-executive
MCom
Appointed: July 1992 Paul Harris graduated from the University of Stellenbosch
and joined the Industrial Development Corporation. He was a co-founder of RCI
in 1977 and he became an executive director of RMB in 1985. He spent four
years in Australia where he founded Australian Gilt Securities (later to become
RMB Australia) and returned to South Africa in 1991 as deputy managing director
of RMB. In 1992, he took over as chief executive officer. Subsequent to the
formation of FirstRand, he was appointed chief executive officer of FirstRand
Bank Holdings in 1999, a position he held until December 2005 when he was
appointed chief executive officer of FirstRand. He will retire from his executive
position at the end of December 2009.

RMBH – committee memberships Listed directorships
Management committee
Directors’ affairs committee

FirstRand Limited –
Chief Executive Officer
Remgro Limited

8. Sonja Emilia Ncumisa Sebotsa (37) Independent non-executive
LLB (Hons) LSE, MA (McGill), SFA
Appointed: February 2008 Ms Sebotsa is a principal partner in Identity Partners,
an investment firm which holds equity investments, carries out advisory work and
facilitates finance for SME‘s by the Identity Development Fund.
Sonja Sebotsa‘s areas of study were in Law, Business and Economics. She had been
an executive director of WDB Investment Holdings where she led the structuring
of WDB‘s participation in the FirstRand BEE transaction. As a result, she served
as WBD‘s representative on the FirstRand Board. She was previously a vice president
in the investment banking division of Deutsche Bank, in Mergers & Acquisitions
and Corporate Finance.

27
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Anglo Platinum Limited
Discovery Holdings Limited
Makalani Holdings Limited
Mr Price Group Limited

9. Khehla Cleopas Shubane (53) Independent non-executive
BA (Hons), MBA
Appointed: November 1993 Khehla Shubane graduated at the University of
the Witwatersrand. Prior to this he was a student at the University of the North
where his studies were terminated following his arrest for political activities,
conviction and sentence which he served on Robben Island. Upon his release he
was employed at Liberty Life for a short time. He served on various political
organisations until joining the Centre for Policy Studies in 1988. He is an author
and has co-authored several political publications, and is a member of the board
of the Centre for Policy Studies.

RMBH – committee membership

Listed directorship

Directors’ affairs committee

FirstRand Limited

10. Matthys Hendrik Visser (55) Non-executive
BCom (Hons), CA(SA)
Appointed: April 2009 Thys Visser is a chartered accountant who qualified
with Arthur Young & Company in Cape Town before joining Rembrandt Group
Limited where he held a number of positions, including Financial Director
in 1991 and Managing Director in 1992. He is currently Chief Executive Officer
of Remgro Limited.

RMBH – committee membership

Listed directorships

Directors’ affairs committee

Distell Group Limited
FirstRand Limited
Medi-Clinic Corporation Limited
Nampak Limited
Rainbow Chicken Limited – Chairman
Remgro Limited
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Directorate continued

Directors’ interests in ordinary shares of RMBH
According to the register of directors’ interests maintained by the Company in accordance with section 140 of the Companies Act, directors have
disclosed the following interest in the ordinary shares of RMBH at 30 June 2009:
Direct
beneficial

Indirect
beneficial

Held by
associates

Total
2009

Total
2008

P Cooper
L Crouse
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
DM Falck
GT Ferreira
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser

539
–
1 786
1
–
23 353
–
1 420
–
3
–

–
–
88 556
–
–
3 734
11 580
28 675
–
–
–

1 861
–
233
–
–
60 104
–
–
–
–
–

2 400
–
90 575
1
–
87 191
11 580
30 095
–
3
–

2 400
–
90 575
1
–
87 191
11 580
30 095
–
3
–

Total interest 2009

27 102

132 545

62 198

221 845

–

Total interest 2008

27 102

132 545

62 198

–

221 845

000’s

Since the end of the financial year to the date of this report, the interest of directors has remained unchanged.

Directors’ emoluments
Schedule of directors’ emoluments paid by the Company in respect of the year ended 30 June 2009

R000’s
Executive
P Cooper
Non-executive
GT Ferreira
L Crouse
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
DM Falck
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser
Total

Services as
director

Cash
package

Other
benefits

Performance
related

Total
2009

Total
2008

–

2 433

543

3 325

6 301

7 454

340
113
130
214
41
130
130
199
130
34

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

340
113
130
214
41
130
130
199
130
34

327
–
141
155
182
108
154
61
127
–

1 461

2 433

543

3 325

7 762

8 709

Notes:
1. “Other benefits” comprise provident fund and medical aid contributions.
2. “Performance related” payments are in respect of the year ended 30 June 2009, but will be paid, together with an interest factor, in three tranches during the year ended 30 June 2010.
3. Mr Harris is a full–time executive of FirstRand. The fees receivable by him have been waived and ceded to that company and do not accrue to him in his private capacity.
4. Messrs Cooper and Harris are also participants under the FirstRand Group Share Incentive Schemes. Details thereof are disclosed on page 29.
5. Director fees for services rendered by Messrs Crouse, Falck and Visser were paid to the Remgro Group.
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Directors’ participation in FirstRand Group share incentive schemes
Share option scheme: Ordinary shares

Strike
price

Opening

Closing

balance

balance

30 June

Taken up

30 June

Exercise

Benefit

2008

this year

2009

price

derived

000’s

000’s

000’s

cents

R000’s

Strike date

cents

From

To

P Cooper

FirstRand
FirstRand
FirstRand
FirstRand
FirstRand

608
1050
1533
1633
2053

16/9/2006
1/10/2007
3/10/2008
1/10/2009
1/10/2010

16/9/2008
1/10/2009
3/10/2010
1/10/2011
1/10/2012

395
296
400
400*
400*

(395)
–
–
–
–

–
296
400
400
400

1644
–
–
–
–

4 090
–
–
–
–

PK Harris

FirstRand
FirstRand
FirstRand
FirstRand

608
1050
1533
1633

16/9/2006
1/10/2007
3/10/2008
1/10/2009

16/9/2008
1/10/2009
3/10/2010
1/10/2011

165
395
540
800*

(165)
–
–
–

–
395
540
800

1625
–
–
–

1 673
–
–
–

* Share Appreciation Rights.

Directors’ emoluments paid by subsidiaries and associates
Schedule of directors’ emoluments paid by subsidiaries and associates in respect of the year ended 30 June 2009

R000’s

Services as
director

Cash
package

Other
benefits

Performance
related

Total
2009

Total
2008

Executive
P Cooper
Non-executive
GT Ferreira
L Crouse
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
DM Falck
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser

445

–

–

–

445

200

1 064
523
2 317
–
170
681
–
277
180
112

–
–
–
–
–
–
4 908
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
769
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
5 820
–
–
–

1 064
523
2 317
–
170
681
11 497
277
180
112

2 131
–
1 637
–
592
655
15 400
235
175
–

Total

5 769

4 908

769

5 820

17 266

21 025

Notes:
1. Director fees for services rendered by Mr Cooper were paid to RMBH.
2. Director fees for services rendered by Messrs Crouse, Falck and Visser were paid to the Remgro Group.
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Directorate continued

Board meetings
The board met six times during the year and attendance was as follows:
September 2008 November 2008*
GT Ferreira – Chair
P Cooper
L Crouse – appointed 13 September 2008
LL Dippenaar
JW Dreyer
DM Falck – retired 12 September 2008
PM Goss
PK Harris
SEN Sebotsa
KC Shubane
MH Visser – appointed 1 April 2009

√
√
I
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

November 2008

March 2009

May 2009*

May 2009

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

I = In attendance
* Extraordinary strategic meeting.

Management committee meetings
The management committee continued to meet during the year on a regular basis. The members of the management committee are Mr GT Ferreira
(Chair) and Messrs P Cooper, LL Dippenaar and PK Harris.

Audit and Risk committee meetings
The Audit and Risk committee met three times during the year and attendance was as follows:

JW Dreyer – Chair
SEN Sebotsa

September 2008

March 2009

May 2009

√
√

√
√

√
√

Directors’ affairs committee meetings
Since all non-executive directors are members of this committee, matters relating to the charter of this committee are dealt with as an integral part
of the normal proceedings of the quarterly board meetings. When these issues are discussed, it is usual for the Chief Operating Officer to excuse
himself from the meeting.
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Directors‘ responsibility statement
the directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of the rMB Holdings limited
Group (“the Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2009. the external auditors, pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, have audited the annual financial
statements and their unqualified report appears on page 33.
the information provided in these annual financial statements has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies act of South
africa and conforms to International Financial reporting Standards and prevailing practices of the insurance and banking industries.
In discharging their responsibilities, both for the integrity and fairness of these statements, the directors rely on systems of internal control and risk
management procedures applied by the management of the main operating subsidiaries and associates (“the Group companies”). Based on the
information and explanations given by management of the Company and of the underlying Group companies, the directors are of the opinion that:
•
•
•
•

the internal controls are adequate;
the financial records may be relied upon in the preparation of the annual financial statements;
appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, have been applied; and
the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the Group and Company.

the annual financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the
Company will not remain a going concern.
the Company and Group annual financial statements, including the directors’ report, were approved by the board of directors on 16 September 2009
and are signed on its behalf by:

GT Ferreira
Chairman

P Cooper
Chief operating officer

Declaration by the company secretary
in respect of section 268G(d) of the Companies Act of South Africa
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the Company has lodged with the registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public
company in terms of the Companies act of South africa and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

AL Maher
Company Secretary
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Audit and Risk committee report
The Audit and Risk committee has pleasure in submitting this report, as required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa (“Companies Act”).
The Audit and Risk committee consists of two non-executive directors who act independently as described in section 269A of the Companies Act.
During the year under review three meetings were held and the committee members attended all the meetings. At the meetings the members
fulfilled all their functions as prescribed by the Companies Act. A detailed list of the functions of the Audit and Risk committee is contained in the
Corporate Governance report. The Audit and Risk committee has satisfied itself that the auditors are independent of the Company and are thereby
able to conduct their audit functions without any influence from the Company.

JW Dreyer
Chairman of Audit and Risk committee
16 September 2009

Independent auditor’s report
To the members of RMB Holdings Limited
We have audited the group annual financial statements and annual financial statements of RMB Holdings Limited, which comprise the consolidated
and separate balance sheets as at 30 June 2009, and the consolidated and separate income statements, the consolidated and separate statements
of changes in equity and consolidated and separate cash flow statements for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, as set out on pages 34 to 114.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of RMB Holdings
Limited as at 30 June 2009, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: F Tonelli
Registered Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: F Tonelli
Registered Auditor
Sandton
16 September 2009
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 June 2009

nature of business
rMB Holdings limited (“rMBH”) is a diversified financial services holding company listed on the JSe limited (“JSe”) under the banking sector.
Its investments include:
actual interest*
at 30 June

Firstrand limited – “Firstrand”
Discovery Holdings limited – “Discovery”
rMB-SI Investments (pty) limited – “rMBSI”
Firstrand StI Holdings limited – “outsurance”
Glenrand M.I.B limited – “Glenrand M.I.B”

2009

2008

30,1%
25,0%
76,9%
58,6%
–

30,1%
25,0%
76,9%
58,6%
12,3%

* Actual interest differs from the effective interest used for financial reporting due the consolidation of treasury shares and “deemed” treasury shares held by Group
companies (see note 41, page 96).

rMBH sold its interest in Glenrand M.I.B with effect from 31 December 2008.
Further details regarding the investments are provided on pages 91 to 93 of these annual financial statements.
In terms of a written agreement between remgro limited (“remgro”) and rMBH, the most significant shareholders of Firstrand, rMBH has
management control over Firstrand.

Share capital
ordinary shares
there was no change in the authorised and issued ordinary share capital during the year.
at the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the Company, held on 28 november 2008, a special resolution was passed authorising the
board of the Company or the board of a subsidiary of the Company to approve the purchase of shares in rMBH during the period up to and including
the date of the following annual general meeting. the repurchase is limited in any one financial year to a cumulative maximum of 10% of the
Company’s issued share capital. this resolution is subject to the provisions of the Companies act, as amended, and the listings requirements of the JSe.
to date, no action in terms of this resolution has taken place.
Preference shares
there was no change in the authorised preference share capital and no preference shares were issued during the year.

Shareholder analysis
(Disclosure in terms of Section 140a (8(a)) of the Companies act)
Based on information disclosed by Strate and investigations conducted on behalf of the Company, the following shareholders have an interest of
5% or more in the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 30 June:

Financial Securities limited (remgro)
public Investment Corporation
ll Dippenaar
Gt Ferreira

2009

2008

25,0%
11,2%
7,5%
7,2%

25,0%
8,6%
7,5%
7,2%

earnings
Headline earnings for the year ended 30 June 2009 amounted to r2,64 billion (2008: r3,71 billion).

Dividends
the following ordinary dividends were declared and paid by rMBH during the year under review:
• an interim dividend for the six month period ended 31 December 2008 of 54,0 cents (2007: 69,0 cents) per ordinary share, declared on
11 March 2009 and paid on 6 april 2009.
• a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009 of 45,0 cents (2008: 72,5 cents) per ordinary share, declared on 16 September 2009, payable
on 19 october 2009.
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The last day to trade in RMBH shares on a cum-dividend basis in respect of the final dividend will be Friday, 9 October 2009, while the first
day to trade ex-dividend will be Monday, 12 October 2009. The record date will be Friday, 16 October 2009 and the payment date Monday,
19 October 2009.
No dematerialisation or rematerialisation of shares may be done during the period Monday, 12 October 2009 to Friday, 16 October 2009, both
days inclusive.

Directorate
The directorate consists of:
GT Ferreira (Chairman)
L Crouse
JW Dreyer
PK Harris
KC Shubane

P Cooper (Chief Operating Officer)
LL Dippenaar
PM Goss
SEN Sebotsa
MH Visser

Mr DM Falck retired from the board effective 12 September 2008. Mr L Crouse was appointed to the board effective 13 September 2008.
Mr MH Visser was appointed to the board on 1 April 2009.

Directors’ interests in rmbh
Details of individual directors’ interests in the Company are disclosed on page 28.

Interest of directors and officers
During the financial year, no contracts were entered into in which directors or officers of the Company had an interest and which significantly
affected the business of the Group. The directors had no interest in any third party or company responsible for managing any of the business
activities of the Group except to the extent that they are shareholders in RMBH as disclosed in this report. Arm’s length banking and assurance
transactions entered into by the Company’s key management with the Group’s associates are disclosed on pages 88 to 90.

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed on page 28 and 29.

Directors’ participation in group share incentive schemes
RMBH does not operate a share incentive scheme in its own right.
Mr Harris is a full-time executive director of FirstRand. Mr Cooper was a member of the FirstRand executive committee. They are participants in the
FirstRand Group Share Incentive Schemes, details of which are provided in the FirstRand annual financial statements.
Their interests at 30 June 2009 in the FirstRand schemes are set out on page 29.
FirstRand recovers the annual cost attributable to Mr Cooper’s participation in its share incentive schemes from RMBH. During the year ended
30 June 2009 the costs incurred by RMBH in this regard amounted to R1 310 994 (2008: R1 321 937).

Borrowings powers
The directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money. In terms of the Articles of Association, the borrowing powers of the
company are unlimited.

Property and equipment
There was no change in the nature of the property and equipment of the Group or in the policy regarding its use during the year.

Insurance
RMBH has appropriate insurance cover against crime risks as well as professional indemnity.

Company secretary and registered office
Mr AL Maher is the company secretary. The address of the company secretary is that of the Company’s registered office. The Company’s registered
office is at 4th Floor, 4 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196.

Events subsequent to balance sheet date
There are no material facts or circumstances that have occurred between the accounting date and the date of this report.
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Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2009

notes

GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

1
2
3

146,2
18,6
20 100,0

113,4
20,5
19 578,9

4
4

541,4
3 493,8

411,8
4 118,3

4
4
4
5
14

360,4
76,4
1 092,6
268,4
11,2
37,6
111,8
226,5
1 986,3

390,0
72,5
960,1
263,7
92,7
28,6
81,5
195,6
2 057,6

28 471,2

28 385,2

5 190,7
15 451,7

5 196,5
15 109,9

total shareholders’ equity
Minority interest

20 642,4
1 098,5

20 306,4
1 044,0

Total equity

21 740,9

21 350,4

6

3 704,4

3 937,5

11
12
13
15

15,0
1 352,3
453,0
7,2

15,0
1 323,5
527,5
9,1

16

810,0
8,6
19,7
308,5
20,6
24,4
6,6

781,0
13,9
21,3
308,7
65,2
26,8
5,3

6 730,3

7 034,8

28 471,2

28 385,2

Assets
property and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in associates
Financial assets
equity securities:
– available-for-sale
– at fair value through profit or loss
Debt securities:
– available-for-sale
– held to maturity
– at fair value through profit or loss
loans and receivables including insurance receivables
policyholders’ interest
Deferred acquisition cost
reinsurance contracts
Deferred taxation
Cash and cash equivalents

6
7
8

Total assets

equity
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders
Share capital and premium
reserves

9
10

Liabilities
Insurance contracts
Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
preference shares
Interest bearing loans
policyholders’ contingency provision
Investment contracts:
– at fair value through profit or loss
Deferred acquisition revenue
provisions
trade and other payables
Deferred taxation
taxation
Short-term portion of financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

18
19
7
13
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Income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

2 386,9
4,2
–

3 786,6
–
(1,4)

Equity accounted earnings

2 391,1

3 785,2

Gross insurance premiums written

5 196,5

5 304,6

Notes
Share of after-tax profits of associate companies
Profit on sale of associate company
Impairment loss

3

Less: reinsurance premiums

(181,7)

Net insurance premiums written

5 014,8

Change in provision for unearned premiums net of reinsurance
20

35,8
5 174,3
23,3
73,6
397,1
228,9
5 897,2
(2 978,0)
40,7
13,0
317,2
(248,6)
(1 354,3)
(680,5)

21
22
23

4 885,8
33,4
73,6
436,2
(700,1)

Net income
Gross claims paid
Reinsurance recoveries received
Investment contract benefits
Transfer (to)/from policyholders’ interest
Provision for cash bonuses
Acquisition expenses
Marketing and administration expenses

24
24
25
14
6.5
26
27

4 728,9
(2 011,4)
81,7
(25,1)
(79,6)
(276,6)
(795,5)
(901,8)

Result of operating activities of the Group

5 138,5

(129,0)

Net insurance premiums earned
Commission income
Fee income
Investment income
Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets

Result of operating activities

(166,1)

720,6

1 006,7

3 111,7

4 791,9

Finance costs

28

(179,3)

(151,7)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

29

2 932,4
(300,8)

4 640,2
(290,1)

Profit for the year

2 631,6

4 350,1

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

2 484,9
146,7

4 121,5
228,6

2 631,6

4 350,1

207,1
206,7
99,0

345,9
339,9
141,5

Earnings per share (cents) – basic
Earnings per share (cents) – diluted
Dividend per share (cents)

31
31
32
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Share
capital

equity
accounted
reserves

other nondistributable
reserves

retained
earnings

Minority
interest

total
equity

Balance at 1 July 2007
Issue of shares
net profit for the year
Dividends paid
Income of associate companies retained
Movement in treasury shares
Capital invested by minorities
transfer to contingency reserve
Share option expense reserve – IFrS 2
transfers relating to short-term insurance interests:
– Movement in revaluation reserve
– Movement in foreign currency reserve
– Change in reserves due to change in holding
Change in carrying value of associate due to
elimination of treasury shares
transfers relating to associates:
– Movement in foreign currency translation reserves
– Movement in revaluation reserves
– Consolidation of share trusts
– reserve movements transferred to income statement
– Share based payment reserve
– effective change in shareholding of subsidiary
– other

4 439,0
722,9
–
–
–
34,6
–
–
–

9 132,0
–
–
–
2 275,8
82,0
–
–
–

513,7
–
–
–
–
–
–
36,8
4,0

2 538,4
–
4 121,5
(1 784,5)
(2 275,8)
0,7
–
(36,8)
–

971,7
–
228,6
(172,4)
–
–
13,5
–
1,8

17 594,8
722,9
4 350,1
(1 956,9)
–
117,3
13,5
–
5,8

–
–
–

–
–
–

(17,6)
23,9
(7,1)

–
–
–

(10,8)
14,6
(3,0)

(28,4)
38,5
(10,1)

–

(48,3)

–

–

–

(48,3)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

268,3
208,6
61,3
(16,0)
45,8
(34,7)
17,9

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

268,3
208,6
61,3
(16,0)
45,8
(34,7)
17,9

Balance at 30 June 2008

5 196,5

11 992,7

553,7

2 563,5

1 044,0

21 350,4

Group
rmillion
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Share
capital

Equity
accounted
reserves

Other nondistributable
reserves

Retained
earnings

Minority
interest

Balance at 1 July 2008
Net profit for the year
Dividends paid
Income of associate companies retained
Movement in treasury shares
Capital invested by minorities
Transfer to contingency reserve
Share option expense reserve – IFRS 2
Transfers relating to short-term insurance interests:
– Movement in revaluation reserve
– Movement in foreign currency reserve
– Change in reserves due to change in holding
Change in carrying value of associate due to
elimination of treasury shares
Transfers relating to associates:
– Movement in foreign currency translation reserves
– Movement in revaluation reserves
– Consolidation of share trusts
– Reserve movements transferred to income statement
– Share based payment reserve
– Effective change in shareholding of subsidiary
– Other

5 196,5
–
–
–
(5,8)
–
–
–

11 992,7
–
–
1 090,6
13,4
–
–
–

553,7
–
–
–
–
–
33,3
4,5

2 563,5
2 484,9
(1 529,5)
(1 090,6)
0,5
–
(33,3)
–

1 044,0
146,7
(180,6)
–
–
99,9
–
2,9

21 350,4
2 631,6
(1 710,1)
–
8,1
99,9
–
7,4

–
–
–

–
–
–

23,3
(16,7)
(38,0)

–
–
–

14,4
(10,3)
(18,5)

37,7
(27,0)
(56,5)

–

(27,3)

–

–

–

(27,3)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(215,1)
(274,0)
(51,1)
(83,2)
5,2
(11,1)
56,0

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(215,1)
(274,0)
(51,1)
(83,2)
5,2
(11,1)
56,0

Balance at 30 June 2009

5 190,7

12 496,1

560,1

2 395,5

1 098,5

Group
Rmillion

Total
equity

21 740,9
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Cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2009

note
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Investment income
Dividends received
Income tax paid
net cash generated from operating activities

a

GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

2 285,4
298,7
247,3
(371,8)

2 366,2
239,1
235,5
(441,4)

2 459,6

2 399,4

Cash flows from investing activities
purchase of property and equipment
proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
net additions to investments
acquisition of intangible asset
proceeds from sale of associate company
Investment in associate companies

(71,4)
0,8
(324,2)
(12,1)
43,1
–

(37,8)
0,2
(405,6)
(8,0)
–
(702,7)

net cash used in investing activities

(363,8)

(1 153,9)

Cash flows from financing activities
Funding raised from minority shareholders
Issue of preference shares
net amount of borrowings repaid
Cost of funding
Dividends paid on preference shares in issue
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to minority shareholders
Dividends paid to shareholders

99,9
2,3
(145,5)
(63,9)
(272,9)
(232,0)
(1 527,5)

13,5
1 182,4
(207,9)
(84,0)
(94,7)
(234,6)
(1 782,4)

net cash used in financing activities

(2 139,6)

(1 207,7)

net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year
unrealised foreign currency translation adjustment included in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(43,8)
(27,5)
2 057,6

37,8
41,6
1 978,2

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

1 986,3

2 057,6
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Note to the cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

2 932,4

4 640,2

(4,2)
–
(4,5)
(1 090,6)
35,8
–
14,0
(1,3)
–
7,4
(447,3)
65,2
118,7
104,9
696,2

–
1,4
9,5
(2 275,8)
27,3
4,1
5,9
–
0,3
5,8
(411,4)
87,4
78,6
130,4
(233,1)

90,5
(28,4)
–
23,8
276,6
(151,5)
(521,7)
29,0
4,9

7,0
(28,7)
16,2
29,4
248,6
(135,3)
23,8
(14,0)
2,0

(9,0)
(5,4)
79,6
–

(9,8)
4,9
(317,2)
319,4

22,8
47,5

272,6
(123,3)

2 285,4

2 366,2

A. Cash flows from operating activities
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:
Profit before taxation
Adjusted for:
Profit on sale of associate company
Impairment loss
(Profit)/loss on dilution of shareholding
Equity accounted earnings
Depreciation
Amortisation of restraint of trade
Service cost relating to intellectual property
Provisions
Loss on sale of fixed assets
Share option expenses
Investment income
Funding costs
Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue
Profit participation payable to cell holders
Net fair value gains on assets at fair value through profit or loss
Changes in insurance balances:
Gross provision for unearned premiums
 Reinsurers’ share of provision for unearned premiums
Gross provision for claims reported but not paid
Gross provision for claims incurred but not reported
 Provision for cash bonuses
Cash bonuses paid
Insurance contracts
Investment contracts
Investment contracts premiums received
Deferred acquisition costs
Deferred acquisition revenue
 Transfer to/(from) policyholders’ interest
Cell shares written off
Changes in working capital
Current receivables and prepayments
Current payables and provisions
Cash generated from operations
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Accounting policies
1. Basis of preparation
rMBH’s Company and Group financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial reporting Standards (”IFrS”),
the requirements of the South african Companies act, act 61 of 1973,
as amended, and the listings requirements of the JSe limited.
the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis using
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities
where it adopts the fair value basis of accounting. Such financial assets
and liabilities include financial assets and liabilities held for trading;
financial assets classified as available-for-sale; and financial instruments
elected to be carried at fair value through profit or loss.
the preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the reported
amounts in the balance sheet and income statement. although
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgements
of current facts as at balance sheet date, the actual outcome may
differ from those estimates. Where appropriate, details of estimates
are presented in the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

all monetary information and figures presented in these financial
statements are stated in millions of rand, unless otherwise indicated.
the principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
these polices have been consistently applied to all years presented,
unless otherwise stated.
Amendments to published standards effective in the current year
During the year new accounting interpretations and amendments
to IFrS became effective. the adoption of these new accounting
interpretations and amendments had no impact on the results of either
the current or prior year.
Standards, amendments and interpretations published that are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the group
the following new standard and interpretations to existing standards
are not yet effective for the current financial year. the Group
will comply with the new standard and interpretations from the
effective date:

effective date
IAS 1 (revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements
the main change in the revised IaS 1 is the requirement to present all non-owner
transactions in the statement of comprehensive income. the amendment also requires
two sets of comparative numbers to be provided for the financial position in any year
where there has been a restatement or reclassification of balances.

annual periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2009

the amendments will not affect the financial position or results of the Group but
will introduce some changes to the presentation of the financial position, changes
in equity and financial results of the Group.
IFRS 1 and IAS 27
(revised)

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled entity or Associate
the amendments to IFrS 1 allow first-time adopters of IFrS 1 to use a deemed cost
option for determining the cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled
entity or associate.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009

this amendment will not impact the Group as the Group adopted IFrS in full in the
financial year ending 30 June 2006. Consequently, IFrS 1 is no longer applicable.
IFRS 2 (amended)

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
the amendments to IFrS 2 clarify that vesting conditions are performance conditions
and service conditions only. the amendment also clarifies that cancellations of share
options by parties other than the entity are to be accounted for in the same way as
cancellations by the entity.
this amendment is not expected to impact the Group’s results significantly.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009
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Effective date
IFRS 3 and IAS 27
(revised)

Revision to IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements
The revised IFRS 3 retains the current basic requirements. The most significant
amendments are that the acquisition related costs will now be recognised as an
expense in the income statement when incurred, rather than including it in goodwill.

Annual periods commencing
on or after 1 July 2009

The revised IFRS 3 also states that any contingent consideration must be recognised
and measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in fair value
are recognised in accordance with other IFRSs, usually in the income statement
rather than by adjusting goodwill.
The amendment to IAS 27 requires that changes in a parent’s ownership interest
in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control should be accounted for
within equity.
The amendments are expected to affect the Group’s accounting for business
combinations that arise after the effective date. The amendment to IAS 27 requires
that transactions with minorities be accounted for in equity, which is the current
accounting policy of the Group.
IFRS 7 (amended)

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendments to IFRS 7 will require enhanced disclosures about fair value
measurements and liquidity risk.
The amendments affect the disclosures in the annual financial statements, and
do not affect measurement and recognition. The impact is therefore not expected
to be significant.

IFRS 8

Operating Segments
IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting. IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial
and descriptive information about its reportable operating segments. Operating
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information
is available and that are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

Annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009

Annual periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2009

The standard addresses disclosure in the annual financial statements and will not
affect recognition and measurement. The impact on the revised disclosure is not
expected to be significant.
IAS 23 (amended)

Borrowing Costs
The amendment removes the option of immediately recognising, as an expense,
borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get
ready for use or sale. The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of such
assets is therefore now required.

Annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009

The Group’s accounting policy is to capitalise borrowing costs on a qualifying asset.
The amendment will therefore not have an effect on the Group’s results.
IAS 32 (amended)

Financial Instruments Puttable at Fair value
The amendment to IAS 32 requires the classification of certain puttable financial
instruments and financial instruments that impose on the issuer an obligation to
deliver a pro-rata share of the entity only on liquidation as equity. The amendments
set out specific criteria that are to be met to present the instruments as equity
together with related disclosure requirements.
This amendment is not expected to have an impact on the Group.

Annual periods
commencing on or after
1 July 2009
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Accounting policies continued
effective date
IAS 39 (amended)

eligible Hedged Items
the amendment clarifies that inflation may only be hedged in instances where
changes in inflation are contractually specified portions of cash flows of a recognised
financial instrument. It also clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate purchased
or net purchased options as a hedging instrument in a hedge of a financial or nonfinancial item and to improve effectiveness, an entity is allowed to exclude the time
value of money from the hedging instrument.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009

this amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group.
IFRIC 16

Hedges of a net Investment in a Foreign operation
the interpretation clarifies which risks can be hedged under a hedge of the net
investment in a foreign operation and by which entities within the Group the
hedging instruments can be held in order to qualify as a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign operation.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 october 2008

the Group does not currently apply hedge accounting to net investments in
foreign operations.
IFRIC 17

Distribution of non-cash Assets to owners
the interpretation clarifies how an entity should measure distribution of assets other
than when it pays cash dividends to its owners. at present there is diversity in practice
when accounting for these dividends payable. these assets will be measured at their
fair value, and the difference between the fair value and the carrying value will be
recorded in the profit or loss for the period.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 July 2009

the impact of this interpretation on the Group is not considered to be significant.
Annual
Improvements

Annual Improvements Project
as part of its first annual improvements projects, the IaSB has issued its edition of
annual improvements. the annual improvements projects aim to clarify and improve
the accounting standards. the improvements include those involving terminology or
editorial changes with minimal effect on recognition and measurement.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009

there are no significant changes in the current year’s improvements that will affect
the Group.
Standards, amendments and interpretations published that are not yet effective and not relevant to the group
the following interpretations to existing standards are not yet effective for the current financial year and are not relevant to the Group:
effective date
IFRIC 15

Real estate Sales
the interpretation clarifies when real estate sales should be accounted for in terms
of IaS 11 Construction Contracts or IaS 18 revenue.
this interpretation is not applicable to the Group.

IFRIC 18

Transfers of Assets from Customer
the interpretation clarifies how an entity should treat items of property, plant and
equipment from its customers that must be used to connect those customers to a
network and provide them with ongoing access to a supply of commodities such
as electricity, gas or water. an entity could also receive cash from customers for the
acquisition or construction of such items of property, plant and equipment. this
interpretation applies to the accounting for such transfers.
this interpretation is not applicable to the Group.

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 January 2009

annual periods
commencing on or after
1 July 2009
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2. Consolidation
The Group financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results
of the operations of the holding company and its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries: Subsidiaries that have been consolidated are companies
in which the Group, directly or indirectly, has a long-term interest
of more than one half of the voting rights or has power to exercise
control over the operations.
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Accounting policies of subsidiaries and associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
Separate financial statements: In RMBH’s separate financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
are carried at cost.

3. Revenue and expenditure recognition
The Group uses the purchase method of accounting to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost
of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is accounted for directly in the
income statement.
The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement from or
to the date on which effective control was acquired or ceased to exist.
Intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains are eliminated
on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred.
Consolidation of share incentive trusts and collective investment
schemes (including policyholders): The Group consolidates share
incentive trusts and collective investment schemes in which it is
considered to have control through its size of investment, voting
control or related management contracts.

Interest income and expense: The Group recognises interest income
and expense in the income statement for all instruments measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable preference
shares, are included in financial assets and financial liabilities. Dividends
received or paid on these instruments are included and accrued in
interest income and expense.
Fee and commission income: The Group generally recognises fee
and commission income on an accrual basis when the service is
rendered. Certain fees and transaction costs that form an integral
part of the yield of available-for-sale and amortised cost financial
instruments are capitalised and recognised as part of the effective
yield of the financial instrument over the expected life of the financial
instruments. Commission income on acceptances, bills and promissory
notes endorsed is credited to income over the lives of the relevant
instruments on a time apportionment basis.
Dividends: The Group recognises dividends when the Group’s right to
receive payment is established. This is on the last day to trade for listed
shares, and on the date of declaration for unlisted shares.

4. Foreign currency translation

Associate companies: Associates are entities in which the Group
holds an equity interest of less than 50% and over which it has the
ability to exercise significant influence, but does not control.

Functional and presentation currency: The financial statements
are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional and
presentation currency of RMBH.

The Group includes the results of associates in its Group financial
statements using the equity accounting method, from the effective
date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal. The investment
is initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment losses)
identified on acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associated company.

Transactions and balances: Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated to South African Rand using the rates of
exchange ruling at the financial year-end. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

The Group’s share of retained income is transferred to non-distributable
reserves. The Group’s share of other movements in the reserves of
associated companies is accounted for as changes in consolidated
non-distributable reserves.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Groups’ interest in the entity.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Dilutionary and anti-dilutionary effects of equity transactions by
associated companies that RMBH is not party to, are accounted for
directly against reserves.

Group companies: The results and financial position of all the Group
entities are translated into the South African Rand as follows:
• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
• income and expenses for each income statement are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity; and
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Accounting policies continued
• cash flow items are translated at the closing rate at the date of the
balance sheet.
on consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are
taken to shareholders’ equity.
When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

5. Borrowing costs
the Group capitalises borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
up to the date on which construction or installation of the assets is
substantially completed.
other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

6. Direct taxes
Direct taxes include South african and foreign jurisdiction corporate
tax payable, as well as capital gains tax.
the charge for current tax is based on the results for the year as
adjusted for items which are non-taxable or disallowed. It is calculated
using taxation rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date, in each particular jurisdiction within which the
Group operates.

7. Recognition of assets
Assets
the Group recognises assets when it obtains control of a resource as
a result of past events, and from which future economic benefits are
expected to flow to the enterprise.
Contingent assets
the Group discloses a contingent asset where, as a result of past events,
it is highly likely that economic benefits will flow to it, but this will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events which are not wholly within the Group’s control.

8. Recognition of liabilities, provisions and
contingent liabilities
Liabilities and provisions: the Group recognises liabilities, including
provisions, when it has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Contingent liabilities: the Group discloses a contingent liability where:
• it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of
which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the enterprise; or

9. Financial instruments
Financial instruments disclosed in the financial statements include cash
and cash equivalents, investments, derivative instruments, debtors and
short-term loans, trade and other payables and borrowings. Financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value, including transaction
costs, when the Group becomes party to the contractual terms of the
instruments. the transaction costs relating to the acquisition of financial
instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are expensed.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured
as follows:
Loans and receivables and borrowings – loans and receivables
and borrowings are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. these
instruments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.
Held-to-maturity financial instruments – Instruments with fixed
maturity that the Group has the intent and ability to hold to maturity
are classified as held-to-maturity financial instruments and are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Available-for-sale financial instruments – other long-term financial
instruments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair
value. unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of available-for-sale financial instruments are recognised in
non-distributable reserves in the period in which they arise. When
these financial instruments are either derecognised or impaired, the
accumulated fair value adjustments are realised and included in income.
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – these
instruments, consisting of financial instruments held-for-trading and
those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception, are
carried at fair value. Derivatives are also classified as held-for-trading
unless they are designated as hedges. realised and unrealised gains
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these financial
instruments are recognised in the income statement in the period in
which they arise.
Financial assets and liabilities are designated on initial recognition as at
fair value through profit and loss to the extent that it produces more
relevant information because it either:
• results in the reduction of measurement inconsistency (or accounting
mismatch) that would arise as a result of measuring assets and liabilities
and the gains and losses on them on a different basis; or
• is a group of financial assets and/or financial liabilities that is managed
and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management or investment strategy, and this is
the basis on which information about the assets and/or liabilities is
provided internally to the entity’s key management personnel.

• it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle an obligation; or

the Group derecognises an asset when the contractual rights to the
asset expires, where there is a transfer of contractual rights that comprise
the asset, or the group retains the contractual rights of the assets but
assumes a corresponding liability to transfer these contractual rights to
another party and consequently transfers substantially all the risks and
benefits associated with the asset.

• the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient
reliability.

Where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
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the asset. If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the
Group has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset in its entirety and recognises a financial liability for the consideration
received. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any income on the
transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability.
Where the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the Group shall
determine whether it has retained control of the financial asset. Where
the Group has not retained control it shall derecognise the financial asset
and recognise separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations
created or retained in the transfer. Where the Group has retained control
of the financial asset, it shall continue to recognise the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset.
Financial liabilities (or portions thereof) are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or has
expired. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability, including related unamortised costs, and the
amount paid for it is included in the income statement.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in an organised financial
market is measured at the bid price for financial assets and ask/offer
price for financial liabilities. The fair value of the financial instruments
that are not traded in an organised financial market is determined
using a variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market
conditions and risk existing at balance sheet date, including independent
appraisals and discounted cash flow methods. Fair values represent an
approximation of possible value, which may differ from the value that
will finally be realised.
Where a current legally enforceable right of set-off exists for recognised
financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is an intention to settle
the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis,
all related financial effects are offset.
All purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised at the
trade date.

10. Property and equipment
The Group carries property and equipment at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment, except for land which is carried at
cost less impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates
calculated to reduce the book value of these assets to estimated residual
values over their expected useful lives. Freehold properties and properties
held under finance leases are further broken down into significant
components that are depreciated to their respective residual values over
the economic lives of these components.
The periods of depreciation used are as follows:
• Freehold property and property held under finance lease
– Buildings and structures 
– Mechanical, electrical and components
• Computer equipment
• Furniture, fittings and office equipment
• Motor vehicles

50 years
20 years
3 years
6 years
4 years
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred. Gains or losses on
disposals are determined by reference to the carrying amount of the asset
and the net proceeds received, and are recorded in the income statement
on disposal.
Leased assets – Assets leased in terms of finance leases, i.e. where
the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership,
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair
value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum finance
lease payments. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease period or the period over which the particular asset category
is otherwise depreciated. The corresponding rental obligations, net
of finance charges, are included in non-current liabilities. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as
to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
finance charges are accounted for in the income statement over the
term of the lease using the effective interest rate method. Hire purchase
agreements are accounted for as finance leases.
Leases of assets where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases are accounted for in income on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

11. Intangible assets
Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the attributable fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of
the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is disclosed separately. Goodwill on
acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of
an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.
Other intangible assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated
amortisation and any recognised impairment losses. Intangible assets
are recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group from the assets and the costs of these assets can be
measured reliably. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis
over their expected useful lives. The amortisation charge is reflected in
marketing and administration expenses in the income statement.
The carrying amounts of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment
on an annual basis or sooner if there is an indication of impairment.
Where the carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount, with the impairment recognised in the income
statement when incurred.
Computer software development costs are generally expensed in
the year incurred.
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets are reflected under
operating expenditure in the income statement.
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Accounting policies continued
12. Impairment of assets
Impairment – subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
an asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell
or its value in use. the carrying amounts of subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associated companies are reviewed annually and written down for
impairment where necessary.
Investment property and property, plant and equipment
Where these assets are identified as being impaired, that is when
the recoverable amount has declined below its carrying amount, the
carrying amount is reduced to reflect the decline in value. Such writtenoff amounts are accounted for in the income statement.
Financial instruments carried at amortised cost
the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired at each balance sheet date. a financial asset is impaired
and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that
can be reliably estimated.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost
has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If
a held-to-maturity investment or a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under contract. the Group may also
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, such as improved credit rating, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed and is recognised in the
income statement.
Financial assets carried at fair value
at each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is
objective evidence of possible impairment of financial assets carried
at fair value. If any objective evidence of impairment exists for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value,
less any impairment loss on the financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement.
Impairment losses on equity instruments that were recognised in the
income statement are not subsequently reversed through the income
statement – such reversals are accounted for in equity.
Goodwill
Goodwill is assessed annually for possible impairments. For purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units, being
the lowest component of the business measured in the management
accounts that is expected to generate cash flows that are largely

independent of another business component. Impairment losses
relating to goodwill are not reversed.

13. Deferred taxation
the Group calculates deferred taxation on the comprehensive basis using
the liability method on a balance sheet based approach. It calculates
deferred tax liabilities or assets by applying corporate tax rates to the
temporary differences existing at each balance sheet date between the
tax values of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount, where such
temporary differences are expected to result in taxable or deductible
amounts in determining taxable income for future periods when the
carrying amount of the assets or liabilities are recovered or settled. the
Group recognises deferred tax assets if the directors consider it probable
that future taxable income will be available against which the unused
tax losses can be utilised.
Secondary taxation on companies is provided for in respect of dividend
payments, net of dividends received or receivable and is recognised as
a taxation charge for the year.

14. employee benefits
Post-employment benefits: the Group operates defined benefit
(through its associates) and defined contribution schemes, the assets
of which are held in separate trustee-administered funds. the pension
plans are generally funded by payments from employees and the
relevant Group companies, taking account of the recommendations of
independent qualified actuaries. For defined benefit plans the pension
accounting costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method.
the Group writes off current service costs immediately, while it
expenses past service costs, experience adjustments, changes in actuarial
assumptions and plan amendments over the expected remaining working
lives of employees. the costs are written off immediately in the case of
retired employees.
these funds are registered in terms of the pension Funds act, 1956,
and membership is compulsory for all Group employees. actuaries
perform the annual valuations.
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly
or privately-administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. the Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. the contributions
are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due.
Post-retirement medical benefits: In terms of certain employment
contracts, the Group provides for post-retirement healthcare benefits
to qualifying employees and retired personnel by subsidising a
portion of their medical aid contributions. the expected costs of these
benefits are accrued over the period of employment using an accounting
methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. the
entitlement to these benefits is usually based on the employee remaining
in service up to retirement age and completing a minimum service period.
Qualified actuaries perform annual valuations.
Leave pay: the Group recognises, in full, employees’ rights to annual
leave entitlement in respect of past service.
Bonuses: Management and staff bonuses are recognised as an expense
in staff costs as incurred when it is probable that the economic benefits
will be paid and the amount can be reliably measured.
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Intellectual property bonuses: In terms of the intellectual property
bonus plan operated by a subsidiary, employees were paid intellectual
property bonuses at the company’s discretion. The beneficiaries under the
plan were subject to retention periods and amounts to be repaid should
the employee be in breach of the retention period. The intellectual property
bonuses are recognised as current service costs over a 2,5 to 3 year period
and are originally valued using the projected unit credit method.

15. Borrowings
The Group initially recognises borrowings, including debentures, at the
fair value of the consideration received. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Discounts or premiums on debentures
issued are amortised on a basis that reflects the effective yield on
the debentures over their life span. Interest paid is recognised in the
income statement on an effective interest rate basis.
Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable preference
shares, are included in liabilities. Dividends paid on such instruments
are included in interest expense.

16. Share capital
Share issue costs directly related to the issue of new shares or options
are shown as a deduction from equity.
Dividends paid on ordinary shares are recognised against equity in
the period in which they are declared. Dividends declared after the
balance sheet date are not recognised but disclosed as a post balance
sheet event.
Treasury shares: Where the Company or other members of the Group
purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid is
deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares until they
are cancelled. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued,
any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity. These
shares are treated as a deduction from the issued number of shares
and taken into account in the calculation of the weighted average
number of shares.

17. Segment reporting
The Group defines a segment as a distinguishable component or
business that provides unique products or services in a distinct business
segment and/or products or services within particular geographical
segments. Segments with a majority of revenue earned from charges
to external customers and whose revenue, results or assets are 10%
or more of all the segments, are reported separately.

18. Share based payments
The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans.
The Group expenses the fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options, over the vesting period of
the options, as employee costs, with a corresponding credit to a
share-based payment reserve. The total value of the services received
is calculated with reference to the fair value of the options at
grant date.
The fair value of the options are determined excluding non-market
vesting conditions. These vesting conditions are included in the
assumptions of the number of options expected to vest. At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
options expected to vest.
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19. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value and include cash
on hand, short-term deposits held with banks and listed Government
bonds under resale agreements.
Short-term deposits with banks and listed Government bonds under
resale agreements are considered instruments that can be liquidated
within a period of three months from the reporting date. Short-term
deposits which cannot be accessed within this period are classified as
financial assets.

20. Insurance contracts
Classification of insurance and investment contracts
The Group issues investment contracts and contracts that transfer
insurance risk:
• Contracts are classified as insurance contracts if the Group accepts
significant insurance risk. Insurance risk is defined as a risk on the
occurrence of a defined uncertain insured event. The amount paid
may significantly exceed the amount payable should the event not
have occurred.
• Investment contracts are contracts that transfer financial risk without
significant insurance risk. Financial risk refers to the risk of a possible
future change in the value of an asset or financial instrument, due to
a change in the interest rate, commodity prices, and index of prices,
foreign exchange rate or other measurable variable.
Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract the class
will remain unchanged for the lifetime of the contract even if the policy
conditions change significantly over time.
Insurance contracts
Insurance contracts are classified into two main categories, depending
on the duration of the risk.
20.1 Short-term insurance
Short-term insurance is the providing of benefits under short-term
policies which includes property, accident and health, liability,
miscellaneous and motor or a contract comprising a combination of
any of those policies.
Recognition and measurement
• Premium revenue
 Gross insurance premium revenue reflects business written during
the year, and excludes any taxes or levies payable on premiums.
Premium revenue includes all premiums for the period of risk
covered by the policy, regardless of whether or not these are due
for payment in the accounting period. Premiums are shown before
deduction of commission.
• Unearned premium provision
 The provision for unearned premiums comprises the proportion
of gross premium revenue which is estimated to be earned in the
following or subsequent financial years, computed separately for each
insurance contract using the method most reflective of any variation
in the incidence of risk during the period covered by the contract.
• Unexpired risk provision
 Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from insurance contracts
where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to
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Accounting policies continued
the unexpired periods of policies in force at the balance sheet date
exceeds the unearned premiums provision in relation to such policies
after the deduction of any deferred acquisition costs.
• Provision for claims reported but not paid
Claims outstanding comprise provisions for the Group’s estimate of
the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the
balance sheet date, and, if applicable, related internal and external
handling expenses and an appropriate prudential margin. Claims
outstanding are assessed by reviewing individual claims and making
allowance for claims reported but not yet paid, the effect of both
internal and external foreseeable events, such as changes in claims
handling procedures, inflation, judicial trends, legislative changes
and past experience and trends. adjustments to claims provisions
established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements
of the period in which the adjustments are made and are disclosed
separately if material. the methods used, and the estimates made
are reviewed annually.
• Provision for claims incurred but not reported
Incurred but not reported reserves represent a provision for claims
incurred up to the end of the financial year but not yet reported. the
provision for claims incurred but not reported is estimated based on
actual reported claims and referring to net premium written.
• Salvage and subrogation recoveries
Certain insurance contracts permit the group to sell (usually damaged)
property acquired in settling a claim (salvage) as well as to pursue third
parties for payment of some or all costs (subrogation). Salvage and
subrogation recoveries are recognised when it is reasonably certain
that the amounts will be recovered. the recoveries are credited to
claims incurred in the income statement.
• Deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”)
acquisition costs, which represent commission paid in respect
of insurance contracts, are recognised as an intangible asset and
amortised over the duration of the insurance agreement as premium
is earned.
• Deferred acquisition revenue (“DAR”)
reinsurance commission is recognised as a liability and amortised
over the duration of the reinsurance agreement as reinsurance
premium is expensed.
Reinsurance contracts held
the Group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the
purpose of limiting its net loss potential through the diversification
of its risks. only rights under contracts that give rise to a significant
transfer of insurance risk are accounted for as reinsurance assets.
rights under contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk
are accounted for as financial instruments.

as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the expected claims and
benefits arising under the related reinsured insurance contracts.
reinsurance premiums paid under reinsurance contracts are recognised
as reinsurance assets and expensed as the gross premiums are released
to income. reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for
reinsurance contracts.
the Group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on a six
monthly basis. If there is objective evidence that the reinsurance asset
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance
asset to its recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss
in the income statement. the Group gathers the objective evidence
that a reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process adopted
for financial assets held at amortised cost. the impairment loss is also
calculated following the same method used for these financial assets.
• Contingency reserve
a reserve is made in respect of the Group’s short-term insurance
operations in South africa as required by the regulatory authorities.
transfers to and from this reserve are treated as appropriation of
retained income. the contingency reserve is not distributable.
the contingency reserve is calculated as 10% of the net written
premiums in terms of the South african Short term Insurance
act, 1998.
• Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts
receivables and payables are recognised when due. these include
amounts due to and from brokers and insurance contract holders.
If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount of the insurance receivable
accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the income
statement. the Group gathers the objective evidence that an
insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted for
loans and receivables. the impairment loss is also calculated under
the same method used for these financial assets.
• Cash bonus provision
a provision is made for probable future cash bonus payments
during the period in which the premium is collected using statistical
techniques, past experience and management’s expectations
regarding future trends in claims experiences. Certain personal
lines clients are eligible for this benefit, which returns a contracted
percentage of the client’s premium paid, upon achievement of
a pre-specified claim free period as stipulated in the client’s
insurance contract.

amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently
with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts
and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract.

20.2 Long-term insurance
long-term insurance provides benefits under long-term policies for
credit life. premium revenue includes all premiums for the period of
risk covered by the policy, regardless of whether or not these are for
payment in the accounting period. premiums are shown before the
deduction of commission. Benefits are recorded as an expense when
they are incurred.

the benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance
contracts held are recognised as assets. these assets consist of
short-term balances due from reinsurers (classified within loans
and receivables) on settled claims, as well as receivables (classified

the liabilities under life insurance contracts are valued in accordance
with the actuarial Society of South africa’s guidelines and in particular
pGn103 (version 4) and pGn104 (version 6). the operating surpluses
or losses arising from life insurance contracts are determined by the
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annual valuation. These surpluses or losses are arrived at after taking
into account the movement in actuarial liabilities under matured
policies, provisions for profit commissions accrued and adjustments to
other reserves within the policyholder liabilities.
Assets and liabilities were valued on consistent bases. Valuation
assumptions regarding future mortality, morbidity, expenses and
yields are based on prudent best estimates taking into account the
company’s expected future experience and allowing for any specific
conditions of the various policy classes.
20.3 Liability adequacy test
At each balance sheet date, liability adequacy tests are performed to
ensure the adequacy of the contract liabilities net of related DAC assets.
In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual
cash flows and claims handling and administration expenses are used.
Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss initially by writing
off DAC and by subsequently establishing a provision for losses arising
from liability adequacy tests (the unexpired risk provision). Any DAC
written off as a result of this test cannot subsequently be reinstated.
In respect of short-term insurance transactions the provision is made
for unexpired risks arising from insurance contracts where the expected
value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods
of policies in force at the balance sheet date exceeds the unearned
premiums provision in relation to such policies after the deduction of
any deferred acquisition costs.
20.4 Accounting for cell captive arrangements
Certain cell captive arrangements have been entered into by businesses
within the Group. Per these arrangements, certain risk products
marketed and distributed by these companies are underwritten by the
company’s subsidiary.
The collection of premium and the payment of claims is a function that
is performed by the cell or its administrator. The results of the cell are
fully consolidated into the results of the Group.
Economic benefits generated by the cell are distributed by way of a
bi-annual preference dividend to the preference shareholder, an entity
independent of the cell. Losses incurred by the cell are for the Group
and there is no recourse against the cell for such losses. The Group
however, retains the right to offset such losses against future profits
generated by the cell in the determination of any preference dividends
to be paid to the preference shareholder.
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carried at this value. The convertible debentures can be converted at the
option of the debenture holder to non-redeemable preference shares.
The carrying amount equals the amount at which the debentures could
be converted to non-redeemable preference shares. The dividend rights
to the non-redeemable preference shares have been contractually
determined and are non-discretionary. The convertible debentures are
classified as long-term liabilities. Interest incurred on the convertible
debentures is recognised in the income statement using the effective
yield method.

22. Preference shares
The Group issues variable rate cumulative redeemable preference
shares to fund the statutory capital requirements of its insurance
subsidiaries, and whilst the redemption is at the option of the issuer, the
Group has no intention to defer redemption of the various allotments
of shares beyond the duration of the underlying transactions in respect
of which the shares were issued. Accordingly, these preference shares
are classified as long-term liabilities. The preference shares originated
by the Group are initially recognised at the proceeds received, less
attributable transaction costs and subsequently carried at that value,
which equals redemption value. The dividends on these shares are
non-discretionary and are recognised in the income statement as a
charge against the profit before tax, and disclosed separately. Provision
for dividends payable is disclosed separately in the balance sheet under
current liabilities.

23. Policyholders’ profit share
The Group and its clients share in the operating result of the insurance
business. The entitlement to the participation in the operating result
remains contingent until the termination of the agreement with the
client or until contractually determined.
During the duration of the profit sharing agreement the estimated
entitlement to profit or losses by clients is determined annually and
transferred to the policyholder profit share liability. Increases and
decreases in the estimated entitlement to operating result that may
become apparent in future periods are transferred from or to the
operating result of that period.

24. Investment contracts
Policyholder contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk
are classified as investment contracts. The proceeds from payments

The profitability of cell captive business is reviewed on a monthly basis
to ensure that the Group is not exposed to uneconomical risks over
which it has no day-to-day management control.

against these contracts are excluded from the income statement and

Provisions in relation to insurance contracts, other than the provision
for incurred but not reported claims and the provision for unearned
premium, concluded by the cell are determined by the cell administrator.
The provision for incurred but not reported claims is carried by the Group
at a minimum of the statutory rate of 7% of net written premiums.

fees earned as well as fair value gains or losses from the revaluation of

recognised directly against the liability. The results from investment
contracts included in the income statement is limited to administration
assets underlying the investment contracts.
Liabilities for individual market related long-term insurance policies,
where benefits are in part dependent on the performance of
underlying investment portfolios, are taken as the aggregate value of

21. Convertible debentures

the policies’ investment in the investment portfolio at the valuation

Convertible debentures originated by the Group are initially recognised
at the proceeds, less attributable transaction costs and subsequently

future experience.

date. The liability is based on assumptions of the best estimate of
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Management of insurance risk
the Group’s consolidated insurance businesses are conducted in
two separate subsidiaries, namely Firstrand StI Holdings limited
(“outsurance”) and rMB-SI Investments (proprietary) limited (“rMB
Structured Insurance” or”rMBSI”).
rMB Structured Insurance holds both short-term and life insurance
licences. It creates individual insurance and financial risk solutions for
large corporates by using sophisticated risk techniques and innovative
financial structures. rMBSI’s business strategy is to mitigate insurance
risk by passing a significant portion of risk back to the policyholders
or external parties or to write business where the overall portfolio
insurance risk is controlled within acceptable limits with minimal residual
risk accruing to shareholders. rMBSI generally writes a few policies for
a number of large corporate clients. In the case of customer protection
and credit insurance, policies are written over the entire customer base
of the corporate client. this business is written in all retail outlets of the
corporate client which has branches throughout South africa and its
adjoining territories. the geographic diversity of this business reduces
concentration risk to acceptable levels.
outsurance is a direct personal lines and small business short-term insurer
and provides long-term insurance to individuals in the form of credit
life policies. outsurance has developed an enterprise risk management
framework to provide reasonable assurance that the Group’s risks are
being prudently and soundly managed. the framework is designed
according to acceptable principles on corporate governance and risk
management standards. the risk management framework outlines the
key risks facing the business and how these risks are monitored.
as the insurance offerings of these businesses differ, the management
of insurance risk is presented for each business below.

RMB Structured Insurance
rMBSI’s insurance business comprises a small number of large corporate
insurance contracts issued to corporates and institutions, as well as a large
number of smaller insurance contracts issued on behalf of the group by
its corporate clients under underwriting mandates. rMBSI’s compliance
committee meets on a regular basis, performing a detailed review of
all new corporate insurance contracts and underwriting mandates, and
annually reviews the status of these contracts and mandates. rMBSI’s
risk appetite is determined with reference to past experience, its capital
base, predictability and volatility of the underwriting result, economic
climate, and the availability of reinsurance cover, where applicable. as
there are a large number of small contracts the risk exposure on this
business is diversified.
rMBSI mainly underwrites insurance risk in South africa, with a small
portion arising from risks in the Far east, australia, united Kingdom,
united States of america, lesotho and Swaziland.
Due to the number and size of insurance contracts, the profile of rMBSI’s
business changes regularly, and as a result thereof gross premiums and
gross claims show little comparability between different reporting periods.
rMBSI therefore manages its insurance risk in respect of each insurance
contract separately through limits of indemnity, reinsurance arrangements
or through other arrangements with rMBSI’s clients where they provide
the risk capital required for the business, whether on an actual or
contingent basis. rMBSI does not pool insurance risks, with the exception

of the credit protection business. rMBSI is able to re-price under most
of its insurance products in respect of future risks.
Customers are legally bound to report claims soon after a loss has been
incurred. Most of the insurance contracts are not subject to significant
lags or claim complexity risk and result in relatively low estimation
uncertainty. underwriting exposures are also limited by contractual limits
of indemnity. the underwriting strategy provides for a variety of risks.
reinsurance decisions are made on a case-by-case basis when the
compliance committee approves or reviews a transaction. rMBSI reinsures
a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to limit its exposures to losses
and protect its own customers’ capital resources. reinsurance contracts
comprise both proportional and non-proportional reinsurance. amounts
recoverable under reinsurance contracts are reported after impairment
provisions. the ability of reinsurers to meet reinsurance claims is monitored
on an ongoing basis.
Short-term insurance
Discounted liabilities
Where the liability term is deemed to be long enough for the effect of
investment returns earned on provisions held to be material, explicit
account is taken thereof by discounting future net cash flows at the
expected long-term investment return.
In short-term insurance this may be necessary where the delay between
the date of a claim and the date of payment of the claim exceeds
a predetermined period or where the policy term extends beyond a
predetermined length.
this approach may or may not be taken on a policy by policy basis,
depending on the nature of the business and the provision
being calculated.
the basis of the projections is a “best estimate” assumption basis.
Undiscounted liabilities
the undiscounted liabilities of the group include the following:
• Unearned premium provision (“UPP”)
the upp is calculated on the assumption that the risk profile under
a policy is uniformly distributed over the term of the policy. the
method applies the proportion of the policy term still outstanding
to the total written premium to obtain the value of premiums still
to be earned.
For debt-related business, the premium in any period is related to the
value of the outstanding debt. the Company therefore calculates
the outstanding debt value as a proportion of the original debt and
apply this to the total written premium to obtain the upp.
For inward reinsurance business the upp is subject to a minimum of
50% of the net written premiums.
• Unexpired risk provision (“URR”) and additional unexpired risk
provision (“AURR”)
the urr is equal to the expected cost of future claims and related
expenses expected to arise from policies that have unexpired cover
as at the valuation date. the methods used to estimate the urr
may differ from one case to another. For most of the insurance
transactions the historical loss ratios were considered in forming a
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view on the URR. If the URR exceeds the UPP this could indicate that
the premiums charged are inadequate for the risks covered.
 To allow for this, an AURR is set aside to cater for the additional
expected loss. The AURR  is the positive difference between the
URR and UPP after the deduction of any deferred acquisition costs.
 None of the insurance transactions of the Group require an AURR 
as at 30 June 2009.
• Incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) provision
  The most common techniques used to determine IBNR provisions are
the ultimate loss ratio method, Chain-Ladder and the BornheutterFerguson methods or a combination of these methods.
  The Bornheutter-Ferguson method combines the chain-ladder
technique with a market – or company-related estimate of ultimate
loss ratio and is intended to stabilise the projections where data is
scarce. This method is often useful where developed claims experience
alone is not sufficient to determine IBNR provisions. The ultimate loss
ratio method requires less information than the Bornheutter-Ferguson
method in that is does not use or assume a development pattern.
  In most instances, the company followed the ultimate loss ratio
method as this can use all the information from the internal capital
model and lends greater stability to the provisions. The internal
model estimates the ultimate loss ratio that can be expected on each
transaction for the financial year through careful consideration of
the following factors:
• Claims notification period on the policies;
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• Input from the Company’s management; and
• Future claims inflation.
The claims reported to date are deducted from the ultimate claims
estimate to arrive at the total claims that the company expects are incurred
but not reported yet. This estimate is compared to the statutory minimum
of 7% of the preceding 12 months net written premium and against
the company’s past claims experience to test whether the Company is
required to hold additional IBNR provision over and above the minimum.
The actuaries report did not highlight any areas of inadequate provisioning.
The provision for reported claims and IBNR  is initially estimated at a
gross level. A separate calculation is then carried out to determine the
estimated reinsurance recoveries.
• Contingency provision
A  contingency provision is held to meet unforeseen future losses that
may arise over the remaining term of in-force policies and will give rise
to unexpected increase in the claims. Since the extent and nature of such
contingencies are unknown, this reserve is generally set at a predetermined
percentage of the gross premium income of the preceding year.
Long-term insurance
The liabilities for insurance contracts include discounted and
undiscounted liabilities. Discounted liabilities are calculated by projecting liability outgo and expected future premiums and discounting
the cashflows to the valuation date based on the valuation interest rate.
The undiscounted liability is an additional IBNR provision due to it being
credit life business. For more detail on sensitivity refer to note 6.

• Nature and size of the insurance coverage;

The split of the long-term actuarial liability for insurance contracts

• Historic experience on the business;

between discounted and undiscounted liabilities is as follows:

Actuarial liability
Discounted liabilities
Undiscounted liabilities

June
2009
Rmillion

June
2008
Rmillion

274,3
12,5

256,4
14,2

286,8

270,6

OUTsurance
Short-term insurance
OUTsurance conducts short-term insurance business on different
classes of short-term insurance risk. Furthermore, it underwrites
Types of insurance contracts written
Personal accident
Liability
Miscellaneous
Motor
Property
Transportation

risk products marketed and distributed through companies within
the wider FirstRand Group.

Personal lines

Commercial

Cell captive

X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
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Management of insurance risk continued
the personal lines segment of the business sells insurance to the
general public allowing them to cover their personal possessions and
property. the commercial segment of the business targets medium
and small businesses in South africa. Insurance products are sold with
either a monthly or an annual premium payable by the covered party
or entity. Cell captive business refers to arrangements whereby the
group underwrites various risk products marketed and distributed by
other Firstrand Group companies. the management of cell captive
risks underwritten by the Group is performed by the cell itself. the
following gives a brief explanation of each risk:
Personal accident
provide compensation arising out of the death or disability directly
caused by an accident occurring anywhere in the world, provided that
death or disability occurs within 12 months of injury.
Liability
provide cover for risks relating to the incurring of a liability other than
relating to a risk covered more specifically under another insurance
contract.
Miscellaneous
provide cover relating to all other risks that are not covered more specifically
under another insurance contract.
Motor
provide indemnity cover relating to the possession, use or ownership of
a motor vehicle. the cover includes comprehensive cover, third party,
fire and theft and liability to other parties.
Property
provide indemnity relating to movable and immovable property caused
by perils such as fire, explosion, earthquakes, acts of nature, burst
geysers and pipes, malicious damage, impact, alterations and additions.
Transportation
provide cover to risks relating to stock in transit.
Management of short-term insurance risk
the primary activity of outsurance relates to the assumption of possible
loss arising from risks to which it is exposed through the sale of shortterm insurance products. Insurance risks to which it is exposed relate to
property, personal accident, liability, motor, transportation and other
miscellaneous perils that may result from a contract of insurance. the
group is exposed to uncertainty regarding the timing, magnitude and
frequency of such potential losses.
the theory of probability forms the core base of the risk management
model. through the continuous sale of insurance products and
subsequent growth in the pool of insured risks, outsurance can
diversify its portfolio of risks and therefore minimise the impact of
variability of insurance losses affecting that portfolio. Insurance perils are
unpredictable in nature, timing and extent which expose outsurance to
a risk that the effect of future insured losses could exceed the expected
value of such losses.
outsurance manages its insurance risk through its reinsurance programme
which is structured to protect it against material losses to either a
single insured risk, or a group of insured risks in the case of a catastrophe
where there would tend to be a concentration of insured risks.

the underwriting of insurance risk and the passing on of excessive
insurance risk to reinsurers is further described below.
Underwriting strategy
outsurance aims to diversify the pool of insured perils through writing
a balanced portfolio of insurance risks over a large geographical area.
products are priced using statistical regression techniques which identify
risk factors through correlations identified in past loss experiences.
risk factors would typically include factors such as age of the insured
person, past loss experiences, past insurance history, type and value of
asset covered, security measures taken to protect the asset, major use
of the covered item, and so forth. risks are priced and accepted on an
individual basis and as such there is a minimal cross subsidy between
risks. Insurance premiums charged for a certain pool of risks are
adjusted frequently according to the normalised loss ratios experienced
on that pool of risks.
Insurance risk is monitored within the group on a daily basis to ensure
that risks accepted by the group for its own account are within the
limits set by the board. exception reporting is used to identify areas
of concentration of risk so that management is able to consider the
levels adopted in the reinsurance programme covering that pool
of risk.
risks are rated individually by programmes loaded onto the computer
system based on information captured by staff for each risk. Conditions
and exclusions are also automatically set at an individual risk level.
Individual risks are only automatically accepted up to predetermined
thresholds which vary by risk type. risks with larger exposure than the
thresholds are automatically referred and underwritten individually by the
actuarial department. these limits are set at a substantially lower level
than the reinsurance retention limits. no risks which exceed the upper
limits of the reinsurance can be accepted without the necessary facultative
cover being arranged. no claims bonuses which reward clients for not
claiming also form part of outsurance’s underwriting strategy.
Multi-claimants are also monitored and managed by increasing conditions
of cover or ultimately cancelling cover.
Reinsurance strategy
outsurance reinsures a portion of the risk it assumes through its
reinsurance programme in order to control the exposure of outsurance
to losses arising from insurance contracts and in order to protect
the profitability of the company and its capital. a suite of treaties
are purchased in order to limit losses suffered from individual and
collective insurance risks. Facultative reinsurance is purchased for
certain individual risks that have been identified as being outside
the limits set for these risks. the retention limits are modelled to
optimise the balance between acceptable volatility and reinsurance
cost. acceptable volatility is as defined by the limits set by the board.
outsurance only enters into reinsurance agreements with reinsurers
which have adequate credit ratings.
Concentrations of risk and mitigating policies
risk concentrations are monitored by means of exception reporting.
When large risks are underwritten individually, the impacts which
they could have on risk concentrations are considered before they are
accepted. Marketing efforts are also coordinated to attract business
from a wide geographical spread. risks which could lead to an
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accumulation of claims as the result of a single event are declined.
Focus is placed on attracting large numbers of relatively small
independent risks which would lead to very stable and predictable
claims experience.
OUTsurance is exposed to a concentration of insurance risk in the
Gauteng province of South Africa where 49.5% of the group’s total sum
insured is domiciled. In order to manage this concentration of insurance
risk, the group has entered into a catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance
treaty that would limit the loss of the group to pre-determined levels
following the occurrence of a localised catastrophe in this area.
Exposure to catastrophes and policies mitigating this risk
Catastrophe modelling is performed to determine the impact of
different types of catastrophe events (including natural disasters) in
different geographical areas, at different levels of severity and at
different times of the day. Catastrophe limits are set so as to render
satisfactory results to these simulations. The catastrophe cover is also
placed with reinsurers with a reputable credit rating and cognisance
is taken of the geographical spread of the other risks underwritten by
the reinsurers in order to reduce correlation of our exposure with the
balance of their exposure. These reinsurance models are run at least
annually to take account of changes in the portfolio and to take the
latest potential loss information into account.
Cell captive
Cell captive arrangements have been entered into with businesses within
the FirstRand Group. Per these arrangements, certain risk products
marketed and distributed by these companies are underwritten by
OUTsurance. Profits arising out of the cell captives are distributed by
OUTsurance to the FirstRand Group.
The collection of premium and the payment of claims is a function
that is performed by the cell or its administrator. The results of the
cell are fully consolidated into the results of OUTsurance, and hence
are included in these group results. OUTsurance is responsible for
maintaining the required solvency for the cell captives.
The profitability of cell captive business is reviewed on a monthly basis
to ensure that OUTsurance is not exposed to uneconomical risks over
which it has no day-to-day management control.
Contingency reserve
A  contingency reserve is held to meet unforeseen future losses
that may arise over the remaining term of in-force policies and will
give rise to unexpected increase in the claims. Since the extent and
nature of such contingencies are unknown, this reserve is generally
set at a predetermined percentage of the gross premium income
of the preceding year.
Long-term insurance
OUTsurance conducts long-term insurance business on various classes
of long-term insurance risk. Products are only sold to the South
African retail market. The types of insurance contracts written or risks
covered are as follows:
Death cover
Provide compensation arising out of the death of the policyholder. In the
event of a valid death claim, OUTsurance Life settles the policyholder’s
outstanding debt by way of a lump sum payment to the finance provider.
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Disability cover
Provide compensation arising out of the permanent disability of the
policyholder. In the event of a valid disability claim, OUTsurance Life
settles the policyholder’s outstanding debt by way of a lump sum
payment to the finance provider.
Critical illness cover
Provide compensation arising from the policyholder contracting a
specified critical illness. In the event of a valid critical illness claim,
OUTsurance Life settles the policyholder’s outstanding debt by way of
a lump sum payment to the finance provider.
Retrenchment cover
Provide compensation arising from the policyholder being retrenched
during the policy term. In the event of a valid retrenchment claim,
OUTsurance Life undertakes to pay the policyholder’s monthly
instalment to the finance provider for a specified period of time.
Temporary disability cover
Provide compensation arising out of the temporary disability of
the policyholder. In the event of a valid temporary disability claim,
OUTsurance Life undertakes to pay the policyholder’s monthly instalment
to the finance provider for a specified period of time.
Management of long-term insurance risk
The primary activity of OUTsurance Life relates to the assumption of
loss arising from risks to which it is exposed through the sale of longterm insurance products. It is exposed to uncertainty regarding the
timing, magnitude and frequency of such potential losses.
The theory of probability forms the core base of the risk management
model. Through the continuous sale of insurance products and
subsequent growth in the pool of insured risks, Outsurance Life can
diversify its portfolio of risks and therefore minimise the impact of
variability of insurance losses affecting that portfolio.
Outsurance Life manages its insurance risk through its quota share
reinsurance programme which is structured to protect it against
material losses on single insured risks.
The underwriting of insurance risk and the passing on of excessive
insurance risk to reinsurers is further described below.
Mortality and morbidity risk
Mortality risk is the risk of loss arising due to actual death rates on
life insurance business being higher than expected. Morbidity risk is
the risk of loss arising due to policyholder health related claims being
higher than expected.
The following processes and procedures are in place to manage mortality
and morbidity risk:
• Premium rates are differentiated by factors which historical experience
has shown are significant determinants of mortality and morbidity
claims experience such as age, gender, smoker status and HIV status.
• The expertise of reinsurers is used for pricing where adequate claims
history is not available.
• Reinsurance arrangements are put in place to reduce the mortality
and morbidity exposure per individual policy and provide cover in
catastrophic events.
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Management of insurance risk continued
Underwriting experience risk
there is a risk that actual mortality and morbidity experience is higher
than expected. this could arise as a result of the number of claims
or the value of the claims being higher than expected. Selection risk
is the risk that worse than expected risks are attracted and charged
inadequate premiums. there is also a risk that the number of claims
can increase due to the emergence of a new disease or pandemic.
underwriting experience risk is managed through:
• Product design and pricing
rating factors are applied to different premium rates to differentiate
between different levels of risk. premiums are differentiated by
considerations such as age, gender, smoking status and medical history.
premium rates are approved and reviewed by the statutory actuary.

Lapse risk
policyholders have the right to cancel their policies at any given time
during the policy duration. there is a risk of financial loss and future
profitability due to the lapse experience being higher than expected.
lapse risk is managed by ensuring:
• appropriate product design and pricing;
• providing high quality service; and
• Continuous experience monitoring.
Modelling and data risk
Modelling risk is the risk that discounted cash flow models used to
calculate actuarial liabilities and valuations do not accurately project the
policy cash flows into the future. Data risk is the risk that the data which
is used by the above models is inaccurate relative to actual experience.

• Underwriting
underwriting ensures that only insurable risks are accepted and that
premiums accurately reflect the unique circumstances of each risk.
Quality audits are performed on the underwriting process to ensure
underwriting rules are strictly followed.

Modelling risk is mitigated by way of employing specialist actuarial
software which is widely used by industry participants. the services
of the statutory actuary are also employed to ensure models are
accurately set up.

• Reinsurance
outsurance life’s quota share reinsurance programme mitigates
claims volatility and risk accumulation. reinsurers also assist with
pricing and product design decisions.

Data risk is managed by using internal systems and warehouse
technology which is used by all companies within the Firstrand StI
Holdings Group. Data reports are readily available and frequently used
by management to track performance and verify experience variables.

• Experience monitoring
experience investigations are conducted and corrective action is
taken where adverse experience is noted.
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Management of financial risk
The Group is exposed to various financial risks in connection with its current operating activities, such as market risk, currency risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and capital adequacy risk. These risks contribute to the key financial risk that the proceeds from the Group’s financial assets might not
be sufficient to fund the obligations arising from insurance and investment policy contracts.
To manage these risks the subsidiary and associate boards established sub-committees to which it has delegated some of its responsibilities in
meeting its corporate governance and fiduciary duties. The sub-committees include an audit committee, a compliance committee, an investment
committee, an actuarial committee and a remuneration committee. Each committee adopted a charter, which sets out the objectives, authority,
composition and responsibilities of the committee. The boards approved the charters of these committees.
Additional information on the management of financial risks is provided below.

Market risk
The risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises
three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency may fluctuate due
to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the currency in which such instrument is denominated.
The Group’s exposure to currency risk is mainly in respect of foreign investments made. The Group had invested in foreign subsidiaries operating in
Ireland, Mauritius and Australia and in a financial services emerging market portfolio.
The board monitors these exposures on a quarterly basis. Any significant changes in the foreign currency balances are followed up throughout the
year and are reported to the board.
The table below lists the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk:

Rand

Australian
Dollar

Namibian
Dollar

United
States
Dollar

Euro

Total

Equity securities – at fair value through
profit or loss
Other assets

–
27 275,8

–
198,0

–
23,6

860,5
111,1

–
2,2

860,5
27 610,7

Total assets

27 275,8

198,0

23,6

971,6

2,2

28 471,2

6 624,5

79,3

17,5

9,0

–

6 730,3

6,230
6,510

1,000
1,000

7,728
8,881

10,885
12,114

Rand

Australian
Dollar

Namibian
Dollar

United
States
Dollar

Euro

Total

Equity securities – at fair value through
profit or loss
Other assets

–
26 972,0

–
21,8

–
21,3

1 342,1
27,9

–
0,1

1 342,1
27 043,1

Total assets

26 972,0

21,8

21,3

1 370,0

0,1

28 385,2

7 020,3

0,6

5,9

8,0

–

7 034,8

7,520
6,600

1,000
1,000

7,827
7,288

12,335
10,752

As at 30 June 2009 – Rmillion

Total liabilities
Exchange rates:
Closing rate at 30 June
Average rate for the year

As at 30 June 2008 – Rmillion

Total liabilities
Exchange rates:
Closing rate at 30 June
Average rate for the year
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Management of financial risk continued
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is when the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
the Group makes use of asset managers and internal resources to invest in securities exposed to interest rate risk. the securities managed by
asset managers are contractually agreed with specific risk levels. the internally managed money market investments are managed in line with the
mandate approved by the investment committee. the investment committee monitors the performance of all the investments and reports to the
board on a quarterly basis.
the Group’s financial instruments, other than policyholders’ assets, are exposed to interest rate risk. a change in interest rates would have an
impact on the profit before tax of the Group as set out below. policyholders’ assets are exposed to interest rate risk and the capital loss on fixed rate
instruments would be for the policyholders’ account as the liability is calculated with reference to the value of the assets.
the table below reflects the shareholders’ exposure to interest rate risk. an increase or decrease in the market interest rate would result in the
following changes in the profit before tax of the Group:
200bps
Increase
2009
Rmillion

at 30 June

200bps
Decrease
2009
Rmillion

200bps
Increase
2008
rmillion

200bps
Decrease
2008
rmillion

Financial assets
unlisted preference shares
Collective investment scheme
loans and receivables
Short-term loan
Cash and cash equivalents

7,2
–

(7,2)
–

7,8
0,7

(7,8)
(0,7)

0,4
39,7

(0,4)
(39,7)

–
41,2

–
(41,2)

Financial liabilities
preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Short-term portion of financial liabilities

(8,8)
(9,1)
(0,1)

8,8
9,1
0,1

(8,3)
(10,5)
(0,1)

8,3
10,5
0,1

the table below lists the policyholders’ funds exposure to interest rate risk. an increase or decrease in interest rates of 200bps could result in the
following changes in the fair value of interest rate instruments.

at 30 June

Reported
fair value
2009
Rmillion

200bps
Increase
2009
Rmillion

200bps
Decrease
2009
Rmillion

reported
fair value
2008
rmillion

200bps
Increase
2008
rmillion

200bps
Decrease
2008
rmillion

76,4

77,9

74,8

72,5

74,0

71,1

480,7
611,9

490,3
624,2

471,1
600,0

642,6
317,5

655,5
323,9

629,8
311,2

Financial assets
unlisted preference shares
listed preference shares
Fixed rate
Variable rate

other price risk
equity risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments
traded in the market.
equity securities are mandated to stockbrokers and asset managers. asset managers’ mandates include benchmarks by which performance is
measured based on fee structures. the investment committee monitors the performance for each asset manager against benchmarks and reports
to the board on a quarterly basis.
all equities are split between listed and unlisted securities. listed equities which relate to linked policies do not require a sensitivity analysis as the
liability is not guaranteed and will be determined solely with reference to the value of the assets. these assets do not expose the Group to any
price risks.
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The table below reflect the shareholders’ exposure to equity price risk. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the equity prices would result
in the following changes in the profit before tax of the Group:
10%
Increase
2009
Rmillion

At 30 June
Financial assets
 Listed preference shares
Collective investment scheme
 Listed equity shares

10%
Decrease
2009
Rmillion

32,1
121,3
92,7

(32,1)
(121,3)
(92,7)

10%
Increase
2008
Rmillion

10%
Decrease
2008
Rmillion

25,3
90,3
134,2

(25,3)
(90,3)
(134,2)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.
The key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are:
• Unlisted preference shares with put options to the large banks;
• Debt securities;
• Loans and receivables; and
• Cash and cash equivalents.
Significant concentrations of credit risk, if applicable, are disclosed in the financial statements. The credit exposure to any one counterparty is
managed by the board in accordance with the requirements of the Short-term Insurance Act of 1998 and Long-term Insurance Act of 1998 and
by setting transaction/exposure limits, which are reviewed at each board and audit committee meeting. The credit worthiness of existing and
potential clients is monitored quarterly at the board meeting and bi-annually by the Actuarial Committee and Investment Committee. The table
below provides information on the credit risk exposure by credit ratings at the year end of the Group: (if available):
At 30 June 2009 – Rmillion
Equity securities – preference shares
– available for sale – unlisted
– available for sale – listed
Collective investment scheme
Debt securities
– available for sale – unlisted
– held to maturity
– at fair value through profit or loss
  – fixed rate
  – variable rate
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

AAA

AA

A

F1

BBB+

Not rated

Total

–
66,5
328,1

–
254,5
884,5

33,3
–
–

–
–
–

95,0
–
–

25,9
–
–

154,2
321,0
1 212,6

–
–

360,4
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
76,4

360,4
76,4

7,0
2,0
0,8
245,9

–
–
–
498,9

229,1
584,2
4,6
721,5

2,0
32,5
262,8
212,9

480,7
611,9
268,4
1 986,3

289,0

498,9

1 634,4

612,5

5 471,9

105,6
(3,3)
–
148,0
644,9

137,0
(3,5)
0,2
159,1
1 792,2
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Management of financial risk continued
Credit risk continued
At 30 June 2008 – Rmillion
equity securities – preference shares
– available for sale – unlisted
– available for sale – listed
Collective investment scheme
Debt securities
– available for sale – unlisted
– held to maturity
– at fair value through profit or loss
– fixed rate
– variable rate
loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

aaa

aa

a

F1

BBB+

not rated

total

–
–
–

–
253,2
902,9

98,3
–
–

–
–
33,9

30,0
–
–

30,3
–
–

158,6
253,2
936,8

–
–

390,0
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
72,5

390,0
72,5

602,9
274,0
–
260,6

28,8
13,5
54,3
816,7

7,6
3,2
3,3
346,5

–
–
–
120,4

–
25,0
0,7
513,4

3,4
1,7
205,4
–

642,7
317,4
263,7
2 057,6

1 137,5

2 459,4

458,9

154,3

569,10

313,3

5 092,5

the ratings were obtained from Fitch. the ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings are not available, the
financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. the ratings are defined as follows:
Long-term investment grade:
aaa the financial instrument is judged to be of the highest credit quality, with minimal credit risk and indicates the best quality issuers that are
reliable and stable.
aa

the financial instrument is judged to be of high quality and is subject to a very low credit risk and indicates quality issuers.

a

the financial instrument is considered upper-medium grade and is subject to low credit risk although certain economic situations can more
readily affect the issuers’ financial soundness than those rated aaa or aa.

BBB+ the financial instrument is subject to moderate credit risk and indicates medium class issuers, which are currently satisfactory.
Short-term ratings:
F1
Highest credit quality. Indicates the strongest capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.
not rated
the credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain assets do not have a formal rating.

Fair value
the carrying amounts of the following categories of financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value:
• amounts receivable from policyholders;
• other amounts receivable;
• Cash and cash equivalents;
• Financial assets – debt securities held to maturity;
• unlisted preference shares investments;
• trade and other payables; and
• provisions.
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Liquidity risk and asset liability matching
The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from claims arising. Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty
in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Group’s liabilities are matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid
resources to cover its obligations. The Group’s liquidity and ability to meet such calls are monitored quarterly at the board meeting and bi-annually
by the investment committee.

As at 30 June 2009 – Rmillion
Liabilities
Insurance contracts
Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
 Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Contingency reserves
Investment contracts:
– at fair value through income
Deferred acquisition reserve
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Deferred taxation liabilities
Taxation
Short-term portion of financial liabilities

As at 30 June 2008 – Rmillion
Liabilities
Insurance contracts
Financial liabilities
Convertible debentures
 Preference shares
Interest bearing loans
Contingency reserves
Investment contracts:
– at fair value through income
Deferred acquisition reserve
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Deferred taxation liabilities
Taxation
Short-term portion of financial liabilities

Total

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

1–5
years

>5 years

No
liquidity
risk

3 704,4

962,1

213,5

434,2

100,8

1 993,8

15,0
1 679,1
453,0
7,3

–
37,7
401,0
–

–
37,7
–
–

–
1 603,7
52,0
–

15,0
–
–
–

–
–
–
7,3

810,0
8,6
19,7
308,5
20,6
24,4
6,6

–
–
19,7
308,5
–
24,4
3,0

–
–
–
–
–
–
3,6

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

810,0
8,6
–
–
20,6
–
–

7 057,2

1 756,4

254,8

2 089,9

115,8

2 840,3

Total

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

1–5
years

>5 years

No
liquidity
risk

3 937,5

344,7

119,9

348,9

(1,4)

3 125,4

15,0
1 800,7
527,5
9,1

–
39,7
379,7
–

–
39,7
–
–

–
1 721,3
36,1
–

15,0
–
111,7
–

–
–
–
9,1

781,0
13,9
21,3
308,7
65,2
26,8
5,3

–
–
21,3
308,7
–
26,8
5,3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

781,0
13,9
–
–
65,2
–
–

7 512,0

1 126,2

159,6

2 106,3

125,3

3 994,6

62

RMBH annual report 2009

Management of financial risk continued
Capital management
Capital adequacy risk is the risk that there are insufficient reserves to provide for variations in actual future experience that is worse than what has
been assumed in the financial soundness valuation. the Group must maintain a capital balance that will be at least sufficient to meet obligations in
the event of substantial deviations from the main risk assumptions affecting the Group’s business. this is used to determine required capital levels
that will ensure sustained solvency within an acceptable confidence level.
the Group’s objectives when managing capital are:
– to comply with the insurance capital requirements required by the regulators of the insurance markets where the Group operates;
– to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders; and
– to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance commensurately with the level of risk.
In each country in which the Group operates, the local insurance regulator specifies the minimum amount and type of capital that must be held by
each of the subsidiaries in addition to their insurance liabilities. the minimum required capital must be maintained at all times throughout the year.
the Group is subject to insurance solvency regulations in all the territories in which it issues insurance and investment contracts, and where it has
complied with all the local solvency regulations.
Management regards share capital, share premium, retained earnings, contingency reserve, preference shares and borrowings as capital when
managing capital. During the year the Group’s strategy remained unchanged from 2008.
the table below summarises the minimum required capital across the Group and the regulatory capital against each of them. these
figures are an aggregate number, being the sum of the statutory capital and surplus for each insurance subsidiary in each country subject
to local regulatory requirements, which may differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

RMBSI’s insurance operations:

RMB Structured Insurance Limited
RMB Specialised Lines Limited
RMB Financial Services Limited
RMB Structured Insurance Limited PCC
RMB Structured Life Limited

Jurisdiction

Statutory Solvency requirement

South africa
South africa
Ireland
Mauritius
South africa

Minimum 15% of additional assets
Minimum 15% of additional assets
100%
Minimum 15% of prior year’s premium
100%

Actual
Solvency
2009
347%
179%
179%
91%
484%

actual
Solvency
2008
151%
171%
102%
39%
436%

ouTsurance’s insurance operations:

ouTsurance Insurance Company Limited
Momentum Short Term Insurance
Company Limited
ouTsurance Insurance Company of
namibia Limited (Associate)
Youi (Proprietary) Limited
ouTsurance Life Insurance
Company Limited

Actual
Solvency
2009

actual
Solvency
2008

Jurisdiction

Statutory Solvency requirement

South africa

Minimum 25% of net earned premiums

37%

38%

South africa

Minimum 25% of net earned premiums

51%

52%

namibia
australia

Minimum 25% of net earned premiums
a$5 million

34%
A$18,2 million

70%
a$15,9 million

South africa

r10 million

R31 million

–
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Land and
buildings
Rmillion

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment
Rmillion

Motor
vehicles
Rmillion

Total
Rmillion

At 1 July 2007:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

72,0
(6,1)

137,8
(101,5)

2,3
(0,7)

212,1
(108,3)

Net book amount

65,9

36,3

1,6

103,8

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Foreign currency translation reserve
Depreciation charge (note 27)

65,9
–
–
–
(1,8)

36,3
36,0
(0,2)
(0,4)
(24,7)

1,6
1,8
(0,3)
–
(0,8)

103,8
37,8
(0,5)
(0,4)
(27,3)

Closing net book amount

64,1

47,0

2,3

113,4

At 30 June 2008:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

72,0
(7,9)

172,4
(125,4)

3,2
(0,9)

247,6
(134,2)

Net book amount

64,1

47,0

2,3

113,4

Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Foreign currency translation reserve
Depreciation charge (note 27)

64,1
2,0
–
–
(1,8)

47,0
67,9
–
(1,9)
(33,3)

2,3
1,5
(0,9)
–
(0,7)

113,4
71,4
(0,9)
(1,9)
(35,8)

Closing net book amount

64,3

79,7

2,2

146,2

At 30 June 2009:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

74,0
(9,7)

237,2
(157,5)

3,2
(1,0)

314,4
(168,2)

Net book amount

64,3

79,7

2,2

146,2

Group

1. Property and equipment

Land and buildings is comprised of Erf 1478, 1479, Zwartkop Ext 7, Centurion. The finance lease liability is detailed in note 13.
Motor vehicles with a book value of R2,2 million (2008: R2,3 million) are held under hire purchase agreements as indicated under note 13.
Depreciation expense of R35,8 million (2008: R27,3 million) has been charged in marketing and administration expenses.
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Group

Goodwill
rmillion

Intellectual
property
bonuses
rmillion

restraint
of trade
asset
rmillion

total
rmillion

2. Intangible assets
At 1 July 2007:
Cost

19,7

–

20,5

40,2

accumulated amortisation

(16,4)

–

(16,4)

(32,8)

net book amount

3,3

–

4,1

7,4

Year ended 30 June 2008
opening net book amount
additions
amortisation charge (note 27)

3,3
–
–

–
23,1
(5,9)

4,1
–
(4,1)

7,4
23,1
(10,0)

Closing net book amount

3,3

17,2

–

20,5

19,7
(16,4)

23,1
(5,9)

20,5
(20,5)

63,3
(42,8)

net book amount

3,3

17,2

–

20,5

Year ended 30 June 2009
opening net book amount
additions
Settlement
amortisation charge (note 27)

3,3
–
–
–

17,2
12,3
(0,2)
(14,0)

–
–
–
–

20,5
12,3
(0,2)
(14,0)

Closing net book amount

3,3

15,3

–

18,6

19,7
(16,4)

35,2
(19,9)

–
–

54,9
(36,3)

3,3

15,3

–

18,6

At 30 June 2008:
Cost
accumulated amortisation

At 30 June 2009:
Cost
accumulated amortisation
net book amount

amortisation of r14,0 million (2008: r10,0 million) has been included in marketing and administration expenses.
Goodwill is derived from investments in subsidiaries. Goodwill is tested annually for any possible impairment. During the year under review no
impairment of goodwill was identified.
the intangible asset – restraint of trade asset was in respect of the purchase of the intellectual property by outsurance, as well as the
conclusion of certain restraint of trade agreements with key personnel of the Group. the effective date of conclusion was 1 april 2008.
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Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

Shares at cost

8 949,2

9 021,0

 Net asset value at acquisition
Goodwill created

3 806,8
5 142,4

3 807,5
5 213,5

(1 075,8)
–
(182,6)
(56,5)
(1 151,8)

(1 114,9)
(14,2)
(182,6)
(64,7)
(1 124,5)

12 420,8
1 090,6
(15,6)
(19,1)
(76,1)
216,9

10 145,0
2 275,8
–
(18,5)
501,5
155,0

20 100,0

19 578,9

19 578,9
1 090,6
(577,6)
61,9

15 192,9
2 275,8
551,5
62,0

(0,6)
(15,6)
(27,3)
8,2
–
–
(18,5)

–
–
(48,3)
117,0
1 429,4
(1,4)
–

3. Investment in associates

Amortisation of goodwill
Impairment loss
Investment in fund consolidated
Treasury shares
Change in carrying value due to change in effective holding
Share of post-acquisition increase in reserves of associate companies
at the beginning of the year
Share of retained income for the year
Share of retained income of associate sold transferred to retained income
Decrease in carrying value of investment due to issuing of shares at a price lower than net asset value
Share of associates’ non-distributable reserves
Dividend declared by subsidiary to associate

Analysis of the movement in the carrying value of associates:
Opening carrying value
Share of retained income for the year
Share of associates’ non-distributable reserves
Dividend declared by subsidiary to associate
Change in carrying value of investment due to issuing of shares at a
price lower than net asset value – on sale of associate
Share of retained income of associate sold transferred to retained income
Change in carrying value due to change in effective holding
Treasury shares
Associates acquired
Impairment of associate
Sale of associate
Closing carrying value

20 100,0

19 578,9

Carrying value is comprised of:
FirstRand
Discovery
Glenrand M.I.B
OUTsurance Insurance Company of Namibia

17 224,0
2 869,9
–
6,1

16 869,7
2 667,4
35,9
5,9

20 100,0

19 578,9

27 655,1
68,0

25 789,9
52,0

Analysis of income:
Per audited annual financial statements

2 386,9

3 786,6

Retained income for the year
Dividends received for the year

1 090,6
1 296,3

2 275,8
1 510,8

2 386,9

3 786,6

Market values and directors’ valuation:
Listed
Unlisted
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3. Investment in associates continued
the impairment loss related to Glenrand M.I.B as the fair value of the investment was lower than the carrying value.
the Group’s interests in its associates are as follows:
name of company
Firstrand
Discovery Holdings
outsurance Insurance Company of namibia

number of shares
1 694 843 615
148 048 168
49

% of equity
32,5*
26,7*
49,0

the investment in Glenrand M.I.B was sold on 31 December 2008.
* After consolidation of share trust.

Further details of significant associates are disclosed in note 36.

4. Financial assets – equity and debt securities
the Group’s financial assets are summarised by measurement category in the table below.

Held to maturity
available-for-sale
Fair value through profit or loss

GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

76,4
901,8
4 586,4

72,5
801,8
5 078,4

5 564,6

5 952,7

76,4

72,5

76,4

72,5

66,2
154,2
321,0

–
158,5
253,3

541,4

411,8

360,4

390,0

901,8

801,8

the current portion of the financial assets is r3 509,6 million (2008: r5 499,9 million).
the assets included in each of the categories above are detailed in the tables below:
Held to maturity financial assets
Debt securities – interest bearing instruments

Financial assets held to maturity are carried on the Group’s balance sheet at amortised cost.
at the year-end, interest bearing instruments included an inflation-linked annuity issued by the
South african national road Fund for the building of the n3 toll road.
the cash flow stream pays quarterly CpI (metropolitan and other urban areas) adjusted annuities
in February, May, august and november of each year up to november 2024. the inflation-linked
cash flow stream is carried at cost plus interest amortised at the real effective yield of 8,05% per
annum and is adjusted for changes in the CpI (metropolitan and other urban areas). the carrying
amount is reduced by the cash flows received. the held to maturity value approximates fair value
due to the adjustment for change in the CpI.
Available-for-sale financial assets
equity securities
– listed shares
– unlisted preference shares
– listed preference shares

Debt securities
– unlisted preference shares

unlisted preference share investments are made in special purpose vehicles administered by large South african banks. to mitigate credit risk,
the unlisted preference share investments are secured by put options to those banks. the purpose of the investments is to match the Group’s
contracted obligations to pay dividends on the variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares in issue (see note 12).
the investments are held to redemption and are carried at fair value. Carrying value is original cost plus accrued dividends, which equals fair value.
the preference shares are redeemable at any time with the notice period ranging from thirty days to three years. accrued dividends are disclosed
in loans and receivables (see note 5). Dividend yields range from 58% to 63% of the prime overdraft rate of larger South african banks.
listed preference shares are carried at fair value as determined by current quoted market bid prices.
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Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

1 418,7
860,5

1 839,4
1 342,1

2 279,2

3 181,5

2,0
1 212,6

–
936,8

611,9
480,7

317,5
642,6

4 586,4

5 078,4

4. Financial assets – equity and debt securities continued
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Equity securities – listed
Designated upon initial recognition
– domestic
– foreign

Equity securities – unlisted
Designated upon initial recognition
– domestic
Collective investment scheme
Debt securities – listed
Designated upon initial recognition
– variable rate
– fixed rate

Listed equity securities are ordinary listed shares traded in organised financial markets. The carrying amount represents the quoted bid prices on
these markets at the close of business on the last day of the financial year.
Debt securities represent South African Government issued interest securities and other interest securities listed on the Bond Exchange of South
Africa (“BESA”). The carrying amount represents the quoted bid prices at the close of business on the last business day of the financial year.
The collective investment scheme assets are held at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of these instruments is determined by the
quoted repurchase price.
Equity and debt securities classified at fair value through profit or loss are designated in this category upon initial recognition.
The following is a reconciliation of movements in financial assets balances:
Held to
maturity
Rmillion

Availablefor-sale
Rmillion

Fair value
through
profit or loss
Rmillion

Total
Rmillion

At 1 July 2007
Additions
Interest accrued at effective yield
Disposals
Redemptions
Fair value net (loss)/gain
 Recognised in income statement
 Recognised in equity

67,2
–
12,7
–
(7,4)

793,7
140,0
–
(103,6)
–

4 530,1
4 527,2
–
(4 210,4)
–

5 391,0
4 667,2
12,7
(4 314,0)
(7,4)

–
–

–
(28,3)

231,5
–

231,5
(28,3)

At 30 June 2008
Additions
Interest accrued at effective yield
Disposals
Redemptions
Fair value net (loss)/gain
 Recognised in income statement
 Recognised in equity

72,5
–
12,1
–
(8,2)
–
–

–
15,4

At 30 June 2009

76,4

901,8

group

801,8
128,9
–
(44,3)
–

5 078,4
2 629,4
–
(2 446,7)
–

5 952,7
2 758,3
12,1
(2 491,0)
(8,2)

(674,7)
–

(674,7)
15,4

4 586,4

5 564,6
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

152,7
16,2
16,3

108,9
19,9
57,2

15,0
19,2
5,5
43,5

11,8
–
12,3
53,6

268,4

263,7

384,7
264,8
1 241,6
942,9
583,3

321,9
351,3
1 115,7
1 419,8
458,2

0,1
287,0

–
270,6

3 704,4

3 937,5

5. Financial assets – loans and receivables including insurance receivables
receivables arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts:
– Due from policyholders
– Due from intermediaries
– Due from reinsurers
other receivables:
– accrued investment income
– secured short-term interest bearing loan
– income tax receivable
– other receivables

loans and receivables are considered current assets.
the short-term interest bearing loan is repayable by 31 December 2009 and bears interest at the
prime interest rate. the loan is secured by listed equities at 2,5 times cover.

6. Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts
Gross insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
– unearned premiums
– unexpired risk provision
– insurance contracts cash bonuses
long-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
Gross insurance liabilities
Recoverable from reinsurers
Short-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
– unearned premiums
Recoverable from reinsurers
net insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
– unearned premiums
– unexpired risk provision
– insurance contracts cash bonuses
long-term insurance contracts
– claims reported
– claims incurred but not reported
net insurance liabilities

(36,5)
(30,9)
(44,4)

(27,5)
(7,6)
(46,4)

(111,8)

(81,5)

348,2
233,9
1 197,2
942,9
583,3

294,4
343,7
1 069,3
1 419,8
458,2

0,1
287,0

–
270,6

3 592,6

3 856,0
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Gross
Rmillion

Re-insurance
Rmillion

Net
Rmillion

554,9
2 754,5
(25,0)
(2 795,5)
(168,4)
1,4

(9,4)
(178,7)
2,4
142,9
15,3
–

545,5
2 575,8
(22,6)
(2 652,6)
(153,1)
1,4

321,9
2 682,6
(59,7)
(2 384,9)
(175,2)
(0,1)
0,2

(27,5)
(194,7)
1,6
162,5
21,5
0,1
–

294,4
2 487,9
(58,1)
(2 222,4)
(153,7)
–
0,2

6. Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts continued
6.1 Analysis of movement in net claims reported provision
At 1 July 2007
Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year claims estimates
Current year claims paid
Previous year claims paid
Cell captive outstanding claims adjustment
At 30 June 2008
Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year claims estimates
Current year claims paid
Previous year claims paid
Foreign exchange difference
Cell captive outstanding claims adjustment
At 30 June 2009

384,8

(36,5)

348,3

459,7
268,6
(105,3)
(1,1)

(5,9)
(2,3)
–
0,6

453,8
266,3
(105,3)
(0,5)

At 30 June 2008
Current year claims incurred
Change in previous year estimates
Previous year claims paid

621,9
(60,5)
78,5
(88,1)

(7,6)
(25,0)
–
1,7

614,3
(85,5)
78,5
(86,4)

At 30 June 2009

551,8

(30,9)

520,9

1 126,2
(29,8)
19,3

(40,4)
(6,0)
–

1 085,8
(35,8)
19,3

At 30 June 2008
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Foreign exchange difference

1 115,7
130,8
(4,9)

(46,4)
(1,8)
3,8

1 069,3
129,0
(1,1)

At 30 June 2009

1 241,6

(44,4)

1 197,2

6.2 Analysis of movement in net claims incurred but not reported provision
At 1 July 2007
Current year claims incurred
Current year claims paid
Previous year claims paid

6.3 Analysis of movement in unearned premium provision
At 1 July 2007
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Unearned commission
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

6. Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts continued
6.4 Analysis of change in unexpired risk provision
opening balance
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Closing balance
6.5 Analysis of movement in insurance contracts cash bonuses
opening balance
Cash bonuses paid during the year
Charge to profit and loss for the year
Closing balance

1 419,8
(476,9)

1 248,4
171,4

942,9

1 419,8

458,2
(151,5)
276,6

344,9
(135,3)
248,6

583,3

458,2

6.6 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies:
the Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. estimates
and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Short-term insurance
Discounted liabilities
the key assumptions used in the calculation of the discounted insurance liabilities are based on the recent experience of the Group’s
business. the intention is to establish best estimates of the Group’s future experience for each element of the actuarial basis.
the most significant assumptions and uncertainties affecting the discounted liabilities are:
• Economic assumptions
the “BeaSSa Zero-Coupon Bonds perfect Fit” yield curve (nominal annual Compounded annually) has been used to discount cashflows.
Undiscounted liabilities
the most significant assumptions and uncertainties affecting the undiscounted liabilities are:
• Unearned premiums provision
the assumption regarding the uniform emergence of risk over the policy term. Where relevant, the upp calculation basis has been adjusted to
take account of the actual outstanding risk as well as the pattern of risk expected in future periods.
• Outstanding claims provision
the estimation of the liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the Group’s most critical accounting estimate. Several
sources of uncertainty have to be considered in estimating the liability that the Group will ultimately be exposed to for such claims. the risk
environment can change quickly and unexpectedly owing to a wide range of events or influences. the Group is constantly refining the tools
with which it monitors and manages risks to place the Group in a position to assess risk situations appropriately, despite the greatly increased
pace of change. the growing complexity and dynamism of the environment in which we operate means that there are natural limits. there
cannot and never will be absolute security when it comes to identifying risks at an early stage and measuring them sufficiently.
• Claims incurred but not reported
the provision for claims incurred but not reported is estimated based on:
– claims notification period on the policies;
– nature and size of the insurance coverage;
– historic experience on the business;
– the potential termination of the transaction;
– actual reported claims;
– net premiums written;
– future claims inflation; and
– run-off period of incurred claims.
Provision for cash bonuses
the provision for cash bonuses is determined by taking into account the past experience and the underlying structure of the cash bonus
benefit, with the implicit assumption that the future experience will be similar. Management take cognisance of trends that are inherent in the
pool of risks that are eligible for this benefit in order to ensure that the reserving rate is sufficient to cover future payments made.
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6.	Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts continued
6.6	Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies: continued
Long-term insurance
Discounted liabilities
The key assumptions used in the calculation of the discounted insurance liabilities are based on the recent experience investigations of the
Group’s business. Every year each assumption is reviewed based on the results of the most recent experience investigations. The intention is to
arrive at a best estimate of the Group’s experience. In addition, compulsory margins are added to allow for risk and uncertainty based on the
relevant local Actuarial Guidance Note (PGN104). As at 30 June 2009, the compulsory margins were as follows:
Assumption
Investment return

Margin
0,25% increase/decrease*

Mortality

7,5% increase

Disability

10% increase

Retrenchment

10% increase

Expenses

10% increase

Expense inflation

10% increase

Lapses (where relevant)

25% increase/decrease*

Surrenders (where relevant)

10% increase/decrease*

* Depending on which change increases the liability.

No discretionary margins were added. Where data is not credible, more prudent assumptions are used based on industry data, where available.
The results of the experience investigations are briefly described below:
• Demographic assumptions
For the previous year’s valuation, broad investigations were done on accidental and natural death, accidental and natural total and permanent
disability, temporary disability and retrenchment experience. Since the experience investigations only refers to the credit life business which is
in run-off and the valuation assumptions have proved to be conservative, the previous year’s assumptions were deemed to be sufficient for
the purposes of this valuation.
• Economic assumptions
– Investment return
 The investment return assumption for all classes of business was determined as:
~ The expected return on the underlying assets backing the liabilities of the Group; less
~ An allowance for investment expenses; less
~ An allowance for credit risk; less
~ A compulsory margin (prescribed as being 0,25%).
Cash and money market investments are used to back the insurance liabilities. Based on the cash assets and the above assumptions, an
investment return of 7,25% p.a. (before compulsory margins) was assumed for the insurance contract business.
• Inflation
The current assumed level of future expense inflation is 4,75% p.a. This level of inflation is within the Reserve Bank’s long-term inflation target of
between 3% p.a. and 6% p.a. but supported by the assumption that life companies typically suffer expense increases slightly above general inflation.
• Taxation
Future taxation and taxation relief are allowed for at the rates and on the bases applicable to Section 29A of the Income Tax Act at the balance
sheet date. The Group’s current tax position is taken into account, and the taxation rates, consistent with that position and the likely future
changes in that position, are allowed for.
• Undiscounted liabilities
The IBNR reserves for the Credit Life Business as at 30 June 2009 is determined by applying a multiple to the monthly claims. The multiple as
at 30 June 2009, including a compulsory margin of 20%, was 1.67.
For the Group Credit Life business, the IBNR  reserve as at 30 June 2009 is determined by using a loss ratio method. The loss ratio as at
30 June 2009 including a compulsory margin of 10% was 11%.
Effect of changes in assumptions
The following changes were made to the actuarial valuation basis when compared to last year’s basis:
– The valuation interest rate has been decreased from 12% to 7,5% per annum;
– The expense assumption has been increased from R3,35 to R6,60 per policy;
– The expense inflation assumption has been decreased from 9% to 4,75% per annum; and
– A correction to the reinsurance arrangement for the Group Credit Life business lead to an increase in the net reserve.
The financial impact of the above changes in the valuation basis was an increase in net reserves of R14,5 million and an increase in gross
reserves of R16,6 million.
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6. Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts continued
6.6 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies continued
Changes in insurance liabilities
Discounted liabilities
the following table shows the build-up of the discounted insurance liabilities over the year:
rmillion
at 30 June 2008
expected investment return on insurance liabilities
expected claims, expiries and lapses
expected expenses, commissions and charges
experience variations
Changes in valuation assumptions
new business added during the year

256,4
28,1
(75,5)
(3,1)
(7,6)
16,3
60,1

At 30 June 2009

274,7

Undiscounted liabilities
the following table shows the build-up of the undiscounted insurance liabilities over the year:
rmillion
at 30 June 2008
Withdrawals during the year
Changes in valuation assumptions
new business added during the year

14,2
(10,8)
0,3
8,7

At 30 June 2009

12,4

Sensitivity analysis
the sensitivity of the long-term insurance liabilities to the main assumptions was tested by calculating the effect of certain assumptions not
being met. the following sensitivities were tested:
–
–
–
–

Increasing renewal expenses by 10%;
Increasing inflation rate by 1% (absolute change in rate);
reducing the valuation interest rate by 1% (absolute change in rate); and
Increasing claims experience by 10%.

the sensitivity deviation assumptions are as per standard actuarial practice.
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6. Insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts continued
6.6 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies continued
The results of the sensitivity analysis on the long-term insurance net actuarial liabilities as at 30 June 2009 can be summarised as follows:

Main basis
Expenses + 10%
Risk experience + 10%
Investment return – 1%
Inflation + 1%

Net
actuarial
liability
Rmillion

Percentage
change
relative to
main basis

287,1
287,3
288,1
290,6
287,1

–
0,07%
0,35%
1,22%
0,00%

The above figures combine discounted and undiscounted liabilities. The latter are not sensitive to the assumptions as they are valued
retrospectively.
Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority. The amounts are as follows:
Deferred taxation assets
 Provisions
Secondary tax on companies
 Unrealised investment gains and losses
 Tax loss
 Operating lease charge
Service cost of employee benefits

173,1
2,6
2,3
47,3
0,5
0,7

136,9
4,1
1,1
53,5
–
–

Total deferred taxation assets

226,5

195,6

Deferred taxation liabilities
 Unrealised investment gains and losses
 Prepayments
Fair value adjustment on financial assets
Finance lease of building
Imputation of controlled foreign company

–
(0,2)
–
(1,3)
(19,1)

(45,1)
–
(0,4)
(0,6)
(19,1)

Total deferred taxation liabilities

(20,6)

(65,2)

7. Deferred taxation
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

Reconciliation of movement
Deferred taxation asset at the beginning of the year
effect of change in statutory tax rate for companies
Deferred tax credit for the year (see note 29)

195,6
–
30,9

145,8
(4,3)
54,1

Deferred taxation asset at the end of the year

226,5

195,6

Deferred taxation liability at the beginning of the year
effect of change in statutory tax rate for companies
Deferred tax credit for the year (see note 29)

(65,2)
–
44,6

(72,7)
1,7
5,8

Deferred taxation liability at the end of the year

(20,6)

(65,2)

406,4
723,9
757,0
99,0

465,4
942,0
637,4
12,8

1 986,3

2 057,6

7. Deferred taxation continued

Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward only to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit is probable.

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term bank deposits
Money market investments
advances made under resale agreements

Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts, call deposits and short-term fixed deposits with large banks in South africa, Ireland and
Mauritius, or listed South african Government bonds acquired by the Group under resale agreements. the short-term deposits with banks are
spread among these banks to reduce the credit risk exposure.
advances made under resale agreements are collateralised by listed bond investments, which are South african Government issued
interest securities held under short duration resale agreements. at 30 June 2009, the Group held a nominal of r38,7 million r207 bonds
(2008: r14 million r206 bonds) at an effective yield of 8,9%. During the year the average yield earned on bonds under resale agreements
amounted to 10,6%.
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Number of
shares
million

Ordinary
shares
Rmillion

Share
premium
Rmillion

Treasury
shares
Rmillion

Total
Rmillion

At 1 July 2007
Issue of shares
Movement in treasury shares

1 187,8
21,3
–

11,9
0,2
–

4 593,1
722,7
–

(166,0)
–
34,6

4 439,0
722,9
34,6

At 30 June 2008
Movement in treasury shares

1 209,1
–

12,1
–

5 315,8
–

(131,4)
(5,8)

5 196,5
(5,8)

At 30 June 2009

1 209,1

12,1

5 315,8

(137,2)

5 190,7

Group

9. Share capital and premium

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 000 000 000 (2008: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per share (2008: one cent).
During the year no shares were issued (2008: 21 302 886 ordinary shares issued, with a par value of one cent per share, at a premium of R33,93
per share). 15% of the unissued share capital is under the control of the board of directors until the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2008: 100 000 000), with a par value of one cent
per share (2008: one cent). During the year nil preference shares were issued (2008: 11 800 redeemable cumulative preference shares, with a
par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share were issued on 3 January 2008). As these preference shares are redeemable they
are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (note 12). These preference shares are unlisted.
Treasury shares
The life insurance businesses of an associate and a subsidiary acquired RMBH shares as part of their investment programme aimed at meeting
policyholders’ liabilities. The investment banking business of an associate traded RMBH shares as part of its proprietary trading activities. These
shares are treated as treasury shares and any gains or losses are reversed from Group earnings.
Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

Number of shares held at 30 June

9,3

9,6

Weighted average number of shares held through the year

9,0

10,5

Rmillion

Rmillion

Cost of shares held at 30 June
Fair value adjustment

137,2
64,4

131,4
56,7

Fair value of treasury shares

201,6

188,1

The treasury shares are eliminated from the weighted average number of shares in issue for the purposes of calculating earnings and headline
earnings per share:
Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

Weighted average number of issued shares
Less: weighted average number of treasury shares

1 209,1
(9,0)

1 202,0
(10,5)

Weighted average number of shares in issue

1 200,1

1 191,5
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

2 395,5

2 563,5

13 511,4
(1 151,8)
208,4
(71,9)

12 420,8
(1 124,5)
195,0
501,4

12 496,1

11 992,7

10. Reserves
Distributable reserves
retained earnings
non-distributable reserves – equity accounted reserves
equity accounted earnings from associates
Change in carrying value of associate due to change in effective holding
treasury shares
non-distributable reserves

non-distributable reserves – other
Contingency reserve of subsidiary
retained income transferred due to dilutionary effect of shares issued by subsidiary
Currency translation reserve
available-for-sale reserve
Share based payments reserves
Capital surpluses on disposals and restructuring of strategic investments

232,1
(20,1)
7,2
(11,5)
19,0
333,4

198,8
17,9
23,9
(34,8)
14,5
333,4

560,1

553,7

15 451,7

15 109,9

15,0

15,0

Fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by Company
at beginning of year
nil (2008: 7 800) preference shares issued

780,0
–

–
780,0

at end of year

780,0

780,0

Variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by Company
at beginning of year
nil (2008: 4 000) preference shares issued
Dividends capitalised

414,8
–
26,4

–
400,0
14,8

at end of year

441,2

414,8

Total reserves

11. Convertible debentures
Convertible debentures in issue
the debentures are unsecured and subordinated and can be converted at the option of the
debenture holders to non-redeemable preference shares on 30 June or 31 December of any
year and are compulsorily convertible to non-redeemable preference shares of r1 each on
30 June 2022. the effective net cost incurred on these instruments amounts to 1,5% per annum.

12. Preference shares

the Company issued 7 800 fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, with a par
value of one cent, at a premium of r99 999,99 per share on 3 January 2008. the shares are
redeemable at the discretion of the Company at any time and compulsorily redeemable on
27 november 2012. the preference shares pay dividends, bi-annually, at a fixed rate of 8,55%
per annum.
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Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

Cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by subsidiary
At beginning of year
3 (2008: 2) preference shares issued

128,7
2,4

126,3
2,4

At end of year

131,1

128,7

15,1

15,1

116,0

113,6

12. Preference shares continued
The Company issued 4 000 variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, with
a par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share on 3 January 2008. The shares
are redeemable at the discretion of the Company at any time and compulsorily redeemable on
27 November 2012. Preference shares of R270 million accrue dividends at a rate of 63,5% of
the prime interest rate, which is capitalised. The remaining preference shares of R130 million pay
dividends, bi-annually, at a rate of 63,5% of the prime interest rate per annum.

A subsidiary has 100 000 authorised variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares of
1 cent each and has issued 2 158 (2008: 2 155) of these preference shares. During the year 3
(2008: 2) variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares were issued and nil (2008: nil)
variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares were redeemed.
The variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares are redeemable at the discretion of the
directors of the subsidiary company.
The holders of variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares have no voting rights at
any meeting of the subsidiary company, unless dividends payable on these shares are in arrears,
the redemption payment of any capital is in arrears, or if a resolution is passed which affects the
rights attached to the preference shares, or where the subsidiary company proposes to dispose of
a material portion of its assets.
The following variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares are issued to investors to
meet the short-term insurance subsidiaries’ statutory solvency requirements:
Issued to investors to meet Group’s capital requirements:
Redeemable preference shares of R10 million accrue dividends at an average rate, which varies
between 58% and 62,5% of the prime interest rate. The remaining redeemable preference
shares of R5 million accrue dividends at a fixed rate of 10%. The cost of funding is expensed to
finance costs.
Redeemable preference shares are issued to certain policyholders to meet the capital
requirements of their cells
Some redeemable preference shares accrue dividends equal to an amount of dividends received
from an investment in redeemable preference shares equal to the amount in issue, included in the
amount disclosed in available-for-sale financial assets (note 4). The Group does not incur any costs
with regard to these redeemable preference shares.
Redeemable preference shares issued to policyholders may also entitle the policyholder to
participate in the operating result of its business cell, distributed as a dividend. The dividends paid
are included in finance costs in the income statement.

78

RMBH annual report 2009

notes to the annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2009

GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

1,6
50,4
287,9
–
113,1

1,4
56,4
322,1
90,0
57,6

453,0

527,5

13. Interest bearing loans
Interest bearing loans consist of:
Hire purchase agreements on motor vehicles
Finance lease
Secured bank borrowings originated by the Group
unsecured borrowings originated by the Group
Funding raised by the Company

Hire purchase agreements on motor vehicles
a subsidiary entered into hire purchase agreements to purchase motor vehicles. the hire purchase
agreements are secured over certain of the motor vehicles with a book value of r2,2 million
(2008: r2,3 million). the borrowings are repayable in monthly instalments. the borrowings
attract interest at the bank’s prime overdraft rate less 1,25% per annum.
Hire purchase agreements on motor vehicles
less: amounts due within one year

2,3
(0,7)

2,2
(0,8)

1,6

1,4

2,2
(1,4)
1,5

1,2
(0,8)
1,8

2,3

2,2

0 – 12 months
rmillion

2 – 5 years
rmillion

Beyond
5 years
rmillion

0,7
0,2

1,6
0,2

–
–

reconciliation of borrowings – hire purchase agreements
opening balance
Borrowings repaid during the year
new borrowings raised during the year
Closing balance

at 30 June 2009
the present value of future payments are:
Capital
Interest
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13. Interest bearing loans continued
Finance lease
The finance lease is secured by land and buildings with a book value of R64,3 million (2008: R64,1 million). A subsidiary of the company
entered into a ten year lease on 1 February 2004. Another subsidiary company has an option to purchase the land and buildings at the
end of the ten year lease and as a result of this, the rental lease is treated as a finance lease in the books of the Group. The lease is payable
monthly in advance and expires on 31 January 2014. The liability represents the present value of the discounted expected future lease cash
flows at an average market value of 12,42% per annum.
Group
2009
Rmillion
Finance lease
Less: amounts due within one year

56,3
(5,9)

60,9
(4,5)

50,4

56,4

60,9
(4,6)

64,2
(3,3)

56,3

60,9

0 – 12 months
Rmillion

2 – 5 years
Rmillion

Beyond
5 years
Rmillion

5,9
6,3

50,4
14,9

–
–

Reconciliation of borrowings – finance leased building
 Opening balance
Borrowings repaid during the year
Closing balance

At 30 June 2009
The present value of future payments are:
Capital
Interest

Group
2008
Rmillion

Secured bank borrowings originated by the Group
A subsidiary company obtained a credit facility of R400 million from FirstRand Bank Limited subject to a surety from RMB Holdings Limited
of R400 million. During the year interest accrued at an average rate of 12,87% per annum. The borrowing is refinanced on a regular basis.
Group
2009
Rmillion
The closing carrying amount at 30 June 2009 is analysed as follows:
Cost
 Repayments
Interest accrued on the effective yield

Unutilised credit facilities of the subsidiary at the year-end amounted to R112,1 million
(2008: R177,9 million).
Unsecured borrowings originated by the Group
A subsidiary company obtained funding from its shareholders to fund its Australian expansion.
The loan was converted to non-redeemable, non-cumulative preference shares in the current
financial year. The balance disclosed is after elimination of Group balances.
Funding raised by the Company
The Company financed its obligations by means of a loan obtained from Rand Merchant Bank, a
division of FirstRand Bank Limited. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate linked to the
prime interest rate.

Group
2008
Rmillion

309,1
(53,3)
32,1

328,8
(14,7)
8,0

287,9

322,1
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

14. Policyholders’ interest
Reconciliation of carrying value
Balance at the beginning of the year
transfer to policyholders’ contingency provision
Cell shares written off
transfer (from)/to profit and loss
Balance at the end of the year

92,7
(1,9)
–
(79,6)

101,3
(6,4)
(319,4)
317,2

11,2

92,7

9,1
(1,9)

15,5
(6,4)

7,2

9,1

an analysis of revenue reserves is made between retained earnings attributable to shareholders
and policyholders. the policyholders’ interest represents the accumulated profit or loss after tax
and dividends attributable to policyholders.

15. Policyholders’ contingency provision
Reconciliation of carrying value
Balance at the beginning of the year
transfer from policyholders’ interest
Balance at the end of the year
a provision is made in respect of certain of the Group’s short-term insurance operations in South
africa as required by the regulatory authorities. this provision is held for policyholders and transfers
to/from this provision are reflected in the policyholders’ interest account. the contingency provision
is not distributable to shareholders.

16. Investment contracts
Reconciliation of carrying value
Balance at the beginning of the year
premium received
Fees deducted from account balances (note 21)
Fair value movement credited to profit and loss (note 25)

781,0
4,9
(1,0)
25,1

793,1
2,0
(1,1)
(13,0)

Balance at the end of the year

810,0

781,0

liability related to restraint of trade asset
present value of loan
Finance charges on unwinding of liability
payments made during the year

–
–
–

8,3
(0,3)
(8,0)

net liability at the end of the year

–

–

Investment contracts were designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss. the liabilities originated from unit-linked contracts are measured with the reference to the
respective underlying assets of these contracts. Changes in the credit risk of the entity does not
impact the measurement of the unit-linked liabilities.

17. Liability related to intangible asset

the restraint of trade agreement expired on 1 april 2008.
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Group
2008
Rmillion

18. Provisions
Staff incentive bonus
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provisions
Unutilised provisions reversed
Utilised during the year
Balance at the end of the year

21,3
35,9
(0,7)
(36,8)

22,7
30,5
(0,8)
(31,1)

19,7

21,3

134,5
11,9
18,9
53,7
81,9
7,6

118,6
9,9
19,5
58,7
96,2
5,8

308,5

308,7

395,6

844,0

All amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months.

19. Trade and other payables
Trade payables and accrued expenses
Unclaimed dividends
Redeemable preference share dividends payable
Profit participation payable
Due to reinsurers
Due to intermediaries

20. Net insurance premiums earned
Long-term insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
 Premium receivable
Change in unearned premium provision

4 800,9
(130,9)

4 460,6
29,9

Premium revenue arising from insurance contracts issued

5 065,6

5 334,5

Short-term reinsurance contracts
 Premium payable
Change in unearned premium provision

(181,7)
1,9

(166,1)
5,9

Premium revenue ceded to reinsurers on insurance contracts issued

(179,8)

(160,2)

Net insurance premiums earned

4 885,8

5 174,3

34,0
36,0
1,0
2,2
0,4

15,6
48,3
1,1
–
8,6

73,6

73,6

21. Fee income
Policy fees earned
Collection fees earned
Policy administration and asset management services on investment contracts (note 16)
Government grant received
Other fee income

Policy fees are monthly or annual fees charged for the administration of policies. Collection fees
are charged for the electronic collection of premiums and take-on fees are administration fees
charged for new clients.
Other fee income was received for administration and accounting services rendered.
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

77,8

78,7

80,1
114,1
13,1
117,5
30,1
(1,0)
4,5

81,1
85,5
12,7
135,3
10,6
2,7
(9,5)

436,2

397,1

170,0
(870,1)

277,5
(48,6)

(700,1)

228,9

(812,9)

131,6

44,2
0,5
(22,3)
(893,8)
58,5

39,5
0,6
–
(79,7)
171,2

112,8

97,3

50,2
56,3
6,3

27,3
(28,5)
98,5

22. Investment income
available-for-sale:
– dividend income
Fair value assets:
– interest received
– dividend income
Held to maturity interest income
Cash and cash equivalents interest income
loans and receivables interest income
Foreign currency translation (loss)/gain
profit/(loss) on dilution in holding

23. net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets
Fair value gains – designated upon initial recognition
Fair value losses – designated upon initial recognition

net fair value gains and losses comprise:
equity securities
Dividend income
Interest income
available-for-sale reserve released to income
unrealised mark to market
realised mark to market
Debt securities
Interest income
unrealised mark to market
realised mark to market
total net fair value gains

(700,1)

228,9
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Gross
Rmillion

Re-insurance
Rmillion

Net
Rmillion

(63,4)
(2 813,9)

–
19,5

(63,4)
(2 794,4)

233,0

19,4

252,4

(205,8)
43,5

–
1,8

(205,8)
45,3

(171,4)

–

(171,4)

(2 978,0)

40,7

(2 937,3)

(69,9)
(2 419,9)

0,2
43,6

(69,7)
(2 376,3)

(68,6)

14,6

(54,0)

(16,4)
86,5

–
23,3

(16,4)
109,8

24. Insurance benefits and claims incurred
2008
Claims paid
 Long-term insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
Change in provision for outstanding claims
Short-term insurance contracts
Change in IBNR
 Long-term insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
Change in provision for unexpired risks
Short-term insurance contracts

2009
Claims paid
 Long-term insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
Change in provision for outstanding claims
Short-term insurance contracts
Change in IBNR
 Long-term insurance contracts
Short-term insurance contracts
Change in provision for unexpired risks
Short-term insurance contracts

476,9
(2 011,4)

–

476,9

81,7

(1 929,7)

Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

25. Investment contract benefits
Investment contract benefits

(25,1)

13,0

(691,0)
0,4
(104,9)

(1 215,5)
(6,7)
(132,1)

(795,5)

(1 354,3)

 enefits from unit linked investment contracts are accrued to the account of the contract holder
B
as the fair value of the net gains arising from the underlying linked assets. All these contracts are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss (note 16).

26. Acquisition expenses
Expenses by nature:
Commission paid
Deferred acquisition cost
 Profit participation paid
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

27. Marketing and administration expenses
expenses by nature:
Depreciation
employee benefit expense
professional fees and regulatory compliance cost
Insurance
operating lease rentals
asset management services
restraint of trade amortisation
audit fees
loss on sale of property and equipment
other expenses

Depreciation
Buildings
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Motor vehicles

(35,8)
(543,7)
(17,3)
(0,6)
(17,8)
(14,5)
–
(4,7)
–
(267,4)

(27,3)
(410,2)
(5,3)
(0,6)
(4,9)
(8,2)
(4,1)
(4,0)
(0,3)
(215,6)

(901,8)

(680,5)

(1,8)
(33,3)
(0,7)

(1,8)
(24,7)
(0,8)

(35,8)

(27,3)

(488,7)
(2,3)
(38,3)
(14,0)
(0,4)

(376,2)
(0,5)
(27,2)
(5,9)
(0,4)

(543,7)

(410,2)

(4,0)
(0,1)
(0,6)

(3,7)
(0,2)
(0,1)

(4,7)

(4,0)

(13,1)
(45,1)

(11,2)
(49,8)

(58,2)

(61,0)

employee benefit expense
Salaries and incentive bonuses
Share based payment charge
retirement funding
Service cost relating to intellectual property
other employee benefit expenses

audit fees
Statutory audit – current year
Statutory audit – under provision prior year
other services

the Group’s operating lease commitments are as follows:
up to 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
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Group
2008
Rmillion

28. Finance costs
Interest expense
Interest paid on compulsory convertible debentures
Interest paid on bank borrowings
Interest paid on unsecured borrowings
Interest paid on building lease
Dividends on redeemable preference shares
 Other interest paid

(1,3)
(48,8)
–
(6,9)
(118,7)
(3,6)

(2,0)
(55,6)
(5,4)
(7,4)
(78,6)
(2,7)

(179,3)

(151,7)

(322,9)
(0,1)

(293,4)
13,2

94,0
–
–
(1,5)
–
(48,6)

43,7
(3,7)
(2,6)
8,4
(0,9)
(57,8)

29. Taxation
SA normal taxation
Current tax
Current year
 Previous year
Deferred tax
Current year
 Previous year
 Tax rate adjustment
Secondary tax on companies
Foreign currency adjustment
Secondary tax on companies – current
Mauritian Tax
Current tax
Current year
 Previous year
Deferred tax
Current year
 Previous year
Irish Tax
Current tax
Current year
 Previous year
Deferred tax
Current year
 Previous year

–
–

(1,5)
–

(17,0)
–

11,5
–

(4,7)
–

(7,0)
–

–
–
(300,8)

–
–
(290,1)
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

2 932,4

4 640,2

29. Taxation continued
the tax on the Group’s profits before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the basic tax rate of South africa as follows:
profit before taxation

Statutory tax rate
net income and expenses not subject to tax
tax rate adjustment
transfer from policyholders’ profit share
Dividends paid on preference shares
prior year adjustments
recognition of deferred tax
Income tax rate differential
Imputed net income from controlled foreign company
Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of insurance reserves
Mauritius – Category I Global Business licence tax rebate at 80% of current tax charge
Mauritius – tax credit
associate equity accounted using after tax profits
Secondary tax on companies
effective tax rate

%
28,00
(2,95)
–
–
0,65
(0,05)
(2,14)
(3,00)
(0,04)
0,50
(2,32)
–
(10,04)
1,65

%
28,00
(0,17)
0,05
(1,91)
1,16
(0,29)
(1,19)
1,24
0,09
(0,28)
1,00
(0,13)
(22,56)
1,24

10,26

6,25

30. Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing the adjusted earnings attributable to
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Headline earnings reconciliation:
earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
(profit)/loss on dilution of shareholding
profit on sale of associate company
Impairment loss
adjustments made by associates:
Visa listing
loss on sale of advances books
realised profit on sale of available-for-sale assets
loss/(profit) on sale of shares in subsidiary and associates
net asset value in excess of purchase price of subsidiaries
loss/(profit) on sale of property and equipment
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of non-current assets
Impairment of available-for-sale assets
Impairment of intangible assets
profit on disposal of investments
other
tax effect of adjustments
total minority interest in adjustments
Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

2 484,9
(4,5)
(4,2)
–

4 121,5
9,5
–
1,4

–
78,8
(15,7)
8,8
–
1,3
39,1
0,1
35,8
19,8
–
(0,1)
(3,6)
(4,2)

(344,1)
–
(75,9)
(130,8)
(7,9)
(1,3)
10,8
3,5
–
34,0
(2,9)
8,0
72,7
15,0

2 636,3

3 713,5
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Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

1 200 103 568
219,7

1 191 511 951
311,7

30. Headline earnings per share continued
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Headline earnings per share (cents): – basic
Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Dilution on earnings from associates

2 636,3
(3,9)

3 713,5
(63,9)

Diluted headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

2 632,4

3 649,6

1 200 103 568
219,3

1 191 511 951
306,3

2 484,9
1 200 103 568
207,1

4 121,5
1 191 511 951
345,9

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Headline earnings per share (cents): – diluted

31. Earnings per share
 asic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders
B
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share (cents): – basic
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Dilution on earnings from associates

2 484,9
(3,7)

4 121,5
(71,5)

Diluted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

2 481,2

4 050,0

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share (cents): – diluted

1 200 103 568
206,7

1 191 511 951
339,9

1 529,5
1 197,0
1 209 111 456
99,0

1 784,5
1 710,9
1 209 111 456
141,5

32. Dividend per share
Total dividends paid during the year
Total dividends declared during the year
Number of ordinary shares in issue
Dividends declared per share (cents)
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33. Related parties
Principal shareholders
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. the principal shareholders are remgro limited, Mr Dippenaar and
Mr Ferreira.
Key management personnel
only rMBH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the company appears
in the directors’ report.
Subsidiaries
Details of income from and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 37.
rMBSI paid rMBH a guarantee fee of r4,7 million for surety provided by rMBH in respect of a loan obtained by rMBSI from Firstrand Bank
limited (note 13).
Associates
Details of income from and investments in associates are disclosed in note 36.
other
rMBH invested in preference shares issued by new Seasons Financial Services (proprietary) limited (“nSFS”). nSFS is a shareholder of rMB
Structured Insurance limited.
GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

598,3

687,6

6,3
1,5

7,5
1,2

Related party transactions
Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited and its subsidiary companies with:
Principal shareholders
Dividends paid
Key management personnel
Salaries and other benefits
Directors’ fees
Associates
Income statement effect:
Dividends received
Dividends paid
Gross insurance premium revenue
Gross change in unearned premium
Fee and commission income
Investment income
preference share dividends received
net fair value gains on assets at fair value through income
Insurance benefits and claims incurred
acquisition expenses
Bank charges
asset managers’ administration fees
operating lease rentals
retirement fund contributions
Medical aid premiums paid
preference share dividends paid
Finance costs

1 296,3
190,1
14,5
(35,0)
0,9
349,6
46,5
13,2
373,5
192,3
10,0
4,9
13,3
1,3
27,6
105,5
64,3

1 510,8
190,1
65,0
19,9
1,0
194,8
24,0
23,4
(636,0)
209,9
8,4
5,3
13,1
1,0
21,6
62,2
70,0
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Group
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
Rmillion

83,4
69,1
46,1
1 317,6
2 100,1

106,6
94,8
33,4
1 584,7
2 155,8

33. Related parties continued
Related party transactions continued
Balance sheet effect:
Financial assets – available-for-sale
Financial assets – at fair value through profit or loss
 Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Insurance contracts
Interest bearing loans
 At 1 July
 Net borrowings repaid
Capitalised interest
 At 30 June
Convertible debentures
 Preference shares
 Trade and other payables
Other
Income statement effect
Investment income
Balance sheet effect:
Financial assets – available-for-sale
 Loans and receivables
Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited’s key management with associates of the Group:
Loans in normal course of business (mortgages, other loans, instalment finance and credit cards)
 At 1 July
Granted during year
 Repayments during year
Interest paid
 At 30 June
Cheque and current accounts
 At 1 July
 Net deposits/(withdrawals)
 Net interest, fees and bank charges
 At 30 June

469,7
(80,4)
11,6

675,2
(223,3)
17,8

400,9

469,7

15,0
1 316,3
13,1

15,0
1 199,9
21,1

3,6

5,9

25,9
0,5

30,2
1,5

3,9
315,9
(321,0)
1,1

25,0
141,2
(163,4)
1,1

(0,1)

3,9

(105,0)
111,3
(1,7)

15,0
(110,4)
(9,6)

4,6

(105,0)
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GRouP
2009
Rmillion

Group
2008
rmillion

37,2
32,3
4,5

32,0
2,2
3,0

74,0

37,2

819,4
(112,6)
(213,0)
(3,5)

704,0
162,9
(42,5)
(5,0)

490,3

819,4

2,6

4,3

33. Related parties continued
Related party transactions continued
Savings accounts
at 1 July
net deposits
Interest income
at 30 June
Investment products
at 1 July
net (withdrawals)/deposits
net investment return credited
Commission and other transaction fees
at 30 June
other fees
Financial consulting fees and commissions

34. Retirement benefits
Group companies are participants in a defined contribution pension fund and a defined contribution provident fund.
to the extent that the Company is responsible for contributions to these funds, such contributions are charged against income as incurred.
the funds are registered in terms of the pension Funds act, 1956.

35. Post balance sheet event
Final dividend declaration
the final dividend declaration is dealt with in the directors’ report.
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Discovery Holdings Limited

2009
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

2009
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

Listed associates
Financial year end
Year end used for equity accounting

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

Country of incorporation

Republic of South Africa

36. Associates

Number of shares held (‘000)
Interest held (%) (after consolidation of share trusts)
Carrying value of investment in associates
Total share of post-acquisition increase in reserves
of associates
Income attributable to RMBH for the year
Less: dividends received
Share of retained income for the year
Market value

1 694 844

1 694 844

Republic of South Africa
148 048

148 048

26,74%
2 869,9

27,11%
2 667,4

12 896,0
3 585,5
(1 479,0)

372,5
325,0
(71,8)

143,9
213,1
(31,8)

834,0

2 106,5

253,2

181,3

23 829,5

22 541,4

3 825,6

3 212,6

32,51%
17 224,0

32,71%
16 869,7

13 243,7
2 058,5
(1 224,5)
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FirstRand Limited

Discovery Holdings Limited

2009
Rmillion

2008
rmillion

2009
Rmillion

2008
rmillion

57 266,0

53 555,0

1 737,0

812,0
35,0

36. Associates continued
Balance sheet
assets
Cash and short-term funds

68 608,0

57 106,0

68,0

advances

Derivative financial instruments

416 488,0

446 286,0

–

–

Investment securities and investments

209 249,0

220 105,0

4 628,0

3 786,0

1 323,0

1 916,0

–

–

accounts receivable

Commodities

11 355,0

7 806,0

1 846,0

1 478,0

Investment in associates and joint venture companies

15 294,0

13 303,0

–

1,0

property and equipment

10 220,0

8 859,0

199,0

291,0

2 034,0

1 456,0

239,0

128,0
243,0

Deferred taxation
Intangible assets and deferred acquisition costs

5 698,0

4 497,0

520,0

Investment properties

2 156,0

3 808,0

20,0

–

626,0

772,0

–

–

8 143,0

550,0

142,0

99,0

policy loans on insurance contracts
reinsurance assets
tax asset

883,0

833,0

83,0

–

assets arising from insurance contracts

508,0

3 092,0

5 449,0

4 165,0

809 851,0

823 944,0

14 931,0

11 038,0

total assets
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

478 083,0

488 423,0

–

–

Short trading positions

Deposits

25 002,0

33 450,0

–

–

Derivative financial instruments

55 556,0

46 595,0

12,0

6,0

Creditors and accruals

18 217,0

16 836,0

1 278,0

1 116,0

2 961,0

3 275,0

65,0

54,0

331,0

666,0

–

9,0

post-retirement funding liability

2 089,0

1 980,0

–

–

Deferred taxation

3 977,0

5 372,0

1 402,0

1 031,0

provisions
tax liability

long-term liabilities

12 928,0

13 941,0

32,0

37,0

policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts

40 725,0

43 417,0

1 778,0

1 061,0

109 196,0

111 344,0

2 161,0

1 230,0

8 114,0

7 283,0

1 104,0

260,0

Deferred revenue liability

322,0

296,0

86,0

70,0

liabilities classified as held for sale

253,0

–

–

–

50 004,0

48 689,0

7 013,0

6 164,0

2 093,0

2 377,0

–

–

809 851,0

823 944,0

14 931,0

11 038,0

7 838,0

13 033,0

1 224,0

1 158,0

91 972,0

101 387,0

881,0

709,0

policyholders’ liabilities under investment contracts
liabilities arising to third parties/re-insurers

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders
Minority interest
total shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Income statement
net profit for the year
Contingencies and commitments
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RMB Structured Insurance Limited**

2009
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

2009
Rmillion

2008
Rmillion

Unlisted subsidiaries
Financial year end
Year end used for consolidation

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

30 June
30 June

Country of incorporation

Republic of South Africa

37. Subsidiaries

Number of shares held (‘000)
Interest held (%) (after consolidation of share trust)
Shares at cost
Indebtedness
– to subsidiaries
– by subsidiaries (eliminated on consolidation)
Net profit for the year
Directors’ valuation of RMBH’s investment

Republic of South Africa

1 584 225
61,92%
90,0

1 584 225
61,86%
90,0

200 000
80,21%
25,5

200 000
80,63%
25,5

–
–
665,7
3 172,4

–
90,0
566,8
2 844,5

–
–
78,6
284,5

–
–
93,0
283,8

4 241,6
(321,7)

3 598,4
(271,2)

1 224,6
(129,8)

1 939,2
(128,0)

Net premiums written
Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums
Change in the reinsurers’ share of provision for
unearned premiums

3 919,9
(90,5)

3 327,2
(7,0)

1 094,8
(40,3)

1 811,2
36,9

–

0,8

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance
Commission income
Fee income
Investment income and fair value movements

3 829,4
46,7
72,2
334,0

3 321,0
38,4
63,9
300,3

1 056,4
31,2
1,4
(136,2)

1 853,3
23,2
9,7
384,3

Total revenue
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance

4 282,3
(2 041,3)

3 723,6
(1 810,4)

952,8
112,0

2 270,5
(1 126,9)

Gross amount
Reinsurers’ share

(2 213,6)
172,3

(1 961,8)
151,4

43,4
68,6

(1 155,3)
28,4

–
(0,3)
(276,6)
(162,7)
(817,2)

–
–
(248,6)
(184,1)
(608,3)

(25,1)
(79,6)
–
(677,3)
(60,1)

13,0
317,2
–
(1 208,6)
(51,2)

984,2
–
(9,3)
0,2

872,2
–
(20,8)
1,0

222,7
(68,0)
(44,3)
–

214,0
(61,3)
(44,6)
–

975,1
(309,4)

852,4
(285,6)

110,4
(31,8)

108,1
(15,1)

665,7

566,8

78,6

93,0

Income statement
Gross premiums written
Reinsurance premiums

Investment contract benefits
Transfer from policyholders’ interest
Provision for cash bonuses
Acquisition expenses
Marketing and administration expenses
Results of operating activities
Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue
Finance costs
Share of profit from associates
Net profit before taxation
Taxation
Net profit for the year
* Indirectly held through FirstRand STI Holdings Limited.
** Indirectly held through RMB-SI Investments (Proprietary) Limited.

1,9

5,2
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Banking and
financial services

Long-term
insurance

Primary segments (business)
Year ended 30 June 2009
Share of associates
operating profit
Finance costs

1 797,3
–
–

853,2
–
–

0,2
1 141,8
(67,4)

(263,8)
(417,0)
(111,9)

2 386,9
724,8
(179,3)

profit before taxation
taxation

1 797,3
–

853,2
–

1 074,6
(341,2)

(792,7)
40,4

2 932,4
(300,8)

profit for the year

1 797,3

853,2

733,4

(752,3)

2 631,6

Banking,
financial services
and long-term
insurance

Short-term
insurance

other

Total

At 30 June 2009
Segment assets
associates
Goodwill

–
20 093,9
–

7 374,4
6,1
3,3

993,6
–
–

8 368,0
20 100,0
3,3

total assets

20 093,9

7 383,8

993,6

28 471,3

–

5 345,3

1 385,1

6 730,4

Banking and
financial services

long-term
insurance

Short-term
insurance

other

total

Year ended 30 June 2008
Share of associates
operating profit
Finance costs

3 060,7
–
–

956,5
–
–

1,0
1 041,7
(82,2)

(231,6)
(36,4)
(69,5)

3 786,6
1 005,3
(151,7)

profit before taxation
taxation

3 060,7
–

956,5
–

960,5
(300,7)

(337,5)
10,6

4 640,2
(290,1)

profit for the year

3 060,7

956,5

659,8

(326,9)

4 350,1

Banking,
financial services
and long-term
insurance

Short-term
insurance

other

total

At 30 June 2008
Segment assets
associates
Goodwill

–
19 573,0
–

7 409,5
5,9
3,3

1 393,5
–
–

8 803,0
19 578,9
3,3

total assets

19 573,0

7 418,7

1 393,5

28 385,2

–

5 687,7

1 347,1

7 034,8

rmillion

Short-term
insurance

other

Total

38. Segment report

rmillion

Segment liabilities

rmillion

rmillion

Segment liabilities
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38. Segment report continued
The Group is organised into four main business segments:
– Banking and Financial Services – consists of the banking business of FirstRand and the financial services business of Glenrand M.I.B (which
was sold with effect from 31 December 2008);
– Long-term insurance – consists of the insurance business of FirstRand and Discovery;
– Short-term insurance – consists of the insurance business of OUTsurance and RMB Structured Insurance; and
– Other – consists of the holding company revenues and costs in respect of RMB Holdings Limited and FirstRand Limited.
All transactions between the different business segments are conducted at arm’s length.
Secondary segments (geographical)
The secondary reporting format is by geographical analysis. The directors consider that there is only one geographical segment, being the
Republic of South Africa.

39. Share trusts
RMBH does not operate a share incentive scheme in its own right.
FirstRand STI Holdings Limited has an equity settled share scheme. The FirstRand STI Holdings Share Trust (“the trust”) was registered on
11 November 1999 under Trust No. IT.11708/99. In terms of the current trust deed, 12% of the issued share capital of the company is available
to the trust for the granting of options to employees. The trust currently holds 3,6% (2008: 3,4%) of the shares in FirstRand STI Holdings
Limited. Options have been granted to certain employees on these shares. The vesting period of the options granted is 5 years. The options
vest in three equal tranches at the end of years 3, 4 and 5. Options may be exercised at any point during the 5 year period. An expense of
R7,4 million (2008: R4,6 million) relating to this scheme was recognised in the income statement.
RMB-SI Investments (Proprietary) Limited has an equity settled share scheme. The RMB-SI Investments Share Trust (“the trust”) was created
to give certain employees of RMB Structured Insurance Limited the opportunity to acquire shares in RMBSI. The maximum number of scheme
shares shall not exceed 10% of the issued ordinary shares capital of RMBSI. The vesting period of the options granted is 5 years. The options
vest in three equal tranches at the end of years 3, 4 and 5. Options may be exercised at any point during the 5 year period. An expense of
R0,4 million (2008: R0,5 million) relating to this scheme was recognised in the income statement.
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40. Restatement of comparatives
the balance sheet item “policyholders’ interest” represents the policyholders’ share of accumulated profit or loss after tax and dividends. the
accumulated net loss balance at 30 June 2008 was r92,7 million, which was shown under liabilities as a “negative liability”. this balance has
now been reclassified to assets.
the impact of the above mentioned restatement is shown below:

Balance sheet item – Rmillion

As restated

As originally
stated

Difference

–

(92,7)

(92,7)

92,7

–

92,7

liabilities – policyholders’ profit share

assets – policyholders’ interest

}

Reason
reclassification
to assets
reclassification
from liabilities

41. effective interest in subsidiaries and associates
the effective interest held by rMBH in these companies shows variations between years as a result of the consolidation by such entities of:
• treasury shares held by them;
• Shares held in them by their share incentive trusts; and/or
• “Deemed” treasury shares held in them by policyholders and mutual funds managed by them; as well as
• “Deemed” treasury shares arising from Bee transactions entered into.
the effective interest held as at 30 June 2009 can be compared to the actual interest held by rMBH in the statutory share capital of the
companies as follows:

Firstrand
Discovery
outsurance
rMBSI

effective

actual

32,5%
26,7%
61,9%
80,2%

30,1%
25,0%
58,6%
76,9%

Company
financial
statements
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Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2009

notes

CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

2
3

445,2
11 107,3

445,7
11 143,2

4
4
5
6
7

25,9
375,1
20,7
2,6
89,2

30,2
645,9
14,6
1,4
10,8

12 066,0

12 291,8

5 327,9
5 353,4

5 327,9
5 644,5

10 681,3

10 972,4

1 221,2
113,1
4,0
46,4
–

1 194,8
57,6
5,7
43,7
17,6

1 384,7

1 319,4

12 066,0

12 291,8

Assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Financial assets
equity securities:
– available-for-sale
– at fair value through profit or loss
loans and receivables
Deferred taxation
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

equity
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders
Share capital and premium
reserves

8
9

Total shareholders’ equity

Liabilities
Financial liabilities
preference shares
Interest bearing loans
provisions
trade and other payables
Deferred taxation
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

10
10
11
12
6
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Income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Notes

COMPANY
2009
Rmillion

COMPANY
2008
Rmillion

Investment income
– Fair value of unbundled shares received – dividend in specie
– Other income

13
13

–
1 558,6

2 520,5
1 773,8

Net fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

14

1 558,6
(194,1)

4 294,3
(7,3)

Net income
Marketing and administration expenses

15

1 364,5
(19,9)

4 287,0
(30,3)

Result of operating activities of the Company
Finance costs

16

1 344,6
(116,6)

4 256,7
(79,5)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

17

1 228,0
10,8

4 177,2
8,7

Profit for the year

1 238,8

4 185,9

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

1 238,8

4 185,9
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Share
capital

Share
premium

nondistributable
reserves

retained
earnings

total
equity

Balance at 1 July 2008
Issue of shares
net profit for the year
Dividends paid
Share option expense reserve – IFrS 2

11,9
0,2
–
–
–

4 593,1
722,7
–
–
–

336,5
–
–
–
0,8

2 905,8
–
4 185,9
(1 784,5)
–

7 847,3
722,9
4 185,9
(1 784,5)
0,8

Balance at 30 June 2008
net profit for the year
Dividends paid
Share option expense reserve – IFrS 2

12,1
–
–
–

5 315,8
–
–
–

337,3
–
–
(0,4)

5 307,2
1 238,8
(1 529,5)
–

10 972,4
1 238,8
(1 529,5)
(0,4)

Balance at 30 June 2009

12,1

5 315,8

336,9

5 016,5

10 681,3

CoMPAnY
Rmillion
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Cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash generated from/(utilised for) operating activities

A

COMPANY
2009
Rmillion

1 536,8
(0,7)
(1 527,5)

COMPANY
2008
Rmillion

1 759,9
(8,6)
(1 782,4)

8,6

(31,1)

43,1
–
57,5
–
4,3

–
(100,4)
–
(701,4)
3,6

Net cash received from/(used in) investing activities

104,9

(798,2)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of preference shares
Net amount of borrowings raised/(paid)
Preference dividends paid
Cost of funding

–
55,5
(79,0)
(11,6)

1 180,0
(296,7)
(33,5)
(17,8)

Net cash (used in)/received from financing activities

(35,1)

832,0

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of associate company
Loans to subsidiary
Net proceeds from sale of investments
Investment in associate companies
Proceeds from redemption of preference shares

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

78,4
10,8

2,7
8,1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

89,2

10,8
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CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

1 228,0

4 177,2

A. Cash flows from operating activities
reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:
profit before taxation
adjusted for:
Fair value of unbundled shares received
profit on sale of associate company
Impairment loss
Share option expenses
Finance costs
Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue
Fair value adjustment
Changes in working capital
Current receivables and prepayments
Current payables and provisions
Cash generated from operations

–
(7,2)
–
(0,4)
11,6
105,0
194,1

(2 520,5)
–
14,0
0,8
17,8
61,7
7,3

6,2
(0,5)

1,6
–

1 536,8

1 759,9
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Land and
buildings
Rmillion

Computer
equipment
Rmillion

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment
Rmillion

At 1 July 2007:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

–
–

–
–

0,3
(0,3)

–
–

0,3
(0,3)

Net book amount

–

–

–

–

–

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Closing net book amount

–

–

–

–

–

At 30 June 2008:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

–
–

–
–

0,3
(0,3)

–
–

0,3
(0,3)

Net book amount

–

–

–

–

–

Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Closing net book amount

–

–

–

–

–

At 30 June 2009:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

–
–

–
–

Net book amount

–

–

Company

Motor
vehicles
Rmillion

Total
Rmillion

1. Property and equipment

0,3
(0,3)
–

–
–
–

0,3
(0,3)
–
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CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

Shares at cost
non cumulative non redeemable preference shares
Interest bearing loans granted
Interest free loans granted

115,5
90,0
–
239,7

116,0
–
90,0
239,7

Investment in subsidiares

445,2

445,7

3 456,9

3 128,3

number of shares

% of equity

1 584 225 400
200 000 000
100

46,7
80,2
100,0

CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

8 586,8
2 520,5
–

8 658,6
2 520,5
(35,9)

11 107,3

11 143,2

2. Investment in subsidiaries

Directors’ valuation:
unlisted
name of company
outsurance Holdings limited*
rMB-SI Investments (proprietary) limited**
phed Investments (proprietary) limited
london & Dominion trust limited was deregistered on 22 June 2009.
* Direct holding of 46,7% (after consolidation of share trust), indirect holding through FirstRand Limited of 15,2%.
** After consolidation of share trust.

3. Investment in associates
Shares at cost
Fair value of unbundled shares received – dividend in specie
Impairment loss

the impairment loss related to Glenrand M.I.B limited as the fair value of the investment was lower than the carrying value. the investment
in Glenrand M.I.B limited was sold with effect from 31 December 2008.
the Company’s interests in its associates, all of which are listed, are as follows:
name of company
Firstrand limited
Discovery Holdings limited

number of shares

% of equity

1 677 291 222
147 062 877

32,2*
26,6*

* After consolidation of share trust.

phed Investments (proprietary) limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, holds the following shares:
name of company
Firstrand limited
Discovery Holdings limited

Market values based on total holding:
listed

number of shares
17 552 393
985 291
2009
Rmillion

2008
rmillion

27 655,1

25 789,9
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COMPANY
2009
Rmillion

COMPANY
2008
Rmillion

25,9
375,1

30,2
645,9

401,0

676,1

25,9

30,2

375,1

645,9

4. Financial assets – equity securities
The Company’s financial assets are summarised by measurement category in the table below:
Available-for-sale
Fair value through profit or loss

The current portion of financial assets is R375,1 million (2008: R645,9 million), the remaining
amount being non-current.
The assets comprising each of the categories above are detailed in the tables below.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Equity securities – unlisted preference shares
The investments are held to redemption and are carried at cost, which equals redemption value
and approximates fair value. The preference shares are redeemable at any time, but not later than
31 December 2014 with the notice period being five business days. Accrued dividends are
disclosed as accrued investment income. The dividend yield is 13,7%.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Equity securities – listed
Designated upon initial recognition – foreign

Listed equity securities are ordinary listed shares traded in organised financial markets. The carrying amount represents the quoted bid prices
on these markets at the close of business on the last day of the financial year-end.

Availablefor-sale
Rmillion

Fair value
through
profit or loss
Rmillion

Total
Rmillon

At 1 July 2007
Disposals (sales and redemptions)
Fair value net losses

33,8
(3,6)
–

653,2
–
(7,3)

687,0
(3,6)
(7,3)

At 30 June 2008
Disposals (sales and redemptions)
Fair value net losses

30,2
(4,3)
–

645,9
(76,7)
(194,1)

676,1
(81,0)
(194,1)

At 30 June 2009

25,9

375,1

401,0

company
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CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

0,6
–
19,2
0,9

7,0
7,3
–
0,3

20,7

14,6

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority.
Deferred tax asset at the beginning of the year
Deferred tax credit for the year (note 17)

1,4
1,2

–
1,4

Deferred tax asset at the end of the year

2,6

1,4

17,6
(17,6)

19,2
(1,6)

5. Financial assets – loans and receivables
accrued investment income
Income tax receivable
Secured short-term interest bearing loan
other receivables

all loans and receivables are current.
the short-term interest bearing loan is repayable by 31 December 2009 and bears interest at the
prime interest rate. the loan is secured by listed equities at 2,5 times cover.

6. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax liability at the beginning of the year
Deferred tax credit for the year (note 17)
Deferred tax liability at the end of the year
the net deferred tax asset at the end of the year can be analysed as follows:
StC credit

the net deferred tax liability at the end of the year can be analysed as follows:
unrealised investment gains and losses included in income

–

17,6

2,6

1,4

2,6

1,4

–

17,6

–

17,6

89,2

10,8

Deferred income taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward only to the extent
that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable.

7. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand
Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts, call deposits and short-term fixed deposits.
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Number
of shares
million

Ordinary
shares
Rmillion

Share
premium
Rmillion

Total
Rmillion

At 1 July 2007
Movement in share capital and premium

1 187,8
21,3

11,9
0,2

4 593,1
722,7

4 605,0
722,9

At 30 June 2008
Movement in share capital and premium

1 209,1
–

12,1
–

5 315,8
–

5 327,9
–

At 30 June 2009

1 209,1

12,1

5 315,8

5 327,9

Company

8. Share capital and premium

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 000 000 000 (2008: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per share (2008: one cent).
During the year no shares were issued (2008: 21 302 886 ordinary shares issued, with a par value of one cent per share, at a premium of R33,93
per share). 15% of the unissued share capital is under the control of the board of directors until the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2008: 100 000 000), with a par value of one cent
per share (2008: one cent). During the year nil preference shares were issued (2008: 11 800 redeemable cumulative preference shares, with a
par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per share were issued on 3 January 2008). As these preference shares are redeemable they
as classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (note 10). These preference shares are unlisted.
COMPANY
2009
Rmillion

COMPANY
2008
Rmillion

5 016,5

5 307,2

3,5
333,4

3,9
333,4

336,9

337,3

5 353,4

5 644,5

Fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares
At beginning of year
Nil (2008: 7 800) preference shares issued

780,0
–

–
780,0

At end of year

780,0

780,0

9. Reserves
Distributable reserves
Retained earnings
Non-distributable reserves – Other
Share based payments reserve
Capital surpluses on disposals and restructuring of strategic investments

Total reserves

10. Financial liabilities

The Company issued 7 800 fixed rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, with a par value of one cent, at a premium of R99 999,99 per
share, on 3 January 2008. The preference shares are redeemable at the discretion of the Company at any time and compulsorily redeemable
on 27 November 2012. The preference shares pay dividends, bi-annually, at a fixed rate of 8,55% per annum.
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CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

Variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares
at beginning of year
nil (2008: 4 000) preference shares issued
Dividends capitalised

414,8
–
26,4

–
400,0
14,8

at end of year

441,2

414,8

113,1

57,6

113,1

57,6

10. Financial liabilities continued

the Company issued 4 000 variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, with a par
value of one cent, at a premium of r99 999,99 per share, on 3 January 2008. the preference
shares are redeemable at the discretion of the Company at any time and compulsorily redeemable
on 27 november 2012. preference shares of r270 million accrue dividends at a rate of 63,5% of
the prime interest rate, which is capitalised. the remaining preference shares of r130 million pay
dividends, bi-annually, at a rate of 63,5% of the prime interest rate.
Interest bearing loans

the Company financed its obligations by means of a loan obtained from rand Merchant Bank,
a division of Firstrand Bank limited. the loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate linked to
the prime interest rate.

11. Provisions
Staff incentive bonus
Balance at the beginning of the year
additional provisions
utilised during the year
Balance at the end of the year

5,7
4,0
(5,7)

5,9
5,7
(5,9)

4,0

5,7

21,6
12,9
11,9

20,4
13,4
9,9

46,4

43,7

3,7
1 546,7
–
0,9
0,1
7,2
–

5,9
1 762,4
5,5
–
–
–
2 520,5

1 558,6

4 294,3

all amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months.

12. Trade and other payables
trade payables and accrued expenses
accrued redeemable preference share dividends
unclaimed dividends

all amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months.

13. Investment income
available-for-sale:
– dividend income
Dividend income from subsidiaries and associates
Interest income on loan to subsidiary
Interest income on secured short-term loan
Cash and cash equivalents interest income
profit on sale of associate company
Fair value of unbundled shares received – dividend in specie
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Rmillion
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COMPANY
2008
Rmillion

14. Net fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value losses

(194,1)

(7,3)

(194,1)

(7,3)

Net fair value losses comprise:
Equity securities

(194,1)

(7,3)

 Unrealised mark to market
 Realised mark to market

(193,8)
(0,3)

(7,3)
–

(194,1)

(7,3)

–
(6,0)
(0,2)
(1,0)
–
(0,7)
(12,0)

–
(2,2)
(0,2)
(1,1)
(14,0)
(0,6)
(12,2)

(19,9)

(30,3)

(0,7)
–
–

(0,6)
–
–

(0,7)

(0,6)

(11,6)
(105,0)

(17,8)
(61,7)

(116,6)

(79,5)

15. Marketing and administration expenses
Expenses by nature:
Depreciation
 Professional fees and regulatory compliance cost
Insurance
 Operating lease rentals
Impairment loss
 Audit fees
 Other expenses

Audit fees
Statutory audit – current year
Statutory audit – under provision prior year
 Other services

16. Finance costs
Interest paid on bank borrowings
Redeemable preference share dividends
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CoMPAnY
2009
Rmillion

CoMpanY
2008
rmillion

17. Taxation
Sa normal taxation
Current tax
Current year
previous year
Deferred tax
Current year
Secondary tax on companies
tax rate adjustment
Secondary tax on companies – current

(1,6)
–

(1,3)
13,2

17,6
1,2
–
(6,4)

0,9
1,4
0,7
(6,2)

10,8

8,7

1 228,0

4 177,2

the tax on the Company’s profits before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the statutory tax rate of South africa as follows:
profit before taxation

Statutory tax rate
net income and expenses not subject to tax
prior year adjustment
recognition of deferred tax asset
recognition of deferred tax liability
Secondary tax on companies
effective tax rate

%
28,00
(27,87)
–
(0,10)
(1,43)
0,52

%
28,00
(27,97)
(0,32)
(0,07)
–
0,15

(0,88)

(0,21)

18. Dividend per share
total dividends paid during the year

1 529,5

1 784,5

total dividends declared during the year

1 197,0

1 710,9

1 209 111 456

1 209 111 456

99,0

141,5

number of ordinary shares in issue
Dividends declared per share (cents)

19. Related parties
Principal shareholders
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. the principal shareholders are remgro limited, Mr Dippenaar and Mr Ferreira.
Key management personnel
only rMBH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the Company appears
in the directors’ report.
Subsidiaries
Details of investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 2.
rMBSI paid rMBH a guarantee fee of r4,7 million for surety provided by rMBH in respect of a loan obtained by rMBSI from Firstrand
Bank limited.
Associates
Details of investments in associates are disclosed in note 3.
other
rMBH invested in preference shares issued by new Seasons Financial Services (proprietary) limited (“nSFS”). nSFS is a shareholder of rMB
Structured Insurance limited.

Annual report 2009

111

COMPANY
2009
Rmillion

COMPANY
2008
Rmillion

598,3

687,6

6,3
1,5

7,5
1,2

253,0
10,5
4,7
–

267,3
–
4,7
5,5

239,7
–

329,7
5,5

1 283,2
–
105,0
11,6

1 495,1
2 520,5
61,7
17,8

–
12,7
1 221,2
12,9

2 520,5
10,8
1 194,8
13,5

57,6
43,9
11,6

354,3
(314,5)
17,8

113,1

57,6

3,6

5,9

25,9
0,5

30,2
1,5

19. Related parties continued
Related party transactions
Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited with:
Principal shareholders
Dividends paid
Key management personnel
Salaries and other benefits
Directors’ fees
Subsidiaries
Income statement effect:
Dividends received
 Preference share dividends received
Guarantee fee received
Investment income
Balance sheet effect:
 Loan granted
 Receivables
Associates
Income statement effect:
Dividends received
Fair value of unbundled shares received – dividend in specie
 Preference share dividends
Finance costs
Balance sheet effect
Investment in associate
Cash and cash equivalents
 Preference shares
 Trade and other payables
Interest bearing loans
 At 1 July
Borrowing raised/(repaid)
Capitalised interest
 At 30 June
Other
Income statement effect
Investment income
Balance sheet effect:
Financial assets – available-for-sale
 Loans and receivables
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20. Contingent liabilities
the following contingencies and guarantees exist at 30 June 2009:
– a guarantee provided in respect of funding facilities of a subsidiary for an amount not exceeding r400 million; and
– a subsidiary has the right to call on additional funding from the Company, subject to the approval of the board.

21. Retirement benefits
the Company is a participant in a defined contribution pension fund and a defined contribution provident fund.
to the extent that the Company is responsible for contributions to these funds, such contributions are charged against income as incurred.
the funds are registered in terms of the pension Funds act, 1956.

22. Financial risk management
the Company is exposed to various financial risks in connection with its current operating activities, such as market risk, currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk
the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk
comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument, denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency, may fluctuate
due to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the currency in which such instrument is denominated.
the Company’s exposure to currency risk is mainly in respect of foreign investments made. the Company had invested in a financial services
emerging market portfolio.
the board monitors these exposures on a quarterly basis. any significant changes in the foreign currency balances are followed up throughout
the year and are reported to the board.
the table below lists the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk:

Rand

united States
Dollar

Total

equity securities – at fair value through profit or loss
other assets

–
11 614,2

375,1
76,7

375,1
11 690,9

total assets

11 614,2

451,8

12 066,0

As at 30 June 2009 – Rmillion

all liabilities are denominated in rand.
exchange rates:
Closing rate at 30 June
average rate for the year

7,728
8,881

rand

united States
Dollar

total

equity securities – at fair value through profit or loss
other assets

–
11 645,8

645,9
0,1

645,9
11 645,9

total assets

11 645,8

646,0

12 291,8

As at 30 June 2008 – Rmillion

all liabilities are denominated in rand.
exchange rates:
Closing rate at 30 June
average rate for the year

7,827
7,288
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22. Financial risk management continued
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is when the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The table below reflects the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk. An increase or decrease in the market interest rate would result in the
following changes in the profit before tax of the Company:

200bps
Increase
2009
Rmillion
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
 Preference shares
Interest bearing loans

200bps
Decrease
2009
Rmillion

200bps
Increase
2008
Rmillion

200bps
Decrease
2008
Rmillion

1,8

(1,8)

0,2

(0,2)

(8,8)
(2,3)

8,8
2,3

(8,3)
(1,2)

8,3
1,2

Other price risk
Equity risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices,
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market.
Equity securities are mandated to asset managers. Asset managers’ mandates include benchmarks against which performance is measured
based on fee structures. The board monitors the performance of the investment on a quarterly basis.
The table below reflects the Company’s exposure to equity price risk. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the equity prices would result
in the following changes in the profit before tax of the Company:

10%
Increase
2009
Rmillion
Financial assets
 Listed equity shares

37,5

10%
Decrease
2009
Rmillion

(37,5)

10%
Increase
2008
Rmillion

10%
Decrease
2008
Rmillion

64,6

(64,6)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.
The key areas where the Company is exposed to credit risk are:
• Unlisted preference shares;
• Loans and receivables; and
• Cash and cash equivalents.
Significant concentrations of credit risk, if applicable, are disclosed in the financial statements. The credit exposure to any one counterparty
is managed by the Board of Directors and by setting transaction/exposure limits, which are reviewed at each board and audit committee
meeting. The credit worthiness of existing and potential clients is monitored by the board. The table below provides information on the credit
risk exposure by credit ratings at the year end of the Company (if available):
Rmillion
At 30 June 2009
Equity securities
– available-for-sale – unlisted
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

BBB+

Not rated

Total

–
–
12,7

25,9
20,7
76,5

25,9
20,7
89,2

12,7

123,1

135,8

114

RMBH annual report 2009

notes to the company financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2009

rmillion

a

not rated

total

–
–
10,8

30,2
14,6
–

30,2
14,6
10,8

10,8

44,8

55,6

22. Financial risk management continued
At 30 June 2008
equity securities
– available-for-sale – unlisted
loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

the ratings were obtained from Fitch. the ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings are not available, the
financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. the ratings are defined as follows:
Long-term investment grade:
a
the financial instrument is considered upper-medium grade and is subject to low credit risk although certain economic situations can
more readily affect the issuers’ financial soundness than those rated aaa or aa.
BBB+ the financial instrument is subject to moderate credit risk and indicates medium class issuers, which are currently satisfactory.
Not rated
the credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain assets do not have a formal rating.

Liquidity risk and asset liability matching
liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. the Company’s
liabilities are matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid resources to cover its obligations. the Company’s liquidity and ability
to meet such calls are monitored quarterly at the board meetings.

30 June 2009 – Rmillion

Total

0–6
months

7-12
months

1–5
years

>5 years

no liquidity
risk

Liabilities
Financial liabilities
preference shares
Interest bearing loans
provisions
trade and other payables

1 548,0
113,1
4,0
46,4

37,7
113,1
4,0
46,4

37,7
–
–
–

1 472,6
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

1 711,5

201,2

37,7

1 472,6

–

–

total

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

1–5
years

>5 years

no liquidity
risk

1 672,0
57,6
5,7
43,7
17,6

39,7
57,6
5,7
43,7
–

39,7
–
–
–
–

1 592,6
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
17,6

1 796,6

146,7

39,7

1 592,6

–

17,6

30 June 2008 – Rmillion
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
preference shares
Interest bearing loans
provisions
trade and other payables
Deferred taxation liabilities

23. Post balance sheet event
• Final dividend declaration
the final dividend declaration is dealt with in the directors’ report.
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Notice of annual general meeting
RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED

3.1 Matthys Hendrik Visser (55)

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Non-executive director

(Registration number: 1987/005115/06)

Date of appointment: 1 April 2009

Share code: RMH

Educational qualifications: BCom (Hons), CA(SA)

ISIN: ZAE000024501

Directorships: FirstRand Limited, Remgro Limited, Distell Group

(“RMBH” or “the Company”)

Limited, Medi-Clinic Corporation Limited, Nampak Limited,

Notice is hereby given of the twenty second annual general meeting of
the shareholders of RMB Holdings Limited to be held in the executive
boardroom, 4th floor, 4 Merchant Place, corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia
Road, Sandton on Friday, 27 November 2009 at 09:00 to, if approved,
pass the following resolutions with or without modifications:

AGENDA
1.	Ordinary resolution number 1

Rainbow Chicken Limited – Chairman
4.	Ordinary resolution number 4
	Approval of directors’ remuneration for the year ended
30 June 2009
Resolved that the remuneration of the directors as reflected on
page 28 of the annual report be approved.
5.	Ordinary resolution number 5

Approval of annual financial statements

Approval of directors’ fees for the year ending 30 June 2010

Resolved that the audited annual financial statements of the

Resolved that the directors’ fees for the year ending 30 June 2010,

Company and the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009 be

as set out below, are approved:

accepted and approved.
2.	Ordinary resolution number 2
Re-election of directors
To re-elect the under-mentioned directors who retire in terms of
the Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.
2.1 Gerrit Thomas Ferreira (61)
Non-executive Chairman

Per annum
Board (4 meetings per annum)
– ChairmanR324 000
– DirectorR108 000
Audit and Risk Committee (2 meetings per annum)
– ChairmanR59 400
– Member

R29 700

Ad hoc meetings (per hour)R2 600

Date of appointment: 12 November 1987
Educational qualifications: BCom, Hons B (B&A), MBA
Listed directorship: None
2.2 Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar (60)

6.	Ordinary resolution number 6
	Place 15% of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares
under the control of the directors
Resolved that 15% of the authorised but unissued ordinary

Non-executive director

shares in the Company (currently representing approximately

Date of appointment: 12 November 1987

10% of the total issued ordinary shares of the Company), be and

Educational qualifications: MCom, CA(SA)

are hereby placed under the control of the directors as a general

Listed directorship: FirstRand Limited
2.3 Jan Willem Dreyer (58)

authority until the next annual general meeting and that they be
and are hereby authorised to allot, issue and otherwise dispose

Independent non-executive director

of such shares to such person or persons upon such terms and

Date of appointment: 19 October 1987

conditions as the directors in their discretion deem fit, subject to

Educational qualifications: BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law,

the Companies Act of South Africa, as amended (“the Companies

HDipTax

Act”), the Articles of Association of the Company and the Listings

Directorships: Remgro Limited, Dorbyl Limited, Trans Hex

Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”), when applicable.

Group Limited
3.	Ordinary resolution number 3

7.	Ordinary resolution number 7
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash

Election of director

Resolved that the board of directors of the Company be hereby

To elect the following director appointed during the year, who

authorised, by way of a renewable general authority, to issue

retires in terms of the Company’s Articles of Association and who,

those shares in the share capital of the Company under the control

being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

of the directors for cash as and when they in their discretion deem
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fit, subject to the Companies act, the articles of association of

• the maximum discount at which the shares may be issued is

the Company and the listings requirements of the JSe, when

10% of the weighted average traded price of the Company’s

applicable, and the following limitations, namely that:
• this authority shall be valid until the Company’s next annual
general meeting or for 15 months from the date of this resolution,
whichever period is shorter;
• the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be
of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must
be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a
class already in issue;

shares measured over 30 business days prior to the date that
the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors of
the Company and the party subscribing for the securities; and
• a paid press announcement giving full details, including
the impact on net asset value and earnings per share, will
be published at the time of any issue representing, on a
cumulative basis within one financial year, 5% or more of the
number of shares in issue prior to that issue, in terms of the
JSe listings requirements.

• the shares must be issued to public shareholders as defined by
the JSe listings requirements and not related parties;

approval for this ordinary resolution is obtained by achieving a
75% majority of the votes cast in favour of this resolution at the

• in respect of securities which are the subject of the general issue
of shares for cash:
– in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed
10% (ten percent) of the Company’s relevant number
of equity securities in issue of that class (for purposes of
determining the securities comprising the 10% number in
any one year, account must be taken of the dilution effect,
in the year of issue of options/convertible securities, by
including the number of equity securities which may be
issued in the future arising out of the issue of such options/
convertible securities);
– of a particular class, will be aggregated with any securities that
are compulsorily convertible into securities of that class, and,
in the case of the issue of compulsorily convertible securities,
aggregated with the securities of that class into which they are
compulsorily convertible;

annual general meeting by all equity security holders present or
represented by proxy.
8. ordinary resolution number 8
Approval of re-appointment of auditors
resolved that, as recommended by the audit and risk Committee,
pricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. be re-appointed as auditors of the
Company until the next annual general meeting and Mr Fulvio
tonelli, as the individual registered auditor, who will undertake the
audit for the Company for the ensuing year.
9. Special resolution number 1
General authority to repurchase Company shares
resolved that, as a general approval contemplated in sections 85
to 89 of the Companies act, the acquisitions by the Company, and/
or any subsidiary of the Company, from time to time of the issued
ordinary shares of the Company, upon such terms and conditions
and in such amounts as the directors of the Company may from

– as regards the number of securities which may be issued (the
10% number), shall be based on the number of securities
of that class in issue added to those that may be issued in
the future (arising from the conversion of options/convertible

time to time determine, be and is hereby authorised, but subject
to the articles of association of the Company, the provisions
of the Companies act and the JSe listings requirements, when
applicable, and provided that:

securities), at the date of such application:
• this authority shall be valid until the Company’s next annual
~ less any securities of the class issued, or to be issued in
future arising from options/convertible securities issued,

general meeting provided that it shall not extend beyond fifteen
(15) months from the date of passing this special resolution;

during the current financial year;
• any such repurchase be effected through the order book
~ plus any securities of that class to be issued pursuant to:
– a rights issue which has been announced, is irrevocable
and is fully underwritten; or

operated by the JSe trading system and done without any
prior understanding or agreement between the Company and
the counterparty;

– an acquisition (which has had final terms announced)

• a paid press release giving such details as may be required

may be included as though they were securities in issue

in terms of the JSe listings requirements be published when

at the date of application;

the Company or its subsidiaries have cumulatively repurchased
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3% of the initial number of the relevant class of shares and

in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest

for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of that class

audited annual Group financial statements;

acquired thereafter;

• the Company’s and the Group’s ordinary share capital and

• a general repurchase may not in the aggregate in any one

reserves will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a

financial year exceed 10% of the number of shares in the

period of 12 months following the date of the repurchase; and

Company’s issued share capital at the time this authority is
given provided that a subsidiary of the Company may not
hold at any one time more than 10% of the number of issued

• the Company and the Group will, after such repurchase, have
sufficient working capital for ordinary business purposes for a
period of 12 months following the date of the repurchase.

shares of the Company;
Reason for and effect of the special resolution number 1
• no repurchases will be effected during a prohibited period unless
there is a repurchase programme in place where the dates and
quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period
are fixed (not subject to any variation) and full details of the

The reason for and the effect of the special resolution is to grant the
Company’s directors a general authority, up to and including the
date of the following annual general meeting of the Company, to
approve the Company’s purchase of shares in itself, or to permit a

programme have been disclosed in an announcement over

subsidiary of the Company to purchase shares in the Company. The

SENS prior to the commencement of the prohibited period;

effect of special resolution number 1 is to grant a general authority

• at any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent
to effect repurchases on the Company’s behalf;

to the Company’s directors accordingly.
F or purposes of considering the special resolution and in

• the Company may only undertake a repurchase of securities if, after

compliance with Rule 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the

such repurchase, the Company still complies with the JSE Listings

information listed below has been included in the annual report,

Requirements concerning shareholder spread requirements;

in which this notice of annual general meeting is included, at the
places indicated:

• in determining the price at which shares may be repurchased
in terms of this authority, the maximum premium permitted

• Directors and management – refer page 26;

be 10% above the weighted average traded price of the

• Major shareholders – refer page 34;

shares as determined over the five (5) days prior to the date of
repurchase; and
• the sponsor to the Company provides a letter to the JSE on the
adequacy of working capital in terms of section 2.12 of
the JSE Listings Requirements prior to any repurchases being
implemented on the open market of the JSE.

• Material change – refer page 35;
• Directors’ interest in securities – refer page 28;
• Share capital of the company – refer page 34;
• The directors, whose names are set out on pages 26 to 27 of
this report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility

The board has no immediate intention to use this authority to

for the accuracy of the information contained in this special

repurchase Company shares. However, the board is of the opinion

resolution and certify that to the best of their knowledge and

that this authority should be in place should it become appropriate

belief that there are no other facts, the omission of which would

to undertake a share repurchase in the future.

make any statement false or misleading and that they have made

Having considered the effect in the event that the maximum allowed
repurchase is effected, the directors are of the opinion that:
• the Company and the Group will be able in the ordinary course
of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the
date of the repurchase;
• the assets of the Company and the Group will be in excess of
the liabilities of the Company and the Group for a period of
12 months after the date of the repurchase. The assets and
liabilities have been recognised and measured for this purpose

all reasonable queries in this regard; and
• Litigation – there are no legal or arbitration proceedings
(including any such proceedings that are pending or threatened
of which the company is aware) which may have or have had
in the previous 12 months, a material effect on the Group’s
financial position.
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10. To transact any other business that may be transacted at an
annual general meeting
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING ATTENDANCE AT THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.
General
Shareholders wishing to attend the annual general meeting
have to ensure beforehand, with the transfer Secretaries of the
Company, that their shares are in fact registered in their name.
Certificated members
Shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who

Dematerialised shareholders
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than those
members who have dematerialised their shares with “own name”
registration, should contact their Central Securities Depository
participant (“CSDp”) or broker in the manner and time stipulated
in their agreement:
•

to furnish them with their voting instructions; and

•

in the event that they wish to attend the meeting, to obtain the
necessary authority to do so.

By order of the Board of Directors

have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration
are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting and are entitled to
appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in their stead.
the person so appointed need not be a member. proxy forms
should be forwarded to reach the Company’s transfer secretaries,
Computershare Investor Services (pty) limited at 70 Marshall
Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (po Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
or a fax number 011 688 5238 and be received by them no later
than 09:00 on Wednesday, 25 november 2009.

AL Maher
BCompt (Hons), Ca(Sa)
Company Secretary
15 october 2009
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Shareholders’ information*
as at 30 June 2009
Shares held
(000’s)

%

Major shareholders (owners) holding more than 5%
Financial Securities Limited (Remgro)
Public Investment Corporation
LL Dippenaar (direct and indirect)
GT Ferreira (direct and indirect)

302 279
135 110
90 342
87 191

25,0
11,2
7,5
7,2

Shareholders holding less than 5% each

614 922
594 189

50,9
49,1

1 209 111

100,0

406 717
226 632
50 853
199 391
174 744
150 774

33,6
18,7
4,2
16,5
14,5
12,5

1 209 111

100,0

Number of
shareholders

Shares held
(000’s)

%

26 472

677 894

56,1

1
7
1

302 279
221 845
7 093

25,0
18,3
0,6

26 481

1 209 111

100,0

Shares held
(000’s)

%

Geographic ownership
South Africa
International

1 115 042
94 069

92,2
7,8

Total

1 209 111

100,0

2009

2008

1 209 111

1 209 111

2345
2730
1662
2266
1,4
10,7
560
12 684
28 354

2100
3900
2035
2964
1,3
6,7
469
13 899
25 391

Analysis of shareholding

Total shareholders
Shareholder type
Corporates
Pension funds
Insurance companies
Unit trusts
Private investors
Other managed funds
Total shareholders

Public and non-public shareholders
Public
Non-public
– Corporates (Remgro)
– Directors
– FirstRand share trust
Total

* Extracted from shareholder analysis provided by Orient Capital Limited.

Performance on the jse Limited
Number of shares in issue (000’s)*
Market prices (cents per share)
Closing*
High**
 Low**
Weighted average**
Closing price/net asset value per share*
Closing price/earnings (headline)*
Volume of shares traded (millions)**
Value of shares traded (Rmillion)**
Market capitalisation (Rmillion)*
* as at 30 June ** for the year.
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Shareholders’ diary
Reporting

Dividends

Interim for 2010
– announcement of results
Final for 2010
– announcement of results for 2010
– annual report posted by
– annual general meeting

31 December 2009
Mid-March 2010
30 June 2010
Mid-September 2010
end october 2010
December 2010

Interim for 2010
– Declared
– payable
Final for 2010
– Declared
– payable

Mid-March 2010
early april 2010

Mid-September 2010
Mid-october 2010

Administration
RMB HoLDInGS LIMITeD

Sponsor (In terms of JSe Listings Requirements)

(registration no 1987/005115/06)
Share code: rMH ISIn Zae000024501 (“rMBH”)

Rand Merchant Bank (a division of FirstRand Bank Limited)
1 Merchant place
Corner Fredman Drive and rivonia road
Sandton
2196

Company Secretary
al Maher, BCompt(Hons), Ca(Sa)
Registered office
4th floor
4 Merchant place
Corner Fredman Drive and rivonia road
Sandton
2196
Postal address
po Box 786273
Sandton
2146
Telephone
national
(011) 282 8000
International +27 11 282 8000
Telefax
national
(011) 282 8088
International +27 11 282 8088
Website
www.rmbh.co.za

Auditors
pricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated
2 eglin road
Sunninghill
2157

Telephone
national
(011) 282 8000
International +27 11 282 8000
Telefax
national
(011) 282 8008
International +27 11 282 8008

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001
Postal address
po Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107
Telephone
national
(011) 370 5000
International +27 11 370 5000
Telefax
national
(011) 688 5221
International +27 11 688 5221
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Form of proxy
Only for use by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration.
RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1987/005115/06)
Share code: RMH
ISIN: ZAE000024501
(“RMBH or “the Company”)
For use by shareholders, who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares but with own name registration, at the
annual general meeting to be held at 09:00 on Friday 27 November 2009, in the Executive Boardroom, 4th floor, 4 Merchant Place, Corner Fredman
Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, and at any adjournment thereof.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares other than with own name registration, must inform their Central Securities Depository
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the
necessary authorisation to attend or they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual
general meeting in person.
I/We, the undersigned (name)
of (address)
the registered holder of
ordinary shares in RMB Holdings Limited (Registration number 1987/005115/06), hereby appoint
1.

, of

or failing him

2.

, of

or failing him

3. the chairperson of the meeting, as my/our proxy to be present and act on my/our behalf, speak and on a poll, vote on my/our behalf as indicated
below at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held at 09:00 on Friday 27 November 2009 and at any adjournment
thereof as follows: (see Note 2)
Insert an “X” or the number of votes
exercisable (one vote per ordinary share)
In favour of

Against

Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1
Approval of annual financial statements
Ordinary resolution number 2
Re-election of the following directors:
2.1 Gerrit Thomas Ferreira
2.2 Lauritz Lanser Dippenaar
2.3 Jan Willem Dreyer
Ordinary resolution number 3
Election of the following director:
3.1 Matthys Hendrik Visser
Ordinary resolution number 4
Approval of directors’ remuneration for the year to June 2009
Ordinary resolution number 5
Approval of directors’ fees for the year to June 2010
Ordinary resolution number 6
Place 15% of the unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Ordinary resolution number 7
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
Ordinary resolution number 8
Approval of re-appointment of auditors
Special resolution number 1
General authority to repurchase Company shares
Instructions to my/our proxy are indicated by a cross in the space provided above or by the number of shares in the appropriate boxes where all
shares held are not being voted.

Signature of registered shareholder (assisted by me as applicable)
PLEASE SEE NOTES ON REVERSE SIDE OF THE FORM

2009
Date
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explanatory notes to the form of proxy
notes:
1. a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote
in his/her stead. a proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.
2. every shareholder present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting of the Company shall, on a show of hands,
have one vote only, irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder holds, but in the event of a poll, every ordinary share in the Company
shall have one vote.
3. Dematerialised shareholders registered in their own names are shareholders who appointed Computershare Custodial Services as their Central
Securities Depository participant (CSDp) with the express instruction that their uncertificated shares are to be registered in the electronic subregister of members in their own names.

Instructions on signing and lodging the proxy form:
1. a shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholders choice in the space/s provided
overleaf, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the shareholder.
Should this space be left blank, the chairman of the annual general meeting will exercise the proxy. the person whose name appears first on
the proxy form and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.
2. a shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the
appropriate spaces provided overleaf. Failure to do so shall be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual
general meeting, as he/she thinks fit in respect of all the shareholder’s exercisable votes. a shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all
the votes exercisable by his/her proxy, but the total number of votes cast, or those in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed
the total number of votes exercisable by the member or by his/her proxy.
3. a minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced or have
been registered by the transfer secretaries.
4. to be valid the completed proxy forms must be forwarded to reach the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (pty)
limited at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (po Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or at fax number 011 688 5238 to be received by no
later than 09:00 on Wednesday 25 november 2009. proxy forms may only be completed by shareholders who have not dematerialised their
shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration.
5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative capacity must be attached to this proxy
form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of the annual general meeting.
6. the completion and lodging of this proxy form shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.
7. the completion of any blank spaces overleaf need not be initialled. any alterations or corrections to this proxy form must be initialled by the
signatory/ies.
8. the chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed other than in accordance with these
instructions provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.
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Contact details
OUTsurance

4th Floor, 4 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive & Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 282 1010
Telefax (011) 282 8088
www.rmbh.co.za
Contact: Anthony Maher

1241 Embankment Street,
Zwartkop Ext 7, Centurion
PO Box 8443, Centurion, 0046
Telephone (012) 673 3098
Telefax (012) 673 4598
www.outsurance.co.za
Contact: Willem Roos

FirstRand

RMB Structured Insurance

4th Floor, 4 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive & Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 282 8052
Telefax (011) 282 8088
www.firstrand.co.za
Contact: Adrian Arnott

4th Floor, 2 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton
PO Box 652659, Benmore, 2010
Telephone (011) 685 7600
Telefax (011) 784 9858
Contact: Gustavo Arroyo
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RMBH

Discovery
155 West Street, Sandton
PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146
Telephone (011) 529 2888
Telefax (011) 529 2958
www.discovery.co.za
Contact: Thys Botha
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